# VOCATIONAL EDUCATION PREFERENCES OF SENIOR

# HIGH SCHOOL STUDENTS IN A FOUR

COUNTY AREA OF FLORIDA

Вy

THEODORE PAUL SWINGLE

Bachelor of Science in Agriculture Ohio State University Columbus, Ohio 1956

> Master of Science Ohio State University Columbus, Ohio 1960

Certificate of Specialist in Educational Administration Ohio State University Columbus, Ohio 1969

Submitted to the Faculty of the Graduate College of the Oklahoma State University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the Degree of DOCTOR OF EDUCATION

May, 1974

MAR 14 1975

# VOCATIONAL EDUCATION PREFERENCES OF SENIOR HIGH SCHOOL STUDENTS IN A FOUR COUNTY AREA OF FLORIDA

Thesis Approved:

Robert Price
Thesis Adviser

A

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Indebtedness is acknowledged to many persons instrumental in helping to make this study a reality, especially to the members of the doctoral committee: Dr. Robert R. Price, committee chairman and Head of the Department of Agricultural Education; Dr. Lloyd D. Briggs; Dr. H. Robert Terry; Dr. James P. Key; and Professor W. Raymond Kays.

Additional appreciation is expressed to the administration and staff of Indian River Community College who helped develop the study. The personnel of the schools and students in the four-county area made the study possible. Without this cooperation the study could not have become fact.

This study is dedicated to the writer's wife, Helen. Grateful appreciation is expressed to my family for support, assistance, understanding, and sacrifice, without which this program could never have been completed.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

Chapte	er F	Page
I.	INTRODUCTION	1
	The Problem	. 3
	Purpose of the Study	. 3
	Need for the Study	4
	Objectives of the Study	- 5
	Hypotheses	
	Basic Assumptions	6
	Scope of the Study	
	Limitations of the Study	
	Definition of Terms	
	belling of terms	
II.	REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE	9
	Selecting an Instrument	
	Factors Affecting Vocational Choice	10
	Need of Occupational Awareness	13
	General Problem Areas of Vocational Education	16
	Females in Vocations	21
	Manpower Demand	
	Summary	
III.	DESIGN AND METHODOLOGY OF THE STUDY	
	Selection of Population	26
	Procedure	
	Collection and Analysis of Data	29
IV.	PRESENTATION AND ANALYSIS OF DATA	30
	Description of Population and Return	
	Desire for Vocational Education	· 33
	Vocational Education Preferences	35
	Employment Demand	48
	High School Program Enrollment	
	Plans After High School	53
	Comparisons of Anticipated Vocations With	
	Plans After High School	56
	Vocational Education Preferences as Compared	
	to Actual Employment	59
	Occupation of Parents	61
	Summary	
		04

hapter																	F	age	
V. SUMM	MARY,	CONCLU	SIONS,	AND	REC	OMME	NDA'	TIO	NS		•	•	• .•	•	٠.	•		66	
	Purp	ose of	the S	Study				• •	• .		٠.			٠.				66	
	The	Popula	tion .			٠	. •	•	•			•		٠.	•	•	•	66	
	Proc	edure	Used i	in th	e St	udy	• .		٠.		•	•		•	5, €	•	•	67	
	Obje	ctives	of th	ne St	udy		•		. •			•		•	•		•	68	
	Summ	ary .					·•	• •	•			• '			•	٠.		69	٠.
	Conc	lusion	s				•		•	• •	•			•			: •	71	
	Reco	mmenda	tions				•		• '		•	•		. •	•	, <b>o</b>	•	73	ţ
	Need	s for	Furthe	er St	udy	• •	•	• •	•.	•	٠.	•, ,		•	•		•	74	
ELECTED BI	BLIOG	RAPHY	• • •	• • . •	• •	• •	•	• •	. •	•	٠.	•	• `(	•	. •	•	٠.	76	
PENDIXES								• , •	0 -		•	•				٠.		79	
				:				. '											
Append																			
	lix A,	The Q	uestic	onnai	re .		•												
Append Append Four	lix A, lix B,	The Q Numbe ty Are	uestion r of S a of I	onnai Senio Flori	re . r Hi da R	 gh S espo	cho ndi	 ol	Stu	 den Que:	ts sti	in	a nai	•	٠.	•	. •	80	
Append Append Four Append	lix A, lix B, Coun lix C,	The Q Numbe ty Are Compu	uestic r of S a of I ter Pi	onnai Senio Flori rinto	re . r Hi da R ut o	gh S espo f Re	cho ndi spo	ol ng nde	Studto (	den Que Ma	ts sti rki	in on	a nai	re	•		. •	80 83	
Append Append Four Append ''Oth	lix A, lix B, Coun lix C, ner" o	The Q Numbe ty Are Compu n Ques	uesticer of State of Iter Puttonna	onnai Senio Flori rinto aire	re . r Hi da R ut o	gh S espo f Re	cho ndi spo	ol ng nde	Stud to O	den Que Ma	ts sti rki	in on	a nai	re	•		. •	80 83	
Append Append Four Append "Oth Append	lix A, lix B, Coun lix C, ner" o	The Q Numbe ty Are Compu n Ques Vocat	uestic r of S a of I ter Pi tionna ional	onnai Senio Flori rinto aire Educ	re . r Hi da R ut o  atio	gh S espo f Re n Pr	cho ndi spo •	ol ng nde	Studto (nts	den Que Ma of	ts sti rki	in on ng	a nai	re	•	•	•	80 83 85	
Append Append Four Append "Oth Append Resp	lix A, lix B, Coun lix C, ner" o lix D, oonden	The Q Numbe ty Are Compu n Ques Vocat	uestic r of S a of I ter Pi tionna ional	onnai Senio Flori rinto aire Educ	re . r Hi da R ut o  atio	gh S espo f Re n Pr	cho ndi spo efe	ol ng nde ren	Studto (nts	den Que Ma of	ts sti rki	in on ng	a nai	re	•	•	•	80 83 85	
Append Append Four Append "Oth Append Resp Append	lix A, lix B, Coun lix C, ner" o lix D, conden lix E,	The Q Numbe ty Are Compu n Ques Vocat ts	uesticer of State of Iter Putionnal ional stical	onnai Senio Flori rinto aire Educ 	re . r Hi da R ut o  atio	gh S espo f Re n Pr	cho ndi spo efe In	ol ng nde ren	Students ces	den Que Ma of	ts sti rki •	in on ng	a nai	re	•	•		80 83 85 87	
Append Append Four Append "Oth Append Resp Append Comm	lix A, lix B, Coun lix C, ner" o lix D, conden lix E, nunity	The Q Numbe ty Are Compu n Ques Vocat ts Stati Colle	uesticer of State of Iter Putionnal ional stical ge Sel	onnai Senio Flori rinto aire Educ  l Tab	re . r Hi da R ut o  atio  les udy	gh S espo f Re  n Pr  From	cho ndi spo efe In	ol ng nde · · ren dia	Studo to nts ces	den Que Ma of ive	ts sti rki ·	in on ng	a nai	re	•	•		80 83 85 87	
Append Append Four Append ''Oth Append Resp Append Comm	lix A, lix B, Coun lix C, ner" o lix D, conden lix E, nunity lix F,	The Q Numbe ty Are Compu n Ques Vocat ts Stati Colle Compu	uesticer of State of	onnai Senio Flori rinto aire Educ  I Tab lf St	re . r Hi da R ut o . atio les udy ut o	gh S espo f Re n Pr From	cho ndi spo efe In	ol ng nde ren dia	Stud to ( nts ces n R	den Que Ma of ive	ts sti rki r	in on ng	a nai	re	•	•	•	80 83 85 87 119	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
Append Append Four Append ''Oth Append Resp Append Comm Append	lix A, lix B, Coun lix C, ner" o lix D, conden lix E, nunity lix F,	The Q Numbe ty Are Compu n Ques Vocat ts Stati Colle Compu chool	uesticer of State of Iter Protection of State of Selection of Selecti	onnai Senio Flori rinto aire Educ  l Tab lf St rinto	re . r Hi da R ut o . atio les udy ut o	gh S espo f Re n Pr  From	cho ndi spo efe In	ol ng nde ren dia	Studto (nts.ces.n.R.	den Que Ma of ive	ts sti rki r	in on ng	a	re	•	•		80 83 85 87 119	
Append Append Four Append ''Oth Append Resp Append Comm	lix A, lix B, Coun lix C, ner" o lix D, conden lix E, nunity lix F,	The Q Numbe ty Are Compu n Ques Vocat ts Stati Colle Compu chool	uesticer of State of Iter Protection of State of Selection of Selecti	onnai Senio Flori rinto aire Educ  l Tab lf St rinto	re . r Hi da R ut o . atio les udy ut o	gh S espo f Re n Pr  From	cho ndi spo efe In	ol ng nde ren dia	Studto (nts.ces.n.R.	den Que Ma of ive	ts sti rki r	in on ng	a	re	•	•		80 83 85 87 119	
Append Append Four Append ''Oth Append Resp Append Comm Append	lix A, lix B, Coun lix C, ner" o lix D, conden lix E, nunity lix F, ligh S	The Q Numbe ty Are Compu n Ques Vocat ts Stati Colle Compu chool Respo	uesticer of State of Iter Protection of State of Selection of State of Selection of State of	onnai Senio Flori rinto aire Educ  l Tab lf St rinto 	re . r Hi da R ut o . atio . les udy ut o . ans	gh S espo f Re n Pr From f Re	cho ndi spo efe In spo	ol ng nde ren dia nde	Students ces	den Que Ma of ive	ts sti rki r	in on ng	a nai	re	•		•	80 83 85 87 119 128 135	
Append Append Four Append ''Oth Append Resp Append Comm Append in H	lix A, lix B, c Coun lix C, ner" o lix D, conden lix E, nunity lix F, ligh S lix G, lix H,	The Q Numbe ty Are Compu n Ques Vocat ts Stati Colle Compu chool Respo Vocat	uesticer of State of Iter Protection of State of Iter Protection of Iter Iter Iter Iter Iter Iter Iter Iter	onnai Senio Flori rinto aire Educ  I Tab lf St rinto  Fl	re . r Hi da R ut o . atio les udy ut o . ans eren	gh S espo f Re n Pr From f Re Afte	cho ndi spo efe In spo r H	ol ng nde ren dia  nde 	Students on R	den Que Ma of ive P	ts sti rki r	in on ng	a nai	re	•		•	80 83 85 87 119 128 135	

# LIST OF TABLES

Table		Pa	ge
I.	Enrollment and Response of Senior High School Students in a Four-County Area of Florida by Schools	·•	32
II.	Indicated Interest in Vocational Education of Senior High School Students in a Four-County Area of Florida	• .	34
III.	Senior High School Students in a Four-County Area of Florida Selecting a Vocational Education Program After Indicating No Interest in Vocational Education or Not Responding on Questionnaire	• 1	36
IV.	First Choice Vocational Education Preference of Senior High School Students in a Four-County Area of Florida by Grade and Sex	•	37
٧.	Overview of Vocational Course Offerings in the Senior High Schools in a Four-County Area of Florida		40
VI.	Vocational Programs Offered at Indian River Community College (AAS Degree)	• 1	41
VII.	Technical Programs Offered at Indian River Community College (AS Degree)	•	42
VIII.	Opportunities for Work in Areas of Florida Within 55 Miles of Indian River Community College	•	49
IX.	Type of Program in High School Indicated by Senior High School Students in a Four-County Area of Florida	•	51
Х.	Plans After High School of Senior High School Students in a Four-County Area of Florida		54
XI.	Comparison of Students' Plans With Their First Choice of a Vocation	•	57
XII.	Summary of Social and Occupational Data From the 1970 Census of the Four-County Area by Counties		60

[able		Page
XIII.	Comparison Occupation of Parents and First Choice of a Vocation of Senior High School Students in a Four-County Area of Florida	62
XIV.	Summary of Data Presented in the Study Classified by Sex	<b>7</b> 0
XV.	Table 10.10 - Percentage of Public and Nonpublic School Graduates in IRCC Four-County College District Who Entered College: Year 1971-1972	. 120
XVI.	Table 10.16 - Number and Percentage of High School Graduates Residing in IRCC Four-County College District in 1970	. 121
XVII.	Table 10.20 - FTE Expressed as Past and Future Percentage of Population in the IRCC Four-County District	. 122
XVIII.	Table 10.23 - Family Income Distribution in Florida: 1960 to 1971	123
XIX.	Table 10.24 - Family Income Distribution in Indian River County: 1966 to 1971	. 124
XX.	Table 10.25 - Family Income Distribution in Martin County: 1966 to 1971	125
XXI.	Table 10.26 - Family Income Distribution in Okeechobee County: 1966 to 1971	126
XXII.	Table 10.27 - Family Income Distribution in Saint Lucie County: 1966 to 1971	. 127

#### CHAPTER I

#### INTRODUCTION

This study is concerned with vocational-technical education needs and offerings for a four-county area in Florida. The designated area includes the four counties of Indian River, Okeechobee, Saint Lucie, and Martin. In this area four public high schools and three non-public high schools are to be found. Indian River has Vero Beach High School, which is public, and Saint Edwards, which is non-public, while Okeechobee County has only Okeechobee High School. Saint Lucie County has Fort Pierce Central, a public high school, and John Carroll and Indian River Academy, which are non-public high schools, while Martin County has only Martin County High School.

The study is primarily concerned with finding the respondents' preferences for training in vocational and technical education. These expressed preferences were studied in relation to (1) current program offerings in the four-county area, (2) employment opportunities in the area, and (3) occupation of the parents, in addition to certain other selected items.

Indian River Community College is the designated area vocational school for the four-county area it serves. It offers college-credit programs, adult technical and vocational education programs, and high school credit programs in vocational areas. The college offers three degrees—the AA college transfer, AS technical education degree, and the

AAS vocational education degree--as well as certificates in vocational and technical education.

The college has an "open door" policy of admission that accepts any person with a high school diploma or high school equivalency diploma. In the vocational-technical areas any person out of school who is 16 years of age or older is admitted, provided classes are not filled. This study is primarily concerned with finding the respondents' preferences for vocational and technical education.

Indian River Community College is located on the Treasure Coast of Florida between Lake Okeechobee and the Indian River, which is a part of the Inland Waterway. It is a state tax-supported college accredited by the Southern Association of Colleges and Schools.

Indian River Junior College was authorized by law during the 1959
Session of the Florida Legislature. The college was established to
serve the four-county area of Indian River, Martin, Okeechobee, and
Saint Lucie counties and receives students from other states and
countries as well.

In November, 1970, the Board of Trustees of the college, in accord with the State Board of Education, changed the name to Indian River Community College. This was done in keeping with the role of the college, which is more than a junior college, with its excellent AA degree program. Indian River serves its entire four-county service district with vocational, technical, cultural, and community service needs as a true community college is designed to do.

Indian River Community College is a comprehensive community college dedicated to meeting the needs of education beyond the high school level. The college serves as a center to foster cultural development in

the community. It provides a two-year college transfer program to four-year colleges or universities. It provides programs that will prepare students for employment in business and industry. It provides courses for students who wish to further their education, to improve their personal or business efficiency, or to enrich their lives regardless of age or previous educational experience.

#### The Problem

Presently, vocational-education curricula in the four-county area have been developed and implemented almost solely on the basis of advisory committee counsel and employment possibilities, without concern for potential enrollment. Information about vocational interests and preferences should be helpful as a tool in determining curriculum needs and evaluation of present curricula offerings.

The vocational education preference of the senior high school students in the four-county area was not available prior to implementation of this study. Without such information, it was felt that no functional plan of implementation could be developed or adequacy of present program offerings determined. Student awareness, enrollment, and placement are needed in vocational education programs presently being offered and anticipated in the future. A satisfactory program would include, among other items, an analysis of the employment pattern for the area. This information will be ascertained periodically through continued use of advisory committees and study of the latest census data.

# Purpose of the Study

The major purpose of the study was to determine the vocational education preferences of the senior high school students in a four-

county area of Florida. A comparison of the senior high school students' vocational education preferences with the vocational curricula presently being offered in the four counties and at the Community College was also made. In addition, the vocational education preferences were compared to selected items of employment information of the area, taken from the 1970 census. Further, an attempt was made to evaluate data to determine differences in preferences as related to the sex of the respondent.

## Need for the Study

The primary use of the study was projected to be that of determining the adequacy of the present vocational curriculum in the fourcounty area and as a guide to the four county school systems and the Community College in ascertaining desirable additions or adjustments to the curriculum.

Guidance counselors in all the schools hopefully can and will make use of the study.

Indian River Community College was designated as the area vocational school in 1968 and started vocational programs for high school and college credit the fall of 1970, having programs in air-conditioning, welding, auto-body fender repair, auto mechanics, agriculture, and printing. Partial employment studies were made, but only through advisory committees and not in a very systematic way. No student interest survey had been conducted for the area prior to this study. Some of the existing programs were recognized as having problems of inadequate enrollment. A vocational program that is elective can hardly exist economically without a knowledge of potential student enrollment.

This study was conceived as being potentially of considerable benefit in this area.

# Objectives of the Study

In fulfilling the purposes and solving the problems inherent in this study, it was deemed appropriate to attempt to meet the following objectives:

- 1. To determine the desire of these students for vocational education in high school or at the Community College.
- To determine the vocational education preferences of the senior high school students in the four-county area being served by Indian River Community College.
- 3. To analyze the respondents' stated vocational education preferences with respect to the vocational curricula presently being offered in the four-county area.
- 4. To determine the programs in which students are enrolled while in high school.
- 5. To determine the students' plans after high school.
- 6. To compare the respondents' stated vocational preferences with their present plans after high school.
- 7. To compare the stated vocational education preferences with present employment patterns as determined by the 1970 census.
- 8. To list and discuss the employment opportunities in the surrounding area of Florida.
- 9. To compare the students' stated vocational preferences with the vocation of their parents.

10. To analyze students' responses based on their grade in high school and their sex.

# Hypotheses

To further supplement the objectives of the study, the following hypotheses were tested at the .05 level of significance:

- HO<sub>1</sub> -- There is no significant difference between male and female students in desire for vocational education.
- HO<sub>2</sub> -- There is no significant difference between male and female students' program selection in high school.
- ${
  m HO}_3$  -- There is no significant difference between male and female students' plans after high school.

# Basic Assumptions

The following assumptions were made with no attempt to prove the degree to which they are generally accepted:

- 1. That vocational education is a needed part of the curriculum at the high school and community college level.
- 2. That students' preference should be considered in determining vocational education programs in the schools in the fourcounty area and at the Community College.
- 3. That all respondents understood the purpose of the questionnaire and the proper manner of response indicated.
- 4. That the students were honest and that they gave true information to the best of their ability.
- 5. That the students responding to the questionnaire were representative of all senior high school students in the four-county area.

# Scope of the Study

An opportunity was provided for all senior high school students in the four-county area present in school to indicate their preference, or lack of preference, of vocational education course offerings in the home high school or at the Community College. They were asked to indicate their desire for further training after leaving high school and the type of work they hoped to enter after further training.

# Limitations of the Study

This study may have little value to areas outside the four counties being served by Indian River Community College because of its nature.

It may not be readily adapted to other localities without similar situations.

This study seeks to determine the vocational education preference of senior high school students only as a tool for assessing the adequacy of vocational curriculum in a given area.

Orientation to the importance of vocational education will not be consistent throughout the four-county area. It was recognized that the role of the Community College in meeting educational needs of the four counties would not be viewed in the same manner by persons residing in each and all counties but would be subject to the opinions of people as they viewed the prestige of the college in that particular area.

# Definition of Terms

It seems advisable to define terms as used throughout this study:

<u>DOT</u> -- Dictionary of Occupational Titles

OVIS -- Ohio Vocational Interest Survey

<u>SVIB</u> -- Strong Vocational Inventory Blank

Area Vocational School -- A school developed to provide training programs in vocational and technical education for an area crossing traditional school district lines, this in order to provide a large enough service area to make a vocational program feasible and economical.

#### CHAPTER II

#### REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE

In reviewing the literature an attempt was made to determine the types of considerations that had been given in similar studies of vocational interest, vocational preference, and vocational guidance.

Interpretation of the literature would indicate that developing or selecting a proper instrument for gathering data was important. Factors affecting vocational choice were considered quite frequently, and the problems generally inherent in vocational education programs were considered. These included occupational awareness and financing of vocational education programs.

# Selecting an Instrument

The selection or construction of a proper instrument to gather the information desired in this study was an important consideration.

The OVIS is a most desirable instrument, taking 60 to 90 minutes to administer. Frantz (1) indicates that the OVIS is quite an adequate instrument.

For the counselor looking for a good, current, well standardized vocational interest inventory to use with high school pupils, the Ohio Vocational Interest Survey is worth considering, and in a few more years may well be the best choice.

Experience was gained with parts of the OVIS as early as 1959, as used by Swingle (2), tested, and then administered to an entire population. The results were considered satisfactory and the level of

consistent vocational education choices were comparable to the Colorado (3) study.

It appears that many if not all the instruments developed to determine vocational interest or occupational choice have their problems.

O'Shea (4) found:

A study of the relationship between the Strong Vocational Interest Blank and the Kuder Occupational Interest Survey, Form DD, reveals many potential problems for counselors. Frequent inconsistencies and contradictions are found; like-named scales appear to be measuring different things, while dissimilar scales often have strong positive relationships. The first results of a long-term follow-up study are described and further emphasize the difference between the inventories. The implications of these findings for counselors are discussed, and suggestions for further research are outlined.

The question may be asked, can a respondent purposefully fake the results on an interest inventory? Abrahams (5) found that individuals can increase their scores on the SVIB retention scale. It should be noted that under routine administration and under actual selection conditions there is neither a significant nor consistent tendency for applicants to increase their selection scores.

Crites (6) found that there is a relationship of Verbal Vocational behavior related to both age and grade, but are more frequently associated to grade. A true-false type format provides better item discrimination than a Likert-type rating scale. ". . . There was an increase in vocational maturity levels at all grade levels except the eleventh grade, which was atypical; the correlation of vocational maturity with age was .385 and with grade was .463."

Factors Affecting Vocational Choice

The literature indicates that many factors determine the vocational

choice that a student might make. Interests are based upon exposure to knowledge about a subject. The literature is not in complete agreement regarding the strongest factors influencing one's vocational choice. When and where the studies were conducted appeared to affect it greatly. Parents in many areas feel that their child should go to college and that training for an occupation requiring physical labor is below their dignity. They do not know the wide range of vocational education at the secondary and post-secondary institutions. Mitchell (7) states:

Not going through college or dropping out of school is an unequivocal disgrace. Consequently, 65% of American youth list college as their principal objective. Given a choice for their children, parents choose the profession of teacher second only to medicine. The artificiality of this extreme value on security and social prestige forces those who might succeed in another realm to compete in a world for which they are not suited and from which they receive no satisfaction. Clearly, a broader scope of education would allow each person a wider range of goals which would enable him to direct his own interests and abilities toward a useful, satisfying career without regard to the arbitrary and often decisive pressure upon him. Hopefully, the student would have a more sound basis for his decision were he allowed to pursue a more individual goal.

The influence of parents on the vocational choice often is stated or implied. Admiring successful people in an occupation and personal interst are other influencing factors.

- 7. Twenty reasons were given by the students for making their occupational choices. Sixty-six and seventenths (66.7) per cent indicated that admiration of successful people in the occupation was responsible for their choice. (8)
- Heath (9) on pages 69-72, "Factors Influencing Vocational Choice of Senior High School Students," based on a review of 84 similar studies had the following conclusions, among others:
  - 2. Interests are one of the major influences determining vocational choice. Interest serves as the motivating force behind the exploratory period of prebescence and adolescence. . . . It is not until interest patterns become

stabilized that any permanence of choice is realized. Therefore we may conclude that interests may take many forms during the developmental period, and, regardless of form taken, the motivational force created by interest patterns may be the catalytic agent that directs the individual toward a vocational choice . . .

- 6. The home situation is the most influential factor determining vocational choice . . . It can be said that the child takes his home with him to school, to play, and to work.
- 9. Peer group activities are an important influence on vocational choice. . . .
- 10. The school situation influences the choice process in that it provides areas of exploration which enable the individual to develop a wide range of interests and the opportunity to develop his potential capacities. The nature of the school curriculum has the tendency to direct students toward fields of occupations. The school only sets the stage for developing patterns of vocational choice; it does not determine what the choice will be.

Further reference will be made in a later section of the study concerning the effect of school programs and counseling on vocational choices.

The literature further indicates that many students who plan to go to college or do some other type of work still desire some vocational education. The Colorado (3) study, Swingle (2), and Margolin (10) indicate that this is true. In Colorado 80.6 percent of the respondents listed vocational choices, yet 58.32 percent planned to attend college and another 31.8 percent had additional plans for study after graduation from high school. In the Soviet education study 67.8 percent of the graduating students expressed satisfaction with the occupation acquired in school, but only 27 percent intended to work in their area of specialization.

It follows that three-quarters of the total number questioned do not associate their future career path with the occupation acquired during their schooling. There are grounds for assuming /and this is indicated by the responses

of many graduating students to the questionnaire/ that the satisfaction with the acquired occupation is regarded by the students in the following way: we received something useful in the process of production training, but it will be of value in the future, but it will become the basic form of our work activity. (10, p. 66)

Margolin (10) further indicates that chance may be an important factor in one's vocational choice. One type of accident in determining one's choice would be within his own ability and inclinations. The other type would be those cases not connected with the individual's ability, personal qualities, or personality. These accidents would be affected solely by external factors. The elimination of vocational accidents in a logical lead into the next section of the study.

#### Need of Occupational Awareness

The literature would indicate that greater validity of vocational education choices can be accomplished when a long-range program of occupational awareness is developed. This is accomplished both in the school and in the home, with a cooperative attitude between the two.

Phillips (11) found that students using the school as the main source of occupational choice and vocational choice showed a greater congruency of occupational choice than those students using other sources of information. He further stated that lower-class boys make occupational choices which are incongruent with their vocational interest than do upper middle-class boys. Boys that are congruent with vocational choice are well or very well fitted for the occupation chosen and are reasonably well satisfied with the occupation chosen and are reasonably well interested, to very strongly interested, in the occupation chosen.

Further need for vocational education, vocational surveys, vocational counseling, and the importance of vocational education being a

part of the total school is indicated by Winefordner (12). Programs designed to orient students to the world of work must be developed on a conceptual framework on an elementary basis to permit introduction into the primary grades. This will enable career development to orient the students to the world of work.

Career development is a long-range process and needs to become a part of the total educational experience. The literature would indicate that integrating vocational education into the total school curriculum is an apparent concern. Without the developmental process of occupational guidance, it is difficult to make sound occupational choices.

Occupational guidance is constantly becoming a more difficult job.

Turner (8) found that in a study in 1957 only 79 occupational categories were listed by students, and in 1964 188 categories were listed in a similar study. Margolin (10) states on pages 70 and 71:

The vocational orientation of pupils, conducted in the process of teaching general education subjects, can play an important role. Lessons in physics and chemistry should be connected with production; trips to enterprises should be organized. The activities of clubs and school workshops should also perform this function, as yet very little is being done in this area. In reality the schools do not have generalized experience and scientifically elaborated methods of student vocational orientation.

An expansion of material facilities for school workshops is required, where pupils could acquire knowledge and work skills in metal fitting, joining, lathe operation and the like. Every school should have a study-room for machine operation, electrical engineering, and radio engineering. The funds for this in any case, will be much less than the expenditures that went for organization of vocational training.

The literature cited to this point might seem to imply that students at the high school level are not capable of making consistent vocational choices. This has not been the intent, but an attempt has been made to substantiate the need for additional vocational guidance

and orientation. Studies similar to this will probably increase occupational awareness. Winefordner (12) on page 56 in his comments about the OVIS stated:

A natural Motivator. It is characteristic of youth that they work best when they are pursuing something which concerns them personally. Thus, self-exploration through the use of an interest such as OVIS, which is tied to a developmental program that includes a system for learning about the world of work, can serve as a natural motivator to assist in vocational exploration and course selection.

School programs must be based upon sound vocational developmental theory and built around a conceptual framework appropriate for student involvement. There is a definite need to establish systems that will tie occupational information and job opportunities to student interests, aptitudes, educational course selection and curricular planning. The use of the DOT and the Ohio Vocational Interest Survey provides the basis for such a system.

The Colorado (3) study indicated that 76.4 percent of the high school students surveyed made consistent vocational education choices, which is in line with Ohio at 72.4 percent, Utah at 83 percent; and Swingle (2) found that 78 percent made consistent choices. All the studies used the OVIS or some slight deviation from it.

Throughout this paper much emphasis has been put on the importance of occupational choice or vocational interest of senior high school students. Writers often use vocational interest and occupational choice as synonomous terms. Ginzberg (13) would tend to invalidate this thought. He states, "The outstanding conclusion from our findings is that occupational choice is a developmental process: it is not a single decision, but a series of decisions made over a period of years." The period of occupational choice is divided into three stages: fantasy, tentative, and realistic. The tentative choices were interest, capacity, value, and transition. Everyone, unless retarded, becomes aware in early adolescence; yet their interests and values are incompatible.

#### General Problem Areas of Vocational Education

freedom of choice of an occupation is a part of the democratic way of life in the United States and apparently throughout the world. This fact alone creates problems for the vocational educator. Vocational education choices and occupational choices are probably made for the wrong reasons. Turner (8) on page 73 exemplifies this in his summary:

10. Several of the high schools included in the study have no courses at all in their curricula to prepare students for specific occupations. Except in a few schools which provide courses to prepare students for specific occupations, the offerings are quite limited. Mr. Edward T. Chase describes the situation thus -

Our educational system is concentrated on the 20 per cent of the students who go through college. The vocational future of the other 80 per cent has been either ignored or sabotaged — only about 18 per cent of high school students in urban areas are getting any sort of preparation for work.

Ginzberg (13) on page 131 indicates that some professional societies may compound the problems of choosing a career by providing information that is not entirely accurate.

Since free choice of a career is a hallowed value in a democracy, it is disquieting to see professional societies placing artificial barriers on entrance or, as has more recently been the case, using propaganda to increase the number of prospective applicants. Young people and their parents need objective information about the present state of professions and the probable trends in the demand for professional personnel in the years ahead. No one can make an intelligent choice without such reliable information. And the professional societies, government, and the educational institutions each have a responsibility in providing such information. But no one without the gift of prophecy should take it upon himself to bar young people from or entice them into a particular career. The individual should be provided with the best information available and then be permitted to make his own decisions.

The problems of choosing one's field of work is not unique to this country. According to Margolin (10) on page 64, the Soviet Union

has similar problems and concerns:

Solving the problem of choosing one's specific kind of work specialization occupies an extremely important place in the career plans of youth. The particular sphere of activity and the acquisition of a definite occupation represent the foundation for realizing all one's other objectives and dreams.

A specialty chosen in accordance with one's inclinations and talents provides moral satisfaction, makes work an inspired, creative activity, and life interesting and full. At the same time, by unfolding the individual's abilities it makes it possible for him to bring maximum benefit to society.

Freedom of occupational choice under socialism is expressed, above all, in the abolition of discrimination: property, racial, national, and all other forms. The right to an education provides each individual with the opportunity to receive the minimum of general education and specialized knowledge necessary to acquire a specialty. The inclinations and abilities of the individual are the principal criteria in preparing cardes for the national economy, science, and culture.

Examination of much of the literature as to factors influencing occupational choice reveals that often investigators are in conflict.

Ginzberg (14) stated that the parents play an important role in determining the occupational choice a child might make, and Smith (15) on page 29 found:

. . . Most twelfth grade boys and girls do not aspire to nor do they expect an occupational cluster in which either of their parents are currently employed. Only in relatively few cases, did students express interest in pursuing careers similar to their parents.

The literature and this study at this point has devoted a great deal of space to what subject areas should be taught and how students make their choices. Apparently an effort should be made to determine how to get the job done. This would quite logically involve selection of training stations, personnel, and finances needed.

# Annis (16) on page 11 found the following:

One of the constantly recurring areas of concerns in many businesses was that of supervisory personnel. In this study area there was no training devoted to the daily supervision of production personnel. Personnel generally work up through the ranks of businesses and are appointed to supervisory positions with virtually no experience in leadership. The skills described by the respondents that are expected of supervisory personnel define the need for curricula incorporating the skills of management at the production level in industry.

In selecting a training center for the vocational education process, one must consider the employee-employer relationship. What are the characteristics that a student should possess if he is to succeed on the job or in the training situation.

Annis (16) on page 20 asked what personal characteristics were important and to rate them. Efficiency, courtesy, manner, neatness, appearance, and self expression were determined important. All the areas were considered important by the respondents, but especially critical were efficient performance of the job and courtesy on the job. As a result of this survey, Annis (16) on page 71 had the following recommendations:

- 3. Institutions should include as a part of technical training:
  - a. efficiency in doing one's job.
  - b. courtesy and manners toward others and its effect.
  - c. the importance of conversing with others.
  - d. the communications of instructions and policies.
  - e. the importance of personal neatness.
  - f. neatness in doing one's job.
  - g. the rewards for the individual who takes pride in and shows enthusiasm toward his work.
  - h. the importance of ambition, responsibility, and honesty in obtaining satisfying, high paying jobs.

Young people are limited by their environment. An effort should be made by the school to expand or help the student escape the limitations of his environment. To accomplish this, the role of the school counselor

and teacher is even more important. A good teacher serves as a model of excellence and can capture the imagination of the young. Ginzberg (14) on pages 135-136 states:

At best, school authorities, teachers, and guidance specialists combined, find it difficult to do an effective job in facilitating young people's understanding of the world of work. The majority of the staff are women, most of whom know only one job, teaching, and the typical guidance counselor is not likely to have an intimate acquaintance with the job market. Most of what he knows is from books, not life. The schools should therefore elicit the active cooperation of various groups in the community—business, labor, the professions, government—so that young people who are confronted with the necessity of making choices can learn about the advantages and limitations of different fields.

Christensen (17) on pages 142-144 quite well summarizes many of the problems and what the possible solutions might be for some of them.

- (3) One of the assumptions of this research is that the student himself will and can provide many answers to the needs and types of vocational programs that the schools should provide. Students should periodically be given an opportunity to make an evaluation of vocational programs. Certain procedures must be followed if their judgments are of most value. These evaluations can be of great value in improving local programs.
- (4) Within limits students going to work or to vocational-technical schools can be identified. The counselor or vocational teacher must not require too high a degree of refinement in determining students' occupational choices. In planning vocational programs broad occupational categories are sufficient because of the cluster approach to teaching and the continued training after high school. The career selection process is developmental in nature. It has its first major start in the secondary or community college.

There needs to be further study of ways and means of determining which students can profit most from vocational classes so they can be guided into them. In this study only three measures were used to determine student consistency of occupational choice. A further study should be made using grades as the fourth measure.

(5) There is a trend in the secondary schools to provide more vocational orientation classes and fewer classes for job entry. The implication resulting from this trend is that there must be a greater emphasis on providing more adequate

post secondary programs in Nevada to give individuals that depth of training necessary for job entry. Also, there appears to be a great need to continue and strengthen classes at the 11th and 12th grade level that are long enough in length to give, particularly those students going directly to work, job entry skills. It appears that there is evidence in the study to support the conclusion the best total vocational programs have classes with a number of varied lengths in class time. Some classes should be of limited lengths, such as single periods for one semester or a full year. The goal of these classes should be vocational orientation for the student. On the other hand there should also be vocational classes organized in sequence in long enough periods so that the students will reach job entry level competency.

(6) This conclusion grows out of number five. There is not much that can be done in the small schools to provide vocational programs in depth to meet the needs of their students. Consolidation (used advisedly) is the best answer where the distance is not too great.

There is also a danger which may emerge, and that is the impetus on the part of some to provide a number of vocational-technical post secondary schools or community colleges in locations within driving distances to larger populations. The size of the school has a direct and important bearing on the potential for quality vocational programs. This is a fundamental fact of life that cannot be discounted.

- (7) There is support in this study for the fact that many schools are handicapped financially to provide good programs due to lack of equipment and facilities. Extra state and national support is needed to provide programs in depth for vocational education for job competency. One of the main findings in this study is that as students become older they become more dissatisfied with vocational programs. This situation should be completely reversed. This cannot be done without more finance and changes made to improve the overall quality of vocational programs.
- (8) There is a great need to redirect almost half of the students who say they plan to go to a four year college and enter a profession into the occupations that require less than a college degree. These are the programs that can be provided by the secondary schools, adult and community colleges or technical schools.
- (9) This study shows that parental influence is hard to measure and is subtle in nature with which the vocational educator finds it difficult to cope. Part of the problem is within the programs themselves evidenced by the fact that as the student gets older the more they are dissatisfied with their vocational programs. In some schools students

definitely feel handicapped for tools, equipment, and space. In other situations students report poor instruction, lack of discipline and lack of enforced prerequisites. There must obviously be better public relations with parents and improved counseling, but this study shows part of the problem is within the vocational programs themselves.

- (10) More counseling should be provided for students planning to go directly to work or planning to go to a post secondary vocational-technical school. The study shows these students are more frustrated and least sure of themselves as compared to the college oriented student.
- (11) In general in the high schools studied, a high percentage of students were productively working, especially in the summers. Since the employment opportunities are limited in most school areas in Nevada, counselors, cooperative work experience coordinators, if available, and the vocational teachers must work cooperatively together to provide beneficial work experience programs.

#### Females in Vocations

The role of females in the world of work and vocational-technical education programs is becoming an increasingly more complicated situation. In reviewing the literature for this study, it was found that most studies do not deal with differences between male and female employees. Often the female is treated as a second-class citizen in the world of work. Equal rights supposedly includes females. Because of this situation, some of this study is devoted to vocational aspirations of females.

The United States Department of Labor (18) on page 6 indicates that:

Median wage or salary incomes of year-round full-time women workers in selected major occupation groups in 1971 were as follows:

Major Occupation Group	Income	As Percent of Men's Income
Professional and technical workers	\$8,346	69
Nonfarm managers and administrators	7,312	56
Clerical workers	5,718	62
Sales workers	4,549	43
Operatives, including transport Service workers (except private	4,798	61
household)	4,280	60

# This represents:

. . . a differential, perhaps of the order of 20 percent, between the earnings of men and women remains after adjusting for factors such as education, work experience during the year, and even lifelong work experience. (18, p. 6)

If vocational-technical education is to succeed, we must not neglect such a large segment of our society. The fact that according to the United States Department of Labor (18) on page 1 reports that women make up 33 percent of the total work force would indicate the emphasis should be placed on vocational education for females.

# Levy (19) stated:

. . . that in secondary schools we are inclined to guide female students into dull dead end careers. Teachers differentiate ideal behavior based on sex and act out sex role stereotypes.

The United States Department of Labor (18) on page 5 further substantiates Levy's finding by the following:

Women are more apt than men to be white-collar workers, but the jobs they hold are usually less skilled and pay less than those of men. Women professional workers are most likely to be teachers, nurses, and other health workers, while men are most frequently employed in professions other than teaching and health. Women are less likely than men to be managers and officials, and are far more likely to be clerical workers.

There are many myths about women in the work force. Some of these are as follows (20):

Myth:

Women don't work as long or as regularly as their male coworkers; their training is costly—and largely wasted. Reality:

Although some but not all women leave work for marriage and children, a majority of those who leave return when their children are in school. Despite this break in employment, the average woman worker has a work-life expectancy of 25 years as compared with 43 years for the average male worker. The single woman averages 45 years in the labor force.

Myth:

Women should stick to "women's jobs" and shouldn't compete for "men's jobs."

Reality:

Jobs, with extremely rare exceptions, are sexless. Tradition rather than job content has led to labeling certain jobs as women's and others as men's. In measuring 22 inherent aptitudes and knowledge areas, a research laboratory found that there is no sex difference in 14, women excel in 6, and men excel in 2.

The literature provides a strong case for females in vocations and will be treated as such in this study.

#### Manpower Demand

Manpower demand data is an important aspect of any well organized vocational education program. This data is gathered through the United States Department of Labor. The Bureau of Census Information collects data. Schools systems at various levels and through various methods attempt to gather manpower data.

Florida Project Agriculture is such a study developed in cooperation between the Department of Agricultural and Extension Education and the Florida State Department of Education Division of Vocational,
Technical, and Adult Education (21). This study states the following
on pages 9 and 10:

The segment employing the most workers in 1972 was Production Agriculture with 237,275 representing 44% of all workers. This was followed by Ornamental Horticulture with 61,824 or 11%; Products with 28,158 or 5%; Supplies and Services with 16,696 or 3%; Forestry with 11,457 or 2%; Mechanics with 3,769 or 1%. In terms of numbers employed, Resources is relatively unimportant, giving employment to a mere 837 workers. This industry, however, is comparatively new with a considerable development potential.

Looking at the projection for 1975, one sees that Production Agriculture is expected to decline from the 1972 figure to 316 persons which is less than 1%. All the other segments show an increase over 1972. All Agriculture will move from 542,503 workers to 592,101, a gain of 9%. biggest percentage increase is expected in Resources (30%) though the actual number of extra workers will be only 256. The next largest gain will be in Mechanics (25%), followed by Horticulture and Supplies and Services each with 16%. The increase in Forestry will be 4% while that in Products will be less than 2%. The reason for this relatively lower anticipated percentage increase for the Forestry and Agricultural Products segments of the industry is believed to be that there is possibly greater opportunity for increased mechanization in these segments of the industry than in others.

Gathering data of manpower needs in a systematic way is an important aspect of vocational education. Development of an information source of manpower needs is quite important.

Oklahoma State Department of Vocational and Technical Education (22) has such a system. It is called "OTIS," Occupational Training Information System. This system is designed to provide current information on the supply of and demand for people trained in selected skills and technical occupations.

#### Summary

To summarize the related literature, there is an indication of greater need of occupational counseling. Studies such as this can serve as a guidance and counseling tool. Student interest should be used as a tool in determining vocational programs.

The literature indicates that many factors affect vocational choice. Contact with successful persons in business seems a practical means of vocational counseling. Exposure to vocations should be a continued process while in school.

Problems of vocational counseling and development of satisfactory vocational education programs are not limited to this country.

Special consideration should be given to females in vocational education. Females have unique counseling needs. There are many myths about females in the world of work.

#### CHAPTER III

#### DESIGN AND METHODOLOGY OF THE STUDY

The study is designed to determine the vocational education preferences of the senior high school students in a four-county area being served by Indian River Community College of Fort Pierce, Florida. The vocational education preferences of the respondents will be compared with the curricula presently being offered in the high schools of the four-county area and at Indian River Community College. Data from the 1970 census were used to compare the present situation of employment in the four-county area in relationship to respondents' vocational preferences.

The study should prove of greatest value to the curriculum decision makers in the four-county area and the Community College. Guidance counselors in the schools represented in the study should be able to use the information to an advantage.

Students will be surveyed as to their vocational preference and numbers and percentages will be recorded by school and as a total district. The information will be communicated by the writer to the curriculum decision makers in the four-county area.

#### Selection of Population

The questionnaire was given to all senior high school students in attendance in the four counties. This population was chosen because all

four counties are served by Indian River Community College. The college serves as the area vocational school. This being an initial study, it seemed wise to survey an entire population.

#### Procedure

An initial contact was made to the Associate Dean of Instruction at Indian River Community College as to the need and value of the study. The next contact was with the President of Indian River Community College to determine if a similar study had been made and if the college administration would be in favor of such a study. There was a negative reply to previous studies and an affirmative reply favoring the study. The study was developed at this point and was presented to the vocationaltechnical directors and principals of the four counties by the writer and the college administration. The questionnaires were given to the principal or his designated representative in the local schools; they were distributed in the home room or English classes to be returned at a later time on a voluntary basis. The following tests were considered by referring to the 1972 Mental Measurement Yearbook (23): "California Occupational Preference Survey," "Conolly Occupational Interest Questionnaire," "Gordon Occupational Checklist," "Hackman-Gather Vocational Interest Inventory--Standard Edition," "Kuder General Interest Survey," "Kuder Occupational Interest Survey," "Minnesota Vocational Interest Inventory," "Rating Scales of Vocational Values, Vocational Interest, and Vocational Aptitudes," and the "Ohio Vocational Interest Survey." The Strong Vocational Inventory Blank was not considered because it requires a separate form for male and female. "Ohio Vocational Interest Survey" and the "Rating Scales of Vocational

Values, Vocational Interest, and Vocational Aptitudes" seemed to be the best suited for this investigation based on the information studied.

None of the tests met the needs of the study, and it was decided to develop a questionnaire.

An initial questionnaire was prepared using the Ohio Vocational Interest Survey and a previous questionnaire used by Swingle (2) as a guide. It was then studied and evaluated by members of the Vocational Department teaching staff at Indian River Community College. Recommended changes were made. At this point the chairmen of the Technical Department and Municipal Service Department of Indian River Community College read the questionnaire and made suggestions. The Associate Dean of Instruction, formerly Director of Vocational Education at Indian River Community College, made additional recommendations of change of content.

Copies were printed and high school students in the auto mechanics program read the questionnaire to determine if it was understandable to high school students. The questionnaire was deemed satisfactory.

At this time all Vocational-Technical Directors and School

Principals in the four-county area were invited to the college for a

luncheon with the college administration, chairman of the Vocational

Department, and chairman of the Technical Department. The purpose of
the study and questionnaire were reviewed. One question was removed
from the questionnaire, and it was then deemed satisfactory to administer to the entire population of the study.

All schools in the four-county area agreed to cooperate with the study. The questionnaires were delivered to the schools and administered during a two-week period in May, 1972.

# Collection and Analysis of Data

The data collected was descriptive in nature based on students' response to a vocational planning questionnaire. Census data and Florida and United States Department of Labor data were also used. Indian River Community College's self-study and program offerings from the cooperating schools were used.

The data from the questionnaires were coded and key punched. For the most part the data was recorded according to school, grade, and sex.

The respondents' first, second, and third choices of an intended vocation were compared with that of their parents and were recorded in terms of percentage choosing the same vocation as the parent, by school, grade, and sex.

The respondents' plans after high school were reported numerically and by percentage by school, grade, and sex.

The respondents' program in high school were reported according to grade and sex, numerically and as a percentage.

The respondents' interest in vocational education were reported by grade and sex, numerically and as a percentage.

The vocational education preference of the respondents was reported according to first, second, and third choice by program area, grade, school, and sex.

The above descriptive information was tested at the .05 level of significance by the chi-square,  $X^2$ , where applicable. It was analyzed, compared, and related to census data, Department of Labor information, and curricula being offered in the high schools represented in the study and Indian River Community College.

### CHAPTER IV

### PRESENTATION AND ANALYSIS OF DATA

The purpose of this chapter was to present and analyze data collected in the study.

A major effort was made to accomplish objectives and to appropriately test hypotheses. Chi-square  $(\mathbf{X}^2)$  at the .05 level of significance was used to test the hypotheses.

The study as developed was primarily descriptive in nature and for the most part dealt with a base of numerical information and percentages. In some instances the data was further treated by grade level.

The questionnaire used in this study was developed with the assistance of the staff at Indian River Community College, personnel of the senior high schools represented in the study, and students at Indian River Community College. The questionnaire, Appendix A, was presented to a representative of the schools included in the study during the first week of May. Each school was to administer the questionnaire within two weeks. The questionnaires were presented to the students during home room, or in one school during English classes as all students were enrolled in English. The questionnaires were to be returned by the students to a designated place in the school on a voluntary basis. The questionnaires were then picked up by a representative of Indian River Community College two weeks after the schools received them.

### Description of Population and Return

The population of this study was comprised of the senior high school students of Indian River County, Okeechobee County, Saint Lucie County, and Martin County, Florida. This represented four county public schools and three non-public schools. Two of the non-public schools are new schools within the past three years. Saint Edwards School does not have a twelfth grade. Vero Beach and Saint Edwards High Schools are located in Indian River County; John Carroll, Indian River Academy, and Fort Pierce Central are located in Saint Lucie County; Martin County High School is located in Martin County; and Okeechobee High School is located in Okeechobee County. John Carroll, Saint Edwards, and Indian River Academy are non-public high schools.

Data shown in Table I depicts the enrollment by school as indicated by school secretaries at the time the questionnaires were being prepared for distribution. There is an enrollment of 6,132, with 5,763 present in school. "Present in school" is the number of students present and available to respond to the questionnaires. Due to the fact that two extra-curricular activities occurred on the date the tests were given, two quite large groups were not available to respond. Later, when this was discovered, there was no practical way to provide a follow-up questionnaire.

According to data presented in Table I, 3,742 students responded to the questionnaire. It should be noted that there were eight incomplete questionnaires not indicating school and some other phases of the questionnaire. The 3,742 responses represent 61 percent of the total enrollment and 72.5 percent of those present in school who were given the questionnaire. Again, it should be noted that the response to the

TABLE I

ENROLLMENT AND RESPONSE OF SENIOR HIGH SCHOOL STUDENTS
IN A FOUR-COUNTY AREA OF FLORIDA BY SCHOOLS

#### Distribution of Respondents Percent of Total Percent of Total Enrollment Present in School Responding to Responding to Responding to Present School Enrollment in School Questionnaire Questionnaire Questionnaire Fort Pierce Central 1,975 1,504 1,213 61.4 80.7 John Carroll 178 58.0 65.2 200 116 Martin County 1,540 1,315 898 58.3 68.3 65.7 Okeechobee 563 498 327 58.1 65.5 72.1 Vero Beach 1,762 1,600 1,154 30.5 47.4 Indian River Academy 59 38 18 48.5 53.3 Saint Edwards 33 30 16 61.0 72.5 Total 6,132 5,163 3,742

questionnaire was on a voluntary basis. No attempt was made to encourage the non-respondents to respond. This response was treated as the typical opinion and choice of senior high school students in a four-county area of Florida. This will be the basis of interpretation of data throughout this study.

### Desire for Vocational Education

Students' desire for vocational education was ascertained by asking the following question on the questionnaire: "If a vocational program were offered at the high school or community college that interested you, would you enroll?" The students' response to this question is the basis for findings shown in Table II.

Data presented in Table II indicates that 77.8 percent of females desire vocational education, while 74.7 percent of the males were interested in vocational education. It is of further interest to note that in all schools, a greater percentage of the females than males desired vocational education. This data was used to test Hypothesis  $\mathrm{HO}_1$  to determine significance of difference.

Hypothesis  $\mathrm{HO}_1$  - "There is no significant difference between male and female students in desire for vocational education."

 ${
m HO}_1$  is rejected at the .05 level of significance. Table II indicates that Chi-square ( ${
m X}^2$ ) was significant at the .02 level with two degrees of freedom, meaning that females have a greater desire for vocational education than do males.

Later in this study an analysis of program offerings in the fourcounty area will be made. The question must be raised, "Do we have adequate program offerings for both male and female?" Of the 38 program

TABLE II

INDICATED INTEREST IN VOCATIONAL EDUCATION OF SENIOR HIGH SCHOOL STUDENTS IN A FOUR-COUNTY AREA OF FLORIDA

							Distrib	ution by	School	and Sex						_	
			Pierce tral	Joi Car	hn ro11	Mar Cou		0keec	hobee	Vero :	Beach		n River demy		int ards	Tota A Respo	11
Interest by Grade		м	F	м	F	M	F	м	F	М	F	м	F	м	F	м	F
INTERESTED											·						
10th	No.	233 84.4	220 84.0	14 77.8	21 80.8	127 70.6	154 77.0	60 84.5	52 83.9	181 71.8	169 79.7	0	5 83 . 3	0 0	0	615 77.2	62 80.
11th	No.	117 77.5	148 85.5	12 57.1	12 48.0	137 90.1	137 77.0	57 85.1	42 85.7	131 73.2	141 70.9	0 0	1 100.0	10 90.9	4 80.0	464 77.3	48. 77.0
12th	No.	106 68.8	148 75.1	7 77.8	16 94.1	58 61.1	46 62.2	25 55.6	21 63.6	113 71.5	120 77.9	60.0	4 66.7	. 0	0 0	312 67.0	35. 73.8
NOT INTERESTED	•														÷		
10th	No.	27 9.8	29 11.1	3 16.7	5 19.2	40 22.2	31 15.5	9 12.7	5 8.1	40 15.9	22 10.4	0	1 16.7	0	. 0	119 14.9	9: 12.
11th	No.	29 19.2	20 11.6	9 42.9	13 52.0	26 15.2	30 16.9	8 11.9	7 14.3	36 20.1	31 15.6	. 0	0	1 9.1	1 20.0	109 18.2	10. 16.
12th	No.	35 22.7	37 18.8	22.2	1 5.9	31 32.6	24 32 . 4	18 40.0	7 21.2	35 22.2	20 13.0	2 40.0	2 33.3	0 0	0 0	123 16.4	9: 18.
NO RESPONSE									,								
10th	No.	16 5.8	13 5.0	1 5.6	0	13 7.2	15 7.5	2 2.8	5 8.1	31 12.3	21 9.9	0 0	0	0	0 0	63 7.9	5.0 7.0
11th	No.	5 3.3	5 2.9	0 0	0	8 4.7	11 6.2	2 3.0	0 0	12 6.7	27 13.6	0 0	0 0	0 0	0 0	27 4.5	4: 6.8
12th	No.	13 8.4	12 6.1	0 0	0 0	6 6.3	4 5.4	2 4.4	5 15.2	10 6.3	14 9.1	0 0	0 0	0 0	0 0	31 6.7	. 3. 7.
TOTALS																	
Interested	No. %	456 78.5	516 81.7	33 68.8	49 72.1	322 72.2	337 74.6	142 77.6	115 79.9	425 72.2	430 76.1	3 60.0	10 76.9	10 <b>90.9</b>	4 80.0	1391 74.7	146 77.8
Not Interested	No.	91 15.7	86 13.6	14 29.1	19 27.9	97 21.8	85 18.8	35 19.1	19 13.2	111 18.8	73 12.9	2 40.0	3 23.1	. 1 9.1	1 20.0	351 18.8	286 15.
No Response	No. %	34 5.8	30 4.7	1 2.1	0	27 6.0	30 6.6	6 3.3	10 6.9	53 9.0	62 11.0	0 0	0 0	0 0	0 0	121 6.5	13: 7.0
TOTAL ALL RESPONDING	No.	581	632	48	68	446	452	183	144	589	565	5	13	11	5	1863	1879

 $<sup>\</sup>chi^2$  = 8.7608 with df = 2. Significant at the .02 Level.

possibilities listed in the questionnaire, 21 would probably be judged male programs, being designed predominantly for male students, while 9 would be judged female programs, designed predominantly for the female student, and 8 non-sex programs. Interpretation of the review of literature would indicate that sex orientation to training programs and employment are not justified.

Findings shown in Table III would indicate that an even higher number of students desire vocational education than the 2,852 students indicated in Table II. The data presented in Table III indicate that 569 students listed a first choice of vocational education programs after responding "no interest" or failure to respond on the questionnaire. This represents approximately 12 percent of those responding. This fact may be an indication that we are not getting the job accomplished in vocational counseling. Studies such as this may be helpful in creating an awareness of vocational education program offerings.

### Vocational Education Preferences

Vocational education preference as referred to in this study refers to the students' choice indicated on the questionnaire. Students were asked to indicate their vocational education preference. When the student had more than one choice, he was to indicate the order of his preference. The first, second, and third choices were considered in this study. Results presented in Table IV are a compilation of the first choice of vocational education preference.

The data in Appendix D is a further compilation of these choices by school, grade, and sex. Each page in Appendix D is the first, second, and third choice of the respondents by grade, school, and sex.

Appendix D should be helpful to the individual schools. For a school to operate a vocational program, enrollment is needed. This appendix should provide an indication of potential enrollment each year.

TABLE III

SENIOR HIGH SCHOOL STUDENTS IN A FOUR-COUNTY AREA OF FLORIDA SELECTING A VOCATIONAL EDUCATION PROGRAM AFTER INDICATING NO INTEREST IN VOCATIONAL EDUCATION OR NOT RESPONDING ON QUESTIONNAIRE

Grade and Sex 10th Male		Numb	er of R	esponse	s by So	chool		
	Fort Pierce Central		Martin County	* -		Indian River Academy	Saint Edwards	Total
10th						, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,		
Male	33	4	37	6	40			120
Female	30 1	4	34	8	22			98
11th								
Male	16	5	25	8	31		1	86
Fema1e	14	7	33	5	38		1 .	98
12th								
Male	17	0	17	14	29	2		79
Female	29	1	21	8	29			88
Subtota1								
Male	66	9	79	28	100	2	1 .	285
Female	73	12	88	21	89		1	284
Total	139	21	167	49	189	2	2	569

TABLE IV

FIRST CHOICE VOCATIONAL EDUCATION PREFERENCE OF SENIOR HIGH SCHOOL STUDENTS IN A FOUR-COUNTY AREA OF FLORIDA BY GRADE AND SEX

•	· .		Number of	Male and Fe	male Respon	ses by Grade	9	
	Gra	de 12	Gra	ade 11	Gra	de 10	To	tal .
Type Program	Male	Female	Male	Female	Male	Female	Male	Fema1
General Clerical or Recording	1	17	5	29	1	21	7	67
General Agriculture	12	4	15	8	23	4	50	16
Fire Science	3		2		10		15	
Machine Shop	10		. 7		15	3	32	3
Auto Body Fender Repair	14		15	,1 .	.20		49	1
Electrical Trades	16		. 25	1	37		78	1
Brick & Block Laying	11	1	25	1	42		78	2
Plumbing	7		10	1	. 10		27	1
General Home Economics		8		10	1	16	1	34
Teacher Aide	4	35	5	46	10	61	19	142
Health Aide	1	3		3	3	3	4	9
Medical Laboratory Technician	6	. 17	12	. 15	9	17	27	49
Practical Nursing		13	. 2	21	1	26	3	60
Medical Assistant	8	10	11	14	12	15	31	39
Printing & Duplicating	1	. 3	. 2	3	. 2	2	5	. 8
Tailoring & Dressmaking		16	3	21	2	14	5	51
Forestry, Landscaping, Citrus, or Horticulture	12	3	27	. 5	24	5	63	13
Heating, Refrigeration, & A.C.	1		7		13		21	
Service Station Attendant & Management			5	1	7	1	12	2
Other (specify)	47	50	69	80	93	99	209	229
Secretarial Sciences		65		59		91		215
Police Science	12	4	10	. 3	. 38	3	60	10
Auto Mechanics	36	1	44	1	75	2	155	. 4
Welding or Sheet Metal	1		11	1	12	. 2	24	3
Appliance Repair					1		1	
Carpentry	23	1	31		38	2	92	38
Drafting	22	2	27	3	20		69	5
Data Processing	9	15	14	9	16	14	39	38
Child Care	1	29	4	49	2	71	7	149
Physical Therapy Assistant	2	11	1	10	4	15	7	36
Radiologic Technology	. 8	. 2	3	3	5	5	16	10
Dental Assistant	1	13	. 4	32	- 4	34	9	79
Registered Nursing	1	27	1	47	•	46	2	120
Food Preparation & Services	4	-7	6	8	7	8	17	16
Cosmetology	2	16	1	26	2	. 41	5	83
Commercial Art	10	24	13	16	12	17	35	57
Distributive Occupations	10	9	10	3	9	3	29	. 15
Mechanics (Diesel, Farm,	10	,	20		31	1	61	1
Marine, or Small Engine)	18	. 1	20 31	1.	- 40	1	89	2
Radio, TV, & Electronic Serv. None	68	39	63	49.	40 62	67	. 193	155

In analyzing Table IV it was found that "other (specify)" was the most popular choice to both male and female students, with 209 and 229, respectively. Materials in Appendix C represent a computer printout of all students that marked "other" on the questionnaire pertaining to vocational education preference. The writer categorized these choices into 19 areas, thus the makeup of the appendix. Responses were put into a specific group when possible. When this was not possible, craftsman and professional were used. Agriculture business and natural resources was the most popular selection with 73 responses; professional was second with 69, followed by transportation occupations with 54. It does not seem expedient to further analyze the responses of data presented in Appendix C. Many of the 73 responses in agri-business and natural resources were veterinary or veterinary technician or assistant. Of the 54 in the area of transportation occupations, airline stewardess and pilot were quite popular.

Findings in Table IV would tend to verify an earlier statement that there are in fact vocations primarily considered as being for females. The most popular female choices are secretarial sciences, 215; child care, 149; teacher aide, 142; registered nursing, 120; cosmetology, 83; dental assistant, 79; general clerical and recording, 67; and practical nursing, 60. Three of the vocational education preferences were not selected by any female, these being fire science, heating, refrigeration and air-conditioning, and appliance repair.

The male preferences were more wide-spread than the female, auto mechanics being the most popular with 155. Carpentry was the second most popular with 92. Radio, television, and electronic service was the third most popular with 89, followed by electrical trades and brick and

block laying, each having 78. Drafting had 69, followed by forestry, landscaping, citrus or horticulture with 63 and mechanics with 61.

The eight most popular female vocational education choices accounted for 915 students, while the eight most popular male choices accounted for only 685 students; yet there were a similar number of students of each sex, 1,863 male and 1,879 female. Secretarial sciences is the only first choice not selected by at least one male.

Data presented in Table V indicates course offerings of the schools in the study. The only vocational education program offered in the non-public schools in the study was business and office.

John Carroll sends vocational students to Indian River Community

College and Fort Pierce Central. Vocational agriculture students from

John Carroll attend programs at Fort Pierce Central.

All the public schools offer agriculture except Martin County. The Community College offers agriculture. Data in Appendix D seem to indicate that Martin County should consider implementing an agriculture program based on student interest. Thirty-nine students in Martin County listed agriculture as their first choice; 29, the second choice; and 13, the third choice. The vocational education preference of students would tend to indicate that existing agriculture programs should be continued as interest and placement potential exists.

The listings in Table VI are vocational programs offered at Indian River Community College for both high school students and vocational college students. Auto body fender repair, air conditioning, auto mechanics, radio and television, vocational drafting, and welding are available to daytime high school students. Cosmetology is not available to daytime high school students.

TABLE V

OVERVIEW OF VOCATIONAL COURSE OFFERINGS IN THE SENIOR HIGH SCHOOLS IN A FOUR-COUNTY AREA OF FLORIDA

	<u> </u>	Distr	ibution	of Pro	grams by	School	
Vocational Courses	Fort Pierce Central	Vero Beach	Martin County		John Carroll	Indian River Academy	Saint Edwards
Agriculture	x	ж		х			
Air Conditioning & Refrigeration				x			
Auto Mechanics	<b>x</b> ,		x	<b>x</b> ·	•		
Business & Office	x	x	x	x	x	x	<b>x</b> .
Carpentry		<b>x</b> .	x	x			•
Cooperative Business Education	x	x	x				
Cosmetology				x			
Data Processing			x				
Distributive Education	<b>x</b> ,		x				
Diversified Coop. Training	x	x	x	x			
Drafting	x	x	<b>X</b> .				
Electronics	<b>X</b> .			x			
Home Economics	×	<b>X</b> 2, .	x	x			
Manufacturing	<b>x</b> .						
Marine Engine Mechanics			x				
Masonry	×	x	x	x			
Power Technology	x						
Radio & TV Service	x		x				
Small Enginer Repair		x					
Vocational Occup. Education	x	<b>x</b>	x	x			
Work Experience	x	x	x			•	

TABLE VI

VOCATIONAL PROGRAMS OFFERED AT INDIAN RIVER
COMMUNITY COLLEGE (AAS DEGREE)

Auto Body and Fender Repair	Cosmetology (1,200-hour program)
Air Conditioning, Refrigeration and Heating	Radio/TV
	Vocational Drafting
Auto Mechanics	Welding

Source: Indian River Community College Catalog 1973-74 (Fort Pierce, 1973), p. 15.

The listings in Table VII are those technical education programs offered at Indian River Community College. These programs were not designed primarily with the daytime high school student in mind. The scheduling is not necessarily planned to accommodate the high school student. Major emphasis in these programs is for post-secondary students. It should be noted, however, that in certain situations special arrangements between the high school principal and the dean of instruction enable students to enroll in the programs for high school credit.

Air conditioning is offered at Okeechobee High School and the Community College. The Community College offers air conditioning at the main campus and also at the Martin County Branch. In the past, Fort Pierce Central and Okeechobee have sent air-conditioning students to Indian River Community College. Findings shown in Appendix D would tend to indicate that the student interest is somewhat small, with only 21 first choices in all schools. The existing programs may expect to encounter enrollment problems in the future.

### TABLE VII

## TECHNICAL PROGRAMS OFFERED AT INDIAN RIVER COMMUNITY COLLEGE (AS DEGREE)

Agribusiness
Agricultural Mechanics
Animal Science
Banking
Building Construction
Citrus Technology and Production
Criminal Justice
Crop Technology and Production
Data Processing
Drafting
Electronics

Fashion Merchandising
Home Economics
Hotel-Motel Administration
Nursing
Mid-Management Institutional
Food Service
Mid-Management Marketing and
Retailing
Medical Technology
Radiologic Technology
Secretarial Science
Teacher Aide

Source: <u>Indian River Community College Catalog 1973-74</u> (Fort Pierce, 1973), pp. 30-31.

The results presented in Appendix D would seem to indicate that

Fort Pierce Central may have difficulty in meeting the needs of all

their 60 students indicating a first-choice interest in auto mechanics.

In the past, however, they have sent their auto mechanics student overflow to Indian River Community College. Vero Beach does not offer auto

mechanics and based on student interest, with 49 first choices, should

possibly consider implementing a program or sending high school students

to the Community College. Indian River Community College in the past

has provided this service to Okeechobee. Okeechobee has implemented

its own program at this point. John Carroll sends its auto mechanics

students to the Community College. Indian River Academy and Saint

Edwards may send auto mechanics students to the Community College if the

need should arise.

All schools in the study offer business and office, and student interest, showing 74 students in general clerical and recording and 215 in secretarial science, would indicate that they should probably continue, based on this information.

Carpentry is offered at Vero Beach and Martin County. The Community College has an apprentice program for adults. Data in Appendix D would seem to indicate that Fort Pierce Central should consider a carpentry program, based on student interest, as 42 students selected carpentry as their first choice. The easiest solution could well be to request the Community College to plan their schedule to accommodate high school students.

Cooperative business education, as such, was not a direct choice on the questionnaire. It should be noted that Fort Pierce Central, Vero Beach, and Martin County offer this program. The Community College offers cooperative business education as a part of the business department, including banking, hotel-motel administration, secretarial science, and mid-management.

Cosmetology is offered by the Community College and Okeechobee High School. The Community College cosmetology is primarily for post-secondary students. There are several private schools of cosmetology in the area to help meet the needs of the students. The employment demand in the surrounding area is not completely favorable for the cosmetologist.

Data processing is offered at the Community College and Martin County High School. Data presented in Table IV and Appendix D would indicate that these two programs are all that should be needed in the four-county area, based on student choice, with 77 students choosing it

as their first choice. Martin County can possibly expect low enrollment based on Appendix D, with only 16 students selecting this program as their first choice.

Distributive education is offered at the Community College, Fort
Pierce Central, and Martin County and, based on student interest from
Table IV with 44 first choices, can probably anticipate continued
enrollment for at least several years. No new programs should probably
be contemplated based on student interest.

Diversified cooperative training, vocational occupational education, and work experience, as listed in Table V, will not be discussed as to student interest choice. A specific choice was not offered in the questionnaire in this area. These three vocational education programs can and do cross other program areas.

Drafting is offered at all public schools in the study, except
Okeechobee. It should be noted in Tables VI and VII that the Community
College offers both technical drafting and vocational drafting. The
trend is toward vocational drafting and away from technical drafting,
except technical drafting for up-grading skills and specific needs.

Electronics is offered at Fort Pierce Central, Okeechobee, and Indian River Community College. Data in Appendix D would indicate that student interest may be too limited in Okeechobee, with only eight students indicating electronics as a first choice, to justify such a program. Figures presented in Appendix D would indicate that Martin County with 19 first choices and Vero Beach with 21 should further investigate some type of program in electrical trades, based on student interest.

Home economics is offered in all the schools represented in the study. The findings in Appendix D indicate that general home economics

is not an extremely popular choice, with only 35 students selecting it as a first choice. It should be noted, however, that child care, tailoring and dressmaking are popular choices. Emphasis on these areas in the home economics programs would seem to be a practical solution. The students interested in food preparation and food service could possibly be served by specialization in other areas.

Data in Table V shows that manufacturing and power technology are two courses offered at Fort Pierce Central. These are courses to introduce and create an understanding and overview of these fields incorporated with on-job training or supervised employment experience. They are not designed for a specific occupation.

Masonry is offered at all public high schools in the study. Brick and block laying is taught as an adult non-credit, or apprenticeship, course at Indian River Community College. It had been offered as a college or high school credit vocational course, but enrollment did not justify this. It is continued as an adult non-credit or apprenticeship course at the Community College. Continuation of all brick and block laying programs is indicated, based on data in Table IV, with 80 students selecting it as their first choice.

Marine engine repair is offered at Martin County and small engine repair at Vero Beach. Data in Appendix D indicates there is student interest at Okeechobee, with 11 first choices, John Carroll, with 3 first choices, and Fort Pierce Central, with 12 first choices. The Community College offers small engine repair as a continuing education program. The Community College should probably further investigate the possibility of mechanics including diesel and/or small engine repair.

Fort Pierce Central, Martin County, and Indian River Community

College offer radio and television service programs and evidently should

continue, based on response in Appendix D. Vero Beach with 23 first

choices in three grades and Okeechobee with 10 first choices in three

grades have some interest, but probably not enough to justify programs.

Vero Beach is not sending vocational students to the Community College

and could possibly meet some of their needs by doing so.

Auto body fender repair is offered at the Community College, which should be able to fulfill the student interest as indicated on the questionnaire.

Findings as shown in Table IV and Appendix D have been discussed to this point as they relate to the programs offered at the high schools and the Community College. Programs offered at the Community College and not at the high schools will be further discussed.

According to Table IV and Appendix D, health occupations have considerable student interest, with 381 students selecting these training programs for a first choice. It should be noted that Indian River Community College is presently offering programs in nursing, which includes registered nursing and practical nursing; and data would indicate that they should be continued, with practical nursing having 63 first choices and registered nursing having an additional 122 first choices. The college also offers a program to train medical laboratory technicians and radiologic technologists. Seventy-six students selected medical laboratory technician as their first choice, and 26 selected radiologic technology.

Data in Table IV would indicate that the Community College should consider the feasibility of expanding their program in health occupations.

Specifically, the following, with the number of students in parentheses listing them as their first choice--medical assistant (70), dental assistant (88), and possibly health aide (13)--should be further studied. Indian River Community College is presently expanding its health occupations facilities. Specific programs to be included in the expansion of health occupation facilities and programs, as of November, 1973, were not yet established, according to information given by the associate dean of instruction of Indian River Community College.

Indian River Community College has established a department of municipal services which includes criminal justice and fire science. At present, fire science is a developing program and specifics on program offerings are not listed in the 1973-74 General Information Catalog (24). The college will develop programs as needed by the four-county area. Fire science had 15 students indicate this program as the first choice, and police science has 70 first-place choices.

According to student interest in Table IV, commercial art should be a popular course or program, with 92 listings of first choice in this area. It should be noted, however, that according to the chairman of the technical department at Indian River Community College, this course has been offered within the past three years and was cancelled because of low enrollment. The feasibility of offering a course in this area possibly should be considered again at this time.

Indian River Community College offers a combination welding program on a full-time basis. In 1972 the program was reduced to part-time, but in 1973 it was again established on a full-time basis based on employment possibilities and student demand. Welding and sheet metal received 27 first choices of training programs.

There is considerable interest in machine shop according to figures in Table IV and Appendix D, with 35 students selecting this as their first choice. It should be noted that the interest at any one grade level may cause the development of such a program to be questionable. The cost of such a program may be a detriment to its feasibility. Table VIII indicates that there are good job opportunities for the machinist.

Plumbing is offered as an apprentice program at the Community College. At present it would not seem practical to change this structure, as a total of only 28 students selected plumbing as their first choice in all schools.

The Community College provides a teacher aide program and will expand as employment needs dictate to meet the employment need of the area. There were 161 first choice preferences for teacher aide.

Findings shown in Table IV show little interest in service station attendant and management, with only 14 first place choices. However, Table VIII shows good job opportunities.

Only one student listed appliance repair as a first choice, but

Table VIII lists electric appliance repair as having a strong demand

for workers. The last two references to student interest and job

opportunities may indicate a greater need for vocational counseling.

### Employment Demand

Vocational education is to be oriented to the world of work.

Without occupational experience and orientation to the world of work, one could question if we really have vocational education. We should not, therefore, educate and train for work if there are no employment possibilities.

TABLE VIII

OPPORTUNITIES FOR WORK IN AREAS OF FLORIDA WITHIN 55
MILES OF INDIAN RIVER COMMUNITY COLLEGE

	Demand Work			Demand Worke	
Type of Work	Strong	Good	Type of Work	Strong	Good
SKILLED AND SEMI-SKILLED			CLERICAL AND SALES		
Alteration, Tailor	x		Salesman, Driver		x
Automobile, Body Repairman	x		Secretary	х.	
Automobile, Service					
Station Attendant		x	PROFESSIONAL AND		
Baker		<b>x</b>	MANAGERIAL		
Brick & Block Laying			-		
(cement)	x ·		Draftsman,		
Carpenter & Cabinetmaker	x		Architectural	x	
Construction Workers	x		Nurse, Licensed		
Dry Wall Finisher &			Practical		x
Plasterer		x	Nurse, Registered		x
Duct Installer	x		Surveyor		x
Electric Appliance Service	<b>x</b> ,.		·		
Electricians	x		SERVICE OCCUPATIONS		
Factory Worker		x	,		
Furniture Finisher		x	Bus Boy		x
Harvest Hand, Citrus Fruit	<u> </u>		Chef, All Types		x
Heavy Equipment Operator		<b>x</b> ,	Cook		X
Industrial Truck Operator		<b>X</b> , ,	Cook, Short Order		x
Laborer	x		Counter Girl/Man,		
Machinist		x	Cafeteria	$\mathbf{x}$	
Mechanic, All Types	<b>X</b> .,		Dishwasher	x	
Mobile Home Repairman		<b>X</b>	Exterminator	•	X
Moldman, Fiberglass Layup		x	Janitor		$\mathbf{x}$
Office Machine, Serviceman		x	Kitchen Helper		x
Offset, Press Man		x	Meat Cutter		x
Painter		x	Orderly		x
Plumber	X ·		Porter		x
Printer		x	Waiter/Waitress		X
Radio Repairman		x	Yard Man		<b>X</b> ,,
Roofer	x				

Source: Florida Department of Commerce, Division of Employment Security, Bureau of Employment Services, Opportunities for Work in Principal Areas of Florida (Tallahassee, November, 1973--May, 1974).

Earlier in the study it was suggested that a carpentry program be added. This can further be justified by Table VIII; this table also documents the statement made earlier pertaining to emphasis for home economics and food services. Many of the high demand areas for employment are in the service occupation that could be interpreted as home economics related.

It has been suggested previously that greater emphasis should be placed on mechanics, including diesel and possible small engines at the Community College. A further justification of this need can be found in Table VIII. Mechanics of all types are in strong demand.

The previous statements pertaining to health occupations are partially documented by Table VIII, with many of the health occupations in good to strong demand.

Many of the occupations in Table VIII are not considered glamorous, and basically training programs have not been developed. Many of them would probably not require the normal 450 to 500 or 900 to 1,000 hour training programs. The possibility of a community needs assessment and development of short-term programs should be investigated. The Community College and other adult education programs could probably best meet these needs, unless the high schools were permitted to deviate from the Carnegie Unit of Credit or hours required to develop programs.

### High School Program Enrollment

Data shown in Table IX was compiled from the respondents' response to the statement: "I am enrolled in \_\_\_\_\_\_ program in high school,"

TABLE IX

TYPE OF PROGRAM IN HIGH SCHOOL INDICATED BY SENIOR HIGH SCHOOL STUDENTS
IN A FOUR-COUNTY AREA OF FLORIDA

							,	Distrib	oution b	y Grade	and S	ex			-			
		Grad	e 10			Grad	e 11			Grad	e 12	-		Tot	als		Total	l Male
	M	iale	Fe	male		fale	Fe	male	М	ale	Fe	male	Ma	ale	Fer	nale		emale
Type Program	Num- ber	Per- cent	Num- ber	Per-														
General	64	8.0	74	9.6	61	10.2	53	8.4	42	9.0	40	8.3	167	9.0	167	8.9	334	8.9
College Preparatory	78	9.8	125	16.3	94	15.7	119	18.8	90	19.3	81	16.8	262	14.0	325	17.3	587	15.7
Vocational	179	22.5	75	9.8	173	28.8	124	19.6	113	24.3	159	33.1	465	25.0	358	19.0	823	22.0
No or No Response	476	59.7	494	64.3	272	45.3	334	53.2	221	47.4	201	41.8	969	52.0	1029	54.8	1998	53.4
Total	797	100.0	768	100.0	600	100.0	630	100.0	466	100.0	481	100.0	1863	100.0	1881	100.0	3742	100.0

 $x^2$  = 22.5088 with df = 3. Significant at the .001 Level.

 ${
m HO}_2$  - There is no significant difference between male and female students' program selection in high school.  ${
m HO}_2$  was rejected. Chisquare ( ${
m X}^2$ ) on Table IX was significant at the .001 level. This data indicates that more females are in a college preparatory program, that more males are in vocational education programs, and, further, that more females are in no program in high school or fail to respond to the question on the questionniare.

More than one-half of the respondents in Table IX did not respond or indicated no program enrollment in high school. This may indicate an improper question on the questionnaire, a weakness in counseling, or a lack of communications as to what makes a program. Only 14 percent of the male and 17.3 percent of the female respondents indicated college preparatory; yet Appendix E, Table XV, indicates that about 50 percent of the public school graduates and an even higher percentage of the non-public school graduates entered college.

An encouraging aspect of the data in Table IX is that as students progressed in school the percentage indicating a definite program increased. This is true for both male and female at all grade levels.

Information presented in Appendix F is a further breakdown of Table IX by school, grade, and sex. The percentage of males and females in vocational programs was highest at the eleventh grade. The percentage of students at John Carroll in vocational education increases quite rapidly after the tenth grade. This can possibly be attributed to the fact that eleventh grade students can attend the Community College. There is a further indication that students may withdraw from vocational education in the twelfth grade. Further study should be made as to how well students pursue vocational education once they have started.

### Plans After High School

The respondents in the study were asked: "After high school I plan to \_\_\_\_\_" and given eight choices on the questionnaire. Table X shows the results of this question.

Figures in Table X reject  $\mathrm{HO}_3$  - There is no significant difference between male and female students' plans after high school. A significant difference was indicated at the .001 level on Chi-square ( $\mathrm{X}^2$ ) with 8 df, meaning there is a difference according to sex in plans after high school--females are more undecided.

The data presented in Table X indicate that 9.6 percent failed to respond to the question. Undecided was the next most popular choice with 24 percent. The figures indicate that 21.9 percent planned to enroll at a four-year college or university and 20.8 percent planned to enter the Community College. It should be noted that only 2.9 percent planned to receive no further training. Findings presented in Table XV in Appendix E, based on 1971 graduates, show that less than 60 percent of all students went on for further training after graduation from high school.

In looking at plans after high school, 24.5 percent of the females and 17.1 percent of the males planned to attend the Community College; yet 24.2 percent of the males and 19.5 percent of the females planned to attend a four-year college or university. This may indicate that females are a little less inclined to move away from home.

It should be noted that a higher percentage of females planned no further training and were undecided. This may account for some situations in employment referred to in Chapter II as to why females make less than males and why they do not achieve as high level jobs. There

TABLE X

PLANS AFTER HIGH SCHOOL OF SENIOR HIGH SCHOOL STUDENTS
IN A FOUR-COUNTY AREA OF FLORIDA

	· 					1	Distribu	ition b	y Grade	and S	ex						
	Grad	e 10			Grad	e 11			Grade	e 12			Tot	als		m - •	1 7-1-
	ale	Fe	male	M	ale	Fe	nale	M	ale	Fe	male	M	ale	Fe	male		I Male Female
Num- ber	Per- cent	Num- ber	Per- cent	Num- ber	Per- cent	Num- ber	Per- cent	Num- ber	Per-	Num- ber	Per- cent	Num- ber	Per- cent	Num- ber	Per- cent	Num- ber	Per- cent
						- <del></del>											
45	5.6	20	2.6	35	5.8	34	5.4	27	5.8	25	5.2	107	5.7	79	4.2	186	5.0
18	2.3	49	6.4	12	2.0	27	4.3	5	1.1	20	4.2	35	1.9	96	5.1	131	3.5
88	11.0	136	17.7	102	17.0	153	24.2	128	27.5	172	35.8	318	17.1	461	24.5	779	20.8
196	24.6	159	20.7	139	23.2	126	19.9	117	25.1	82	17.0	452	24.2	367	19.5	819	21.9
78	9.8	. 17	2.2	51	8.5	20	3.2	29	6.2	3	0.6	158	8.5	40	2.1	198	5.3
75	9.4	31	4.0	55	9.2	24	3.8	47	10.0	29	6.0	177	9.5	84	4.5	261	7.0
14	1.8	20	2.6	12	2.0	18	2.8	11:	2.4	33	6.9	37	2.0	71	3.8	108	2.9
190	23.8	250	32.6	126	21.0	180	28.5	60	12.9	94	19.5	376	20.2	524	27.9	900	24.0
93	11.7	86	11.2	68	11.3	48	7.9	42	9.0	23	4.8	203	10.9	159	8.4	360	9.5
797	100.0	768	100.0	600	100.0	630	100.0	466	100.0	481	100.0	1863	100.0	1881	100.0	3742	100.0
	Number  45 18 88 196 78 75 14 190 93	Male  Number Perber cent  45 5.6  18 2.3  88 11.0  196 24.6  78 9.8  75 9.4  14 1.8  190 23.8  93 11.7	Number         Percent         Number           45         5.6         20           18         2.3         49           88         11.0         136           196         24.6         159           78         9.8         17           75         9.4         31           14         1.8         20           190         23.8         250           93         11.7         86	Male         Female           Number         Perber         Number         Perber           45         5.6         20         2.6           18         2.3         49         6.4           88         11.0         136         17.7           196         24.6         159         20.7           78         9.8         17         2.2           75         9.4         31         4.0           14         1.8         20         2.6           190         23.8         250         32.6           93         11.7         86         11.2	Male         Female         M           Number         Percent         Number         Perber         Number           45         5.6         20         2.6         35           18         2.3         49         6.4         12           88         11.0         136         17.7         102           196         24.6         159         20.7         139           78         9.8         17         2.2         51           75         9.4         31         4.0         55           14         1.8         20         2.6         12           190         23.8         250         32.6         126           93         11.7         86         11.2         68	Male         Female         Male           Num-ber         Per-ber         Num-ber         Per-ber           45         5.6         20         2.6         35         5.8           18         2.3         49         6.4         12         2.0           88         11.0         136         17.7         102         17.0           196         24.6         159         20.7         139         23.2           78         9.8         17         2.2         51         8.5           75         9.4         31         4.0         55         9.2           14         1.8         20         2.6         12         2.0           190         23.8         250         32.6         126         21.0           93         11.7         86         11.2         68         11.3	Grade 10         Grade 11           Male         Female         Male         Ferbale           Num- Perber cent         Num- Perber cent         Num- Perber cent         Num- Perber cent           45         5.6         20         2.6         35         5.8         34           18         2.3         49         6.4         12         2.0         27           88         11.0         136         17.7         102         17.0         153           196         24.6         159         20.7         139         23.2         126           78         9.8         17         2.2         51         8.5         20           75         9.4         31         4.0         55         9.2         24           14         1.8         20         2.6         12         2.0         18           190         23.8         250         32.6         126         21.0         180           93         11.7         86         11.2         68         11.3         48	Grade 10         Grade 11           Male         Female         Male         Female           Num- Perber         Num- Perber         Num- Perber         Num- Perber           45         5.6         20         2.6         35         5.8         34         5.4           18         2.3         49         6.4         12         2.0         27         4.3           88         11.0         136         17.7         102         17.0         153         24.2           196         24.6         159         20.7         139         23.2         126         19.9           78         9.8         17         2.2         51         8.5         20         3.2           75         9.4         31         4.0         55         9.2         24         3.8           14         1.8         20         2.6         12         2.0         18         2.8           190         23.8         250         32.6         126         21.0         180         28.5           93         11.7         86         11.2         68         11.3         48         7.9	Grade 10         Grade 11           Male         Female         Male         Female         Male           Num-Per-Der Cent         Num-Per-Der Cent         Num-Per-Der Cent         Num-Per-Der Cent         Num-Per-Der Cent         Num-Der Cent         Num-Per-Der Cent         Num-Per-Der Cent         Num-Der Cent         Num-Per-Der Cent         P	Grade 10         Grade 11         Grade 11         Grade 11         Grade Male           Male         Female         Male           Num-Per-ber         Num-Per-ber         Num-Per-ber         Num-Per-ber         Num-Per-ber         Num-Per-ber         Num-Per-ber         Per-ber         Num-Per-ber <td>Grade 10         Grade 11         Grade 12           Male         Female         Male         Female         Male         Female           Num- Per- ber cent         Num- Per- ber cent         Num- Per- ber cent         Num- Per- ber cent         Num- ber cent         Per- bur cent         Num- ber cent         Per- bur cent         Num- ber cent         Per- ber cent         Num- ber cent         Per- bur cent         Num- ber cent         Per- cent         Num- ber cent         Per- bur cent         Num- ber cent         Per- bur cent         Num- ber cent         Per- bur cen</td> <td>Male         Female         Male         Female         Male         Female         Male         Female           Num- Perber cent         Num- Perber cent<!--</td--><td>Grade 10         Grade 11         Grade 12           Male         Female         Male         Female         Male         Female         Male         Female         M           Num-ber         Per-ber         Num-ber</td><td>Grade 10         Grade 11         Grade 12         Tot           Male         Female         Male         Female         Male         Female         Male         Mal</td><td>Grade 10         Grade 11         Crade 12         Totals           Male         Female         Male         Perhombor         Number ber         Female         Male         Perhombor         Number ber         Female         Male         Female         Male         Perhombor         Number ber         Female         Male         Perhombor         Number ber         Perhombor         Perhombor</td><td>Grade 10         Grade 11         Grade 12         Totals           Male         Female         Num- Per- ber cent         Num- Per- ber</td><td>Grade 10         Grade 11         Grade 12         Totals         Male         Female         Male         Female         Male         Female         Male         Female         Male         Female         Male         Female         Num- Per- Num- Per- Num- Per- Num- ber cent         Num- Per- Num- Per- Der Cent         Num- Der Cent         Der Cent         Num- Per- Der Cent         Num- Der Cent         Num- Der Cent         Num- Der Cent         Der Cent         Num- Der</td></td>	Grade 10         Grade 11         Grade 12           Male         Female         Male         Female         Male         Female           Num- Per- ber cent         Num- Per- ber cent         Num- Per- ber cent         Num- Per- ber cent         Num- ber cent         Per- bur cent         Num- ber cent         Per- bur cent         Num- ber cent         Per- ber cent         Num- ber cent         Per- bur cent         Num- ber cent         Per- cent         Num- ber cent         Per- bur cent         Num- ber cent         Per- bur cent         Num- ber cent         Per- bur cen	Male         Female         Male         Female         Male         Female         Male         Female           Num- Perber cent         Num- Perber cent </td <td>Grade 10         Grade 11         Grade 12           Male         Female         Male         Female         Male         Female         Male         Female         M           Num-ber         Per-ber         Num-ber</td> <td>Grade 10         Grade 11         Grade 12         Tot           Male         Female         Male         Female         Male         Female         Male         Mal</td> <td>Grade 10         Grade 11         Crade 12         Totals           Male         Female         Male         Perhombor         Number ber         Female         Male         Perhombor         Number ber         Female         Male         Female         Male         Perhombor         Number ber         Female         Male         Perhombor         Number ber         Perhombor         Perhombor</td> <td>Grade 10         Grade 11         Grade 12         Totals           Male         Female         Num- Per- ber cent         Num- Per- ber</td> <td>Grade 10         Grade 11         Grade 12         Totals         Male         Female         Male         Female         Male         Female         Male         Female         Male         Female         Male         Female         Num- Per- Num- Per- Num- Per- Num- ber cent         Num- Per- Num- Per- Der Cent         Num- Der Cent         Der Cent         Num- Per- Der Cent         Num- Der Cent         Num- Der Cent         Num- Der Cent         Der Cent         Num- Der</td>	Grade 10         Grade 11         Grade 12           Male         Female         Male         Female         Male         Female         Male         Female         M           Num-ber         Per-ber         Num-ber	Grade 10         Grade 11         Grade 12         Tot           Male         Female         Male         Female         Male         Female         Male         Mal	Grade 10         Grade 11         Crade 12         Totals           Male         Female         Male         Perhombor         Number ber         Female         Male         Perhombor         Number ber         Female         Male         Female         Male         Perhombor         Number ber         Female         Male         Perhombor         Number ber         Perhombor         Perhombor	Grade 10         Grade 11         Grade 12         Totals           Male         Female         Num- Per- ber cent         Num- Per- ber	Grade 10         Grade 11         Grade 12         Totals         Male         Female         Male         Female         Male         Female         Male         Female         Male         Female         Male         Female         Num- Per- Num- Per- Num- Per- Num- ber cent         Num- Per- Num- Per- Der Cent         Num- Der Cent         Der Cent         Num- Per- Der Cent         Num- Der Cent         Num- Der Cent         Num- Der Cent         Der Cent         Num- Der

 $x^2$  = 211.4607 with df = 8. Significant at the .001 level.

are possible implications for the need of more vocational counseling among females. This need can be verified in the literature on female studies.

The findings shown in Table X indicate that as students progress in school there are less "no responses" and less "undecided." The plans, however, do not vary a great deal. This may indicate that once the students have considered plans after high school they stick to them.

The response to Table X, based on student plans, is in quite close agreement to Table XVI in Appendix E as to the percentage of students entering further training in 1971. This may be a good indication that the students not responding, and being undecided, will in fact not go on for further training.

Statistics presented in Table XVI in Appendix E show that only a small percent of the adult population even has a high school diploma--27.2 percent for Okeechobee and the high of 43.0 percent for Indian River County. The importance of completing high school should probably be stressed in the area. This information should be a guide to the Community College for its adult high school and continuing education programs.

Figures presented in Table X show that 51.1 percent of the students plan to go to the vocational-technical school, business school,

Community College, or a four-year college or university. Indian River

Community College, being an area vocational-technical school and having a business department, can possibly expect to at sometime enroll many of these students for at least a part of their program.

Data presented in Appendix G is a breakdown of students by grade, school, and sex as to plans after high school. Personnel at the

Community College and the local school can use this as a guide to further counseling and possible recruitment.

The figures in Appendix G would indicate that the Community College should attempt to recruit students as early as grades ten and eleven.

By grade twelve the respondents are showing greater interest in the Community College. This appendix would indicate that continued and possibly expanded apprenticeship programs would be advisable.

## Comparisons of Anticipated Vocations With Plans After High School

In preparing this study, occupations were clustered into 19 categories. To determine the categories a combination of materials were studied. It seems that there is not uniformity of occupational classification. The United States Office of Education, Ohio Vocational Interest Survey List, and census categories were used. As nearly as possible throughout this study, the occupational or vocational classifications are consistent. Some seem to be occupational classifications while others seem to be occupational levels. In developing further studies it would seem practical to give a specific choice, rather than asking a simple question: "What is the occupation of your parent or guardian?" or "After high school and military or further training, the vocation I hope to enter is:". This would eliminate a judgment situation on the part of persons compiling data.

Findings presented in Table XI are a comparison of respondents' first choice of a vocation as compared to plans after high school. Plans after high school were compared to vocational choice based on a reasonable chance of employment without further training after high school.

TABLE XI

COMPARISON OF STUDENTS' PLANS WITH THEIR FIRST CHOICE OF A VOCATION

										Dis	tribu	tion by	Grade	and	Sex									
			Grad	e 10	,				Grad	e 11					Grad	e 12		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·						
		Male			Pemale			Male			emale			Male		1	Pemale		To	otal M	lale	To	tal Fe	male
	Vocational Choice	After H.S. Plans	Percent Agreement	Vocational	After H.S. Plans	Percent Agreement	Vocational Choice	After H.S. Plans	Percent Agreement	Choice	After H.S. Plans	Percent Agreement	Choice	After H.S. Plans	Percent Agreement									
	No.	No.	z	No.	No.	x	No.	No.	z	No.	No.	I	No.	No.	z	No.	No.	z	No.	No.	Z	No.	No.	Z
Hospitality & Recreation	50	50	100.0	17	17	100.0	28	28	100.0	11	11	100.0	15	15	100.0	9	. 9	100.0	93	93	100.0	37	37	100.0
Business & Office	32	27	84.4	140	72	51.4	32	25	78.1	105	54	51.4	35	33	94.3	105	65	61.9	99	85	85.9	350	191	54.6
Marketing & Distribution	24	14	58.3	24	13	54.2	16	9	56.3	16	11	68.8	5	5	100.0	27	19	70.4	45	28	62.2	67	43	64.2
Public Service	60	60	100.0	37	.37	100.0	24	24	100.0	22	22	100.0	25	25	100.0	17	17	100.0	109	109	100.0	76	76	100.0
Manufacturing	- 21	13	61.9				19	14	73.7				7	6	85.7				47	33	70.2			
Environmental Control	10	8	80.0										2	. 2	100.0				12	10	83.3			
Fine Arts & Humanities	14	9	64.3	25	16	64.0	17	7	41.2	20	8	40.0	14	7	50.0	14	9	64.3	45	23	51.1	59	33	55.9
Agriculture & Natural Resources	59	59	100.0	26	26	100.0	42	42	100.0	17	17	100.0	37	37	100.0	18	18	100.0	138	138	100.0	61	61	100.0
Health Occupations	43	31	72.1	138	88	63.8	32	25	78.1	132	94	71.2	33	29	87.9	71	62	87.3	108	85	78.7	341	244	71.6
Personal Service	4	0	0.0	25	8	32.0				18	9	50.0	2	0	0.0	9	7	77.8	6	0	0.0	52	24	46.2
Communications & Media Occupations	18	16	88.9	15	9	60.0	17	11	64.7	17	11	64.7	17	9	52.9	10	8	80.0	52	36	69.2	42	28	66.7
Transportation	21	21	100.0	28	28	100.0	22	22	100.0	23	23	100.0	12	12	100.0	7	7	100.0	55	55	100.0	58	58	100.0
Marine Science	24	17	70.8	6	4	66.7	12	9	75.0	4	4	100.0	8	4	50.0	5	4	80.0	44	30	68.2	15	12	80.0
Consumer & Homemaking	14	14	100.0	93	93	100.0	6	6	100.0	63	63	100.0	5	5	100.0	39	39	100.0	25	25	100.0	195	195	100.0
Self-Employed	0			0						1	1	100.0	1	1	100.0				1	1	100.0	1	1	100.0
Unemployed or None	133	133	100.0	114	114	100.0	110	110	100.0	107	107	100.0	100	100	100.0	91	91	100.0	343	343	100.0	312	312	100.0
Retired	0			0												1	0	0.0				1	0	0.0
Craftsman	194	108	55.7	7	3	42.9	159	86	54.1	2	0	0.0	99	68	68.7	6	4	66.7	452	262	58.0	15	7	46.7
Professional	69	47	68.1	70	53	75.7	62	46	74.2	68	53	77.9	47	38	80.9	52	50	96.2	178	131	76.6	1 <b>9</b> 0	156	82.1
No Response	2	2	100.0	1	. 1	100.0	2	2	,100.0	4	4	100.0	1	1	100.0				5	5	100.0	5	5	100.0
Total	792	629	79.4	766	582	76.0	600	466	77.7	630	492	78.2	465	397	85.4	481	409	85.0	1857	1492	80.3	1877	1483	79.0

The vocations showing 100 percent agreement as to choice in Table XI are those where employment could be reasonably expected without further training after high school, these being hospitality and recreation, public services, agriculture, transportation, homemaking, unemployed, and no response.

Data presented in Table XI indicates a close agreement between the first choice of a vocation and plans after high school for both male and female students in the following areas: marketing and distribution, 62.2 percent agreement for males and 64.2 percent for females; fine arts and humanities, males 51.1 percent agreement to 55.9 percent agreement for females; health occupations, male 78.7 percent agreement to 71.6 percent agreement for females; communications and media occupations, 69.2 percent agreement for males and 69.2 percent for females; and professional, 76.6 percent agreement for males and 82.1 percent agreement for females. In considering all occupations, between the first choice of a vocation and plans after high school, there is an 80.3 percent agreement for males and 79.0 percent for females, which is really quite close.

It should be noted, however, that in the following occupations there is considerable difference between male and female students as to agreement between plans after high school and the first choice of a vocation: In business and office occupations males have an 85.9 percent agreement to only 54.6 percent agreement for females; personal service has 0.0 percent agreement for males and 46.2 percent agreement for females; marine sciences, 68.2 percent for males and 80.0 percent for females; and craftsman, 58.0 percent for males and 46.7 percent for females.

The 2,977 respondents in Table XI indicated that 80.3 percent of the 1,857 males had agreement as to plans after high school when compared to aspired vocation, while 79 percent of the 1,879 females had agreement. The combined total of the 3,742 respondents indicated 79.6 percent of their plans after high school were in agreement to plans for a vocation. The agreement of plans is noticeably higher at grade twelve than at any other grade level.

Vocational Education Preferences as

Compared to Actual Employment

Comparing vocational education preferences in Table IV to the occupational data from the 1970 census in Table XII is quite difficult. The problem arises as to where the census statistics have placed the 38 vocational education areas on the questionnaire.

No attempt will be made to compare respondents' vocational education choices to all occupations in Table XII.

It should be noted, however, that slightly over 1 percent of the respondents selected distributive occupations; yet 6.8 percent in Table XII are employed as sales workers.

In combining the choices of general clerical or recording and secretarial sciences in Table IV, this represents about 8.5 percent; yet in Table XII clerical and kindred workers account for 13.2 percent.

Machine shop, auto body fender repair, electrical trades, brick and block laying, plumbing, heating, refrigeration and air conditioning, auto mechanics, welding, carpentry, mechanics, and radio-television repair account for about 22 percent of the vocational education preferences; yet Table XII shows that craftsmen account for but 15.5 percent of those employed.

TABLE XII

SUMMARY OF SOCIAL AND OCCUPATIONAL DATA FROM THE 1970

CENSUS OF THE FOUR-COUNTY AREA BY COUNTIES

	D	istribut	ion by Co	ounty		
		Saint	Indian			
Item	Martin	Lucie	River	0keechobee	Total	
SOCIAL DATA	<del>3</del>				•	7
Population Total Employed	28,035	50,836	<b>35,99</b> 2	11,233	126,096	
16 & Over	8,932	18,390	12,466	3,789	43,577	
% Less Than					State	
Poverty	15.7%	20.7%	15.3%	17.7%	12.7%	
% Persons in						
School Age					State	
14 to 17 Years	93.3%	88.0%	90.8%	57.3%	90.6%	
		<del> </del>				Percent
EMPLOYMENT DATA						of Total
Professional,						
Technical &						
Kindred	894	1,853	1,568	281	4,596	10.0
Manager &						
Administration						
Excluding Farm	799	1,633	1,014	335	3,781	8.7
Sales Workers	541	1,465	808	134	2,948	6.8
Clerical &		•				•
Kindred Workers	1,233	2,354	1,779	387	5,753	13.2
Craftsman,						
Foreman, &						
Kindred Workers	1,519	2,525	2,173	537	6 <b>,</b> 754	15.5
Operatives,						
Except Transpor	t 661	1,639	1,092	168	<b>3,</b> 560	8.2
Transport Equip.						•
Operative	276	710	363	164	1,513	3.5
Laborers, Non-Far	m 628	1,259	699	279	2,865	6.6
Farmers & Farm						
Manager	123	201	199	121	644	1.5
Farm Laborers &						
Foreman	841	2,401	792	820	4 <b>,</b> 854	11.1
Service Workers,						
Not Household		1,935	1,457	497	4,856	11.1
Private Household				•		
Workers	450	415	522	66	1,453	3.3
Total	8,932	18,390	12,466	3,789	43,577	100.0
	9,592	,	, , , , ,	0,,00	,.,,	200.0

Source: United States Bureau of the Census, Occupation and Earnings for Counties, Florida (Washington, 1971).

Agriculture accounts for 12.6 percent of those employed in Table XII; yet the respondents' choice in this field accounts for only 4.1 percent.

Findings presented in Table XII indicate that less than one-third of the people in the four-county area are employed. It further indicates that 15 to 20 percent of the population lives at less than poverty level. In one county only 57.3 percent of the persons 14 to 17 years of age are in school.

For the most part, the educational program preference indicated by the respondents does not compare very closely with actual employment.

Again, a better job of counseling in the schools may be indicated.

# Vocational Preference of Respondents and Occupation of Parents

The respondents were asked, "After high school and military or further training, the vocation I hope to enter is: \_\_\_\_\_ " and were provided a list for three choices. The first choice is the basis for Table XIII as compared to the occupation of parent. These choices were categorized into the 19 areas as previously explained. It is disturbing to note that the most popular choice was unemployed or none, and accounts for 17.5 percent of the students' first choices, while 9.4 percent of the parents were unemployed and another 3.6 percent were retired. Data presented in Appendix E, Tables XVIII through XXIII, show that 19.7 percent to 22.3 percent of the families in the four-county area have incomes under \$3,000. This employment pattern with interest in unemployment probably helps to account for the high percentage of low incomes.

TABLE XIII

COMPARISON OCCUPATION OF PARENTS AND FIRST CHOICE OF A VOCATION OF SENIOR HIGH SCHOOL STUDENTS IN A FOUR-COUNTY AREA OF FLORIDA

			Gra	de 10					Gra	ade 11					Gra	de 12						
	_	Stud	lent					St	udeni	:				St	udent				Compa		of Com	bined
	Ma	le	Fer	ale	Pat	rent	M	ale	Fer	nale	Pare	ent	Ma	ale	Fen	ale	Par	rent	Stude			ents
Vocational Areas	No.	ž	No.	7.	No.	z	No.	z	No.	z	No.	2	No.	z	No.	ž	No.	2	No.	z	No.	z
Hospitality & Recreation	50	6.3	17	2.2	19	1.2	28	4.7	11	1.7	10	0.8	15	3.2	9	1.9	8	0.8	130	3.5	37	1.0
Business & Office	32	4.0	140	18.3	131	: 8.4	32	5.3	105	16.6	97	7.9	35	7.5	105	21.8	58	6.1	449	12.0	286	7.7
Marketing & Distribution	24	3.0	24	3.1	154	9.9	16	2.7	. 16	2.5	122	9.9	5	1.1	27	5.6	99	10.5	112	3.0	375	10.0
Public Service	60	7.6	37	4.8	85	5.4	24	4.0	22	3.5	60	4.9	. 25	5.4	17	3.5	48	5.1	185	4.9	193	5.2
Manufacturing	21	2.6			132	8.5	19	3.2			92	7.5	7	1.5			74	7.8	47	1.3	298	8.0
Environmental Control	10	1.3			23	1.5			•		21	1.7	· 2	0.4			13	1.4	12	0.3	57	1.5
Fine Arts & Humanities	14	1.8	25	3.3	1	0.1	17	2.8	20	3.2	5	0.4	14	3,0	14	2.9	3	0.3	104	2.8	9	0.2
Agriculture & Natural Resources	59	7.5	26	3.4	162	10.4	42	7.0	17	2.7	· 173	14.0	37	8.0	18	3.7	111	11.7	199	5.3	446	11.9
Health Occupations	43	5.4	138	18.0	46	2.9	32	5.3	132	20.9	59	4.8	33	7.1	71	14.8	29	3.1	449	12.2	134	3.6
Personal Service	4	0.5	25	3.3	35	2.2			18	2.9	29	2.3	2.	0-4	. 9	1.9	23	2.4	58	1.6	87	2.3
Communications & Media Occupations	18	2.3	15	2.0	43	2.8	17	2.8	17	2.7	33	2.7	17	3.7	10	2.1	22	2.3	94	2.5	98	2.6
Transportation	21	2.6	28	3.7	87	5.6	22	3.7	23	3.6	63	5.1	12	2.6	7	1.5	65	6.9	113	3.0	215	5.7
Marine Science	24	3.0	6	0.8	12	0.8	12	2.0	4	0.6	7	0.6	8	1.7	5	1.0	7	0.7	59	1.6	26	0.7
Consumer & Homemaking	14	1.8	93	12.1	134	8.6	6	1.0	63	10.0	68	5.5	5	1.1	39	8.1	63	6.7	220	5.9	265	7.1
Self-Employed					22	1.4		••	1	0.2	23	1.9	1	0.2			18	1.9	2	0.1	63	1.7
Unemployed or None	133	16.8	114	14.9	157	10.1	110	18.3	107	16.9	108	8.8	100	21.5	91	18.9	85	9-0	655	17.5	350	9.4
Retired					49	3.1					40	3.2			1	0.2	45	4.8	1		134	3.6
Crafisman	194	24.5	7	0.9	173	11.1	159	26.5	2	0.3	131	10.6	99	21.3	6	1.3	105	11.1	467	12.5	409	11.0
Professional	69	8.7	70	9.1	93	6.0	62	10.4	68	10.8	90	7.3	47	10.1	52	10.8	68	7.2	368	9.9	251	6.7
lo Response	2	0.3	1	0.1			2	0.3	6	0.9	1	0.1	1	0.2			2	0.2	12	0.3	. 3	0.1
Totals	792	100.0	766	100.0	1,558	100.0	600	100.0	632	100.0	1,232	100.0	465	100.0	481	100.0	946	100.0	3,736	100.0	3,736	100.0

Health occupations account for 12.2 percent of the students' first choices; yet only 3.6 percent of the parents are employed in health occupations.

Figures presented in Table XIII indicate that 12.0 percent of the students selected business and office occupations as first choice; yet only 7.7 percent of the parents were employed in business and office occupations. Ten percent of the parents were employed in marketing and distribution, and 3.0 percent of the students selected this occupation.

Again, in studying Table XIII, as was true in Table XII, there is strong indication that students are less than realistic as to vocational aspirations. It appears that the glamorous occupations and training areas are what students select. Analysis of Appendix H would indicate that the second and third preferences of vocations are no more realistic. Apparently, many respondents will either not be trained and employed in the area of their first preference or they will change their aspirations. It appears again that the career education concept of greater exposure and counseling to the world of work will be practical. Instruction directed toward familiarization with the world of work may be helpful.

Dr. Byrl Shoemaker, State Director of Vocational Education in Ohio, at a teacher educators' workshop at Oklahoma State University stated that more and more educators were expected to orient instruction aimed to potential use in employment.

Education aimed to develop career awareness, career orientation, and career exploration are essential. Counseling should be improved to enable a greater awareness of the world of work. The doors of the school should probably be opened and let students see employment.

Business in the community should be a part of the curricula of the school.

Data presented in Appendix I tends to imply that students in high school do not have a high impression of their parents' occupations.

In analyzing the number of students selecting their first choice of a vocation the same as their parents, as few as 4.0 percent selected the same as the parent to a maximum of 25.3 percent. The second and third choices do not improve the percentage.

It is interesting to note, however, that in agriculture and natural resources occupations there is the greatest percentage of students selecting the same occupation as the parent.

### Summary

Female students have a greater desire for vocational education, with 77.8 percent, as compared to 74.7 percent of the males, desiring vocational education. Male students have a greater variation in vocational education preferences than do females. A greater percentage of females—17.3 percent compared to 14 percent—were in college preparatory programs, while 25 percent of the males, compared to 19 percent of the females, were in vocational programs while in high school. A greater percentage of the females were in no program or failed to respond—54.8 percent, compared to 52 percent.

For the most part, the respondents have a wide range of vocational education preferences. More than half of the respondents indicated they were enrolled in no program in high school or gave no response. About 42 percent of the respondents planned to attend a community college or a four-year college or university. About 80 percent of the students'

plans after high school were in agreement with their vocational aspirations.

The respondents were not in close agreement as to vocational education preferences and vocational aspirations when compared to employment demands of the area, occupation of parents, or census data as to present employment in the area.

The following three hypotheses were rejected at the .05 level according to Chi-square  $(X^2)$ :

 ${
m HO}_1$  - There is no significant difference between male and female students' desire for vocational education.--Females have a greater desire for vocational education than do males.

HO<sub>2</sub> - There is no significant difference between male and female students' program selection in high school.—Females are less definite as to selection of a program while in high school.

HO<sub>3</sub> - There is no significant difference between male and female students' plans after high school.--Males are more definite as to plans after high school than are females.

## CHAPTER V

## SUMMARY, CONCLUSIONS, AND RECOMMENDATIONS

An attempt has been made in this chapter to summarize the entire study, to present pertinent conclusions, to make appropriate recommendations for vocational-technical course planning, specifically as to the schools represented in the study, and to suggest the need for further studies in this area.

## Purpose of the Study

The purpose of this study is to determine the vocational education preferences of the senior high school students within a four-county area of Florida. An analysis of senior high school students' vocational education preferences, this in line with the vocational curricula presently being offered in the four counties and at the Community College, was made. These expressed vocational education preferences were also compared with available employment information specific to the area, including reference to 1970 census data. In addition, the data were evaluated to determine differences in responses which might be ascribed to the sex of the respondent.

#### The Population

The questionnaire was administered on a date selected as most convenient for the respective schools to all senior high school students in attendance in the four counties. This was accomplished in all schools within a two-week period. This population was chosen because all four counties are served by Indian River Community College. The college serves as the area vocational school. This being an initial study, it seemed wise to survey an entire population.

## Procedure Used in the Study

Due to the status of the investigator as a faculty member of the college, an initial contact was made to the Associate Dean of Instruction at Indian River Community College as to his assessment of the need for and value of the study. The next contact was with the President of Indian River Community College to determine if a similar study had been made and if the college administration would be in favor of and possibly support such a study. There was a negative reply to the question of knowledge of previous studies and an affirmative reply indicating that the college favored such a study. The study was then further developed to the point it was considered appropriate to present it to the vocational-technical directors and principals of the four counties. Questionnaires were then given to the principal or his designated representative in the local schools; they were distributed in the homeroom or English classes to be returned at a later time on a voluntary basis.

An initial questionnaire was prepared using the Ohio Vocational Interest Survey and a previous questionnaire used by Swingle (2) as a guide. It was then studied and evaluated by members of the Vocational Department teaching staff at Indian River Community College. Recommended changes were made. At this point the chairmen of the Technical

Department and Municipal Service Department of Indian River Community

College read the questionnaire and made suggestions. The Associate Dean

of Instruction, formerly Director of Vocational Education at Indian

River Community College, made additional recommendations for certain

minor changes of content.

Copies were printed and high school students in the auto mechanics program at the Community College read the questionnaire to determine if it was understandable to high school students. The questionnaire was deemed satisfactory.

At this time all Vocational Technical Directors and school principals in the four-county area were invited to the college for a luncheon with the college administration, chairman of the Vocational Department, and chairman of the Technical Department. The stated purposes of the study, as well as the questionnaire, were reviewed. As a result, one question was removed from the questionnaire; and it was then deemed satisfactory to administer to the entire population of the study.

All schools in the four-county area agreed to cooperate with the study. The questionnaires were delivered to the schools and administered during a two-week period in May, 1973.

## Objectives of the Study

In attempting to fulfill purposes and identify possible solutions to problems inherent in the study, it was deemed appropriate to direct efforts toward the following objectives:

1. To determine the desire of these students for vocational education in high school and/or at the Community College.

- 2. To determine the vocational education preferences of the senior high school students in the designated four-county area.
- 3. To analyze the respondents' stated vocational education preferences with respect to vocational curricula presently being offered in the four-county area.
- 4. To identify the more common program patterns in which students are enrolled while in high school.
- 5. To determine students' plans after high school.
- 6. To relate the stated vocational education preferences with present employment patterns as determined by the 1970 census.
- 7. To compare the respondents' stated vocational preferences with their present plans for pursuing further study and/or employment after high school.
- 8. To identify and assess employment opportunities in the surrounding area of Florida.
- 9. To compare the students' stated vocational preferences with the vocations of their parents.
- 10. To assess student responses in terms of academic achievement in high school and sex.

#### Summary

The data presented in Table XIV were prepared to supply an easy way to point out findings of the study.

It was found that 76.3 percent of the respondents desired vocational education. A greater percentage of the females, 77.8 percent, desired vocational education than did males, 74.7 percent.

TABLE XIV

SUMMARY OF DATA PRESENTED IN THE STUDY

CLASSIFIED BY SEX

	D	istributi	on by S	ex		
	M	ale	Fe	male	То	tal
Specific Item	Number	Percent	Number	Percent	Number	Percent
Desire for Vocational		<del></del>	<del></del>		<del>· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · </del>	Thur.
Education	1,391	74.7	1,461	77.8	2,852	76.3
Top Eight Vocational Education Preferences						
Secretarial Science	0 .	0.0	215	12.2	215	6.3
Teacher Aide	19	1.2	142	8.0		4.7
Auto Mechanics	155		4	0.2	159	4.7
Child Care		0.4	149	8.4	156	4.6
Carpentry	92	5.0	38	2.2	130	3.8
Registered Nursing	2	0.1		6.8	122	3.6
Commercial Art	35	2.1	57	3.2	92	2.7
Radio TV & Electronics	89	4.9	2	0.1	91	2.7
Total	409	23.1	727	41.1	1,126	33.1
Program in High School						
General	167	9.0	167	8.9	334	8.9
College Preparatory	262	14.0	325	17.3	587	15.7
Vocational	465	25.0	358	19.0	823	22.0
No or No Response	969	52.0	1,031	54.8	2,000	53.4
Plans After High School Vocational or				,		
Technical School	107	5.7	79	4.2	186	5.0
Business School	35	1.9	96	5.1	131	3.5
Community College	318	17.1	461	24.5	779	20.8
Four-Year College or		04.0	067	10 5	010	01.0
University	452	24.2	367	19.5	819	21.9
Military Service	158	8.5	40	2.1	198	5.3
Apprenticeship or	1 77	0.5	0.7	, -	0.61	7.0
On-Job Training	177	9.5	84	4.5		
No Further Training	37	2.0 20.2	71 524	3.8 27.9	108 900	2.9
Undecided No Response	376 203	10.9	524 159	8.4	362	24.0 9.6
- ·	200	10.7		<b>0.</b> 7 ,	J 0, 4	7.0
Plans After High School						
in Agreement to Voca- tional Preference	1 - /-0.0	80.3	1,485	79.0	2 077	79.6
crough treference	1,492	ບຕູ້•ວ	1,400	13.0	2,977	13.0
						4

Males had a wider range of program preferences, with only 23.1 percent of the choices being in the top eight preferences, while 41.1 percent of the female choices were in the top eight programs.

A greater percentage of male respondents were enrolled in vocational education--25 percent--than females, with 19 percent, while in high school.

A greater percentage, 27.9 percent of the females, were undecided as to plans after high school, while only 20.2 percent of the males were undecided.

There is very little difference between male and female students' first choice of vocational preference as to agreement to plans after high school, with 80.3 percent agreement for males and 79.0 percent agreement for females.

#### Conclusions

The following conclusions are presented based on findings of the study.

- 1. More than three-fourths of the respondents definitely indicated a desire to enroll in vocational education.
- 2. Four hundred thirty-eight students, or approximately 12 percent of the respondents, specified training choices other than the 38 listed on the questionnaire. Agri-business and natural resources occupations accounted for the greater percentage of these. Expressed preferences for training in professional and transportation occupations were apparently the two next most popular. Appendix C provides greater detail.
  - 3. Female respondents indicated secretarial science as the most

popular vocational education choice among 38 occupations listed, followed by child care and, third, teacher aide.

- 4. Among male respondents, auto mechanics is apparently the most popular vocational educational choice of students, followed by carpentry with radio-television repair as third, this among 38 listed occupations.
- 5. Schools within the four-county area present a wide selection of choices in vocational-technical education programs.
- 6. A continuation of most programs presently being offered can be expected, based on expressed interests of respondents.
- 7. Expansion of programs in health occupations should be accomplished, based upon the high level of expressed interest shown by respondents.
- 8. The Community College and the four-year institutions can be expected to continue enrollment of somewhat over 40 percent of the graduating high school seniors, this as reflected by student responses to the questionnaire.
- 9. Further, it can be anticipated that business schools and vocational technical schools will likely account for up to 8.5 percent of students enrolling for vocational training.
- 10. Planned programs should be developed and implemented to encourage students to stay in high school until graduation. (See Table XV, Appendix E.)
- 11. There is ample evidence that encouragement should be given parents, teachers, and other influentials to exert an influence on students to develop an attitude that it is not good to be unemployed or under-employed.

12. The parents' occupation is not a very reliable indicator of student interest in a like occupational area.

#### Recommendations

While the recommendations given in this study are primarily based on findings of the study, the author would acknowledge that some are also somewhat prompted on the basis of his 18 years of experience as a teacher of vocational agriculture and secondary school principal. These recommendations include the following:

- 1. A major effort should be launched directed toward greater emphasis in the counseling of students, particularly pertaining to vocations and occupational choice.
- 2. Particular attention should be given to the counseling of female students, this pertaining to all occupations.
- 3. The Community College should initiate a concentrated effort to provide vocational counseling to schools of the area on a systematic and well-planned basis.
- 4. Administrators and teachers should lend their efforts toward developing a closer working relationship between all schools in the four-county area.
- 5. In all planning efforts to attract students to vocational training programs, care should be taken to avoid any implied social and/or racial prejudice.
- 6. Immediate attention should be given to developing and implementing an employment counseling program for the four-county area.
- 7. All educational institutions should join together to make periodic surveys of students' occupational education interests annually.

with biannual surveys considered as a minimum.

- 8. Emphasis should be placed on providing field trips and educational programs designed to create an awareness of occupational employment potential available in the area.
- 9. Immediate attention should be given by the appropriate administrators to the expansion of health occupations programs at Indian River Community College.
- 10. A program to encourage joint visitation among all schools in the four-county area, involving students and school personnel, should be implemented.
- 11. Implications of this study should be made available through presentation and discussion to the administrators and counselors of the schools in the four-county area. This should include major findings in the study, especially those aspects pertaining to male-female comparisons.
- 12. As continued attempts are made on a periodic basis to ascertain student aspirations for vocational training, attention should be given to the development of the questionnaire to enable respondents to make use of a computer card to eliminate the need for interpretation of response.

## Needs for Further Study

1. A follow-up study should be made of graduates in all the schools in the four-county area, including the Community College, to determine employment trends and to provide for some assessment of "accountability."

- 2. The future labor market for various occupational trainees in the four-county area should be studied on a somewhat continuing basis.
- 3. Racial, as well as sex comparisons, should be made in future studies.

#### SELECTED BIBLIOGRAPHY

- (1) Frantz, Thomas T. "Ohio Vocational Interest Survey." The Seventh Mental Measurement Yearbook. Highland Park, New Jersey: The Gryphon Press, 1972.
- (2) Swingle, Theodore P. "Vocational Interest Choices of Sophomore and Junior Boys in Wayne County Local Schools." (Unpub. M. S. thesis, Ohio State University, 1960.)
- (3) Colorado State Board for Vocational Education. "Vocational Education Interests of Colorado High School Students 1966-1967." ED 045-860.
- (4) O'Shea, Arthur J., and Thomas F. Harrington. "Using the Strong Vocational Interest Blank and the Kuder Occupational Interest Survey, Form DD, With the Same Clients." <u>Journal of Counseling Psychology</u>, Vol. 18, No. 1 (1971), pp. 44-50.
- (5) Abrahams, N. M., Idell Newman, and W. H. Githens. "Faking Vocational Interests: Simulated Versus Real Life Motivation." Personnel Psychology, Vol. 24 (1971), pp. 5-12.
- (6) Crites, John O. "Measurements of Vocational Maturity in Adolescence." Psychological Monographs: General and Applied, Vol. 79, No. 2 (1965).
- (7) Mitchell, Jesse B. "Employment Opportunities and Education Needs in Off-Farm Agri-Business Occupations in Oklahoma." (Unpub. Ed.D. dissertation, Oklahoma State University, 1971.)
- (8) Turner, B. A. Occupational Choices of High School Seniors in the Space Age. ED 038-499.
- (9) Heath, William Nelson. "Factors Influencing Vocational Choice of Senior High School Students." (Unpub. M. S. thesis, The Ohio State University, 1958.)
- (10) Margolin, L. A. "The Problem of Occupational Choice and the Secondary School, IASP Translations." <u>Soviet Education</u>, XI No. 3, 4, 5 (January, February, March, 1969), pp. 64-71.
- (11) Phillips, Leonard W. "Occupational Choices and Vocational Interests." The Journal of Educational Research, Vol. 61, No. 8 (April, 1968), pp. 355-359.

- (12) Winefordner, David W. "Interest Measurement in Vocational Decision Making: The Use of the Ohio Vocational Interest Survey." American Vocational Journal, Vol. 44 (February, 1969), pp. 56-57.
- (13) Ginzberg, Eli. The Development of Human Resources. New York: McGraw-Hill, 1966.
- (14) Ginzberg, Eli. <u>Human Resources: The Wealth of a Nation</u>. New York: Simon and Schuster, 1958.
- (15) Smith, Brandon B., and Editha L. Jiloca. "The Relationship of Selected Factors to the Occupational Education of Twelfth Grade Students." ED 052-370.
- (16) Annis, William H., and Joseph E. Perrigo. "A Pilot Study to Determine the Need for Curriculum Modification in Vocational Technical Education in New Hampshire." ED 027-405.
- (17) Christensen, Howard H. "A Study to Determine Needed Improvements in Vocational Programs in Nine Nevada High Schools." ED 038-524.
- (18) United States Department of Labor, Employment Standards Administration, Women's Bureau. Women Workers Today. Washington, D.C.: U. S. Government Printing Office, 1973.
- (19) Levy, Betty. "The School's Role in the Sex-Role Stereotyping of Girls." Feminist Studies, Vol. 1 (Summer, 1972), pp. 5-23.
- (20) United States Department of Labor, Employment Standard Administration, Women's Bureau. The Myths and the Reality.
  Washington, D.C.: U.S. Government Printing Office, 1973.
- (21) Florida State Department of Education and Department of Agricultural and Extension Education. Florida Project Agriculture. Tallahassee, Florida: Florida State Department of Education, 1973.
- (22) Occupational Training Information System. Stillwater, Oklahoma:
  Oklahoma State Department of Vocational and Technical
  Education, 1972.
- (23) Buros, O. K. The Seventh Mental Measurement Yearbook. Highland Park, New Jersey: The Gryphon Press, 1972.
- (24) <u>Indian River Community College Catalog 1973-74</u>. Fort Pierce, Florida: Indian River Community College, 1973.
- (25) Florida Department of Commerce, Division of Employment Security,
  Bureau of Employment Services. Opportunities for Work in
  Principal Areas of Florida. Tallahassee, Florida: Florida
  Department of Commerce, November, 1973-May, 1974.

- (26) United States Bureau of the Census. Occupation and Earnings for Counties, Florida. Washington, D.C.: U. S. Government Printing Office, 1971.
- (27) Siegel, Sidney. <u>Nonparametric Statistics for Behavioral Sciences</u>. New York: <u>McGraw-Hill</u>, 1956.

APPENDIXES

APPENDIX A

THE QUESTIONNAIRE

# VOCATIONAL PLANNING QUESTIONNAIRE

Name	e	Grade_		Age
Sch	001	Sex	M	F
fil: fur: peopwise to	Your school and community are interested of choosing and preparing for a field of ling out the following questionnaire. We nish and information about job opportunities of the community, we should be able to vocational choices and plans. This interest is additional courses should be at Indian River Community College.	f work. ith the ties we to do mo formatio	You can he information can obtain ore to help on will also	help by on you n from p you make so help us
1.	After high school and military or furthehope to enter is:	er train	ning, the	vocation I
	First Choice		·	
	Second Choice			<u> </u>
	Third Choice	······································		
2.	After high school I plan to: (circle or	ne)	•	
	<ol> <li>Enter a vocational or technical school</li> <li>Enter a business school</li> <li>Enroll at a community college</li> <li>Enroll at a four year college or un</li> <li>Enter the military service</li> <li>Enter an apprenticeship or on job to</li> <li>Receive no further training</li> <li>Undecided</li> </ol>	iversity		
3.	I am enrolled in school.		program i	n high
4.	If a vocational program were offered at college that interested you, would you			
5.	What is the occupation of your parent o	r guard:	ian?	<del></del>

0.	offered? (If you have more than choices in order of preference.)	one	
•	_ General Clerical or Recording		Secretarial Sciences
	_ General Agriculture		Police Science
	_ Fire Science	`	Auto Mechanics
	_ Machine Shop		Welding or Sheet Metal
	_ Auto Body Fender Repair		Appliance Repair
	_ Electrical Trades		Carpentry
<del></del>	_ Brick and Block Laying		Drafting
	_ Plumbing		Data Processing
	_ General Home Economics	<del></del>	Child Care
	_ Teacher Aide		Physical Therapy Assistant
	_ Health Aide	<del></del>	Radiologic Technology
	_ Medical Laboratory Technician		Dental Assistant
	_ Practical Nursing		Registered Nursing
-	_ Medical Assistant	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	Food Preparation or Food Services
	_ Printing and Duplicating		Cosmetology
<u> </u>	Tailoring and Dressmaking		Commercial Art
	_ Forestry, Landscaping,		
	Citrus, or Horticulture	<del></del>	Distributive Occupations (salesman)
	_ Heating, Refrigeration, and Air Conditioning	· · ·	Mechanics (Diesel, Farm, Marine, or Small Engine)
	_ Service Station Attendant		
-	and Management		Radio, Television, and Electronic Service
,	_ Other (specify)		Nama
			None

## APPENDIX B

NUMBER OF SENIOR HIGH SCHOOL STUDENTS IN A FOUR
COUNTY AREA OF FLORIDA RESPONDING
TO QUESTIONNAIRE

		School							
Grade	Sex	Fort Pierce Central	John Carroll	Martin County	Okeechobee	Vero Beach	Indian River Academy	Saint Edwards	Total
,	М	276	18	180	71	252	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		797
Grade 10	F ·	262	26	200	62	212	6		768
	M	151	21	171	67	179		11	600
Grade 11	F	173	25	178	49	199	1 -	5	630
	М	154	9	95	45	158	5		466
Grade 12	F	197	17	74	33	154	6		481
	М	581 ·	48	446	183	58 <b>9</b>	5	11	1,863
Total	. F	632	68	452	144	565	13	5	1,879
Total		1,213	116	898	327	1,154	18	16	3,742

## APPENDIX C

COMPUTER PRINTOUT OF RESPONDENTS MARKING
"OTHER" ON QUESTIONNAIRE

:	SCHO	OL G	PARE	SEX	0	1	. 2	2 3	4	• :	5	6	7	8 '	9 1	0 11	1 12	2 1:	3 1	<b>4</b> 1	5 1	6 1	7 1	8 1	9
	- 1 -	1	0	. м	253	2	2	2 3	1		l	0	0 (	0	2	0 3	3 3	3 :	3 (	0	0	0	0	2	1
	- ī.	- i	Ŏ	F	213		3	7	2		-		_	5	4	2 2	210	)	0	<b>\$</b>	0	0	0	1	5
	1	1	1	.: M	136	3	? Q	0	····· 3			0	•	O	1	0	l á		) n	<u>.</u>	0 n	0	0	1	2
	· 1 ··	· L	1 2	 М	147 138	1	2	? U		) ·	0	0	L	6 : 0	1 1	1 1	)	(	0	3 0	0 0	O	0 <u></u> _	U	د 5
	î		5	F	181	ċ	) 2	5		2	Ď	ŏ	2	3 (	Ō	ō d	5 6	,	Ď :	i i	0,	ŏ	Ō	ō.	ī
	. ? .	1	0	M _	15		0	. 0	(		0	0	9	0	1	•	<b>)</b>		1 :(	0	0	0 (	0	0	1
4.	2	l	0	.F	20	C	) O	) 1		) (	D	0	l	L (	0 n	0 (	, (	)(	0	L	0	0 !	0	0	Z
	_ 2	1	1		22		) 1	L 0		)	)	•	D		Ö	0	j	, ,		j	0	0	0	0	0 _:
	2		2	4	7	C		0	Ò				Ď (	ō (	0	o a	2 (	) (	0 (	Ò	0	Ō ·	0	0	Ō
	2	1		F	14	0		, ,		-	-	-	•	•	0	0 (		) (	9 (	•	0	0 (	0.	0	1
	3 :	1	0	M	144 152		2	2		} (	)	0	2	] ···· }	3	1 ·· (	,		B	l   5	0	0	0 0	0	) 2
	ં 3ં.		1	м.	144	6	3 3	0		)	2	ō	1	5	2	0	) 1		2	o	Ō	0	0	1	3 .
	3	1	1	-F	145	5	2	2 1	4			Q	2	1	2	0 9	5 E	·	2	L !	0 5	0	o	0	<b>4</b>
	3	1		M F	94 61	1	. 1	L 0			•	0 0	l 2		0	0.2	2 (	•	9 (	) <u> </u>	0 (	0	0	0	2 .
	3	-1	·	r M	2		0	0				-			3 0	0 0			,		0	0 .		0	<u>.</u>
	3		0	F	i		)	0			0	0	j	D (	0	0	C	) (	5 (	) (	0	0	0	0 (	0
	4	1	0	. <b>M</b>	59.		2	2 0		)(	)	0	<u>.</u> 4	·	2	0 0		l (	2 9	) (	0	0 (	0 '	0	2 .
	4	<u>1</u>	0	. F	54. 58	<u>1</u> 1	0	) l	0	,		0(	)	2 i 2	l	0 0	)		9 (		0	D	D	0	2
	7	i		F	41	2			Č			Ö	í		•	0 0			5	3		0	0	0	Ď
	4	i		<u>M</u>	39		ŏ	-				Ō	j	3	i	ō ċ	i		j (	) <u>.</u> . (	Ö)	Ö (	0	O	Ō
	41	- 1	2	F	28	1	Q	0				<b>O</b>		2	0	0	9	(	9 3	l (	9	9 (	D	0 1	D
	. 5	1	0	. M	215 180	8		·		, ,	,	0	L	3	3 1	0 2	2 3		3	3	) u	0	D	0	8 4
	5 5		0		1		0	0	0			•		3	0	0	5 – 6	· · ·	5		0	0 -	0.	0 (	0
	5	1	1	4	148	2	. 2	2 1	1	. 1		0 4	• 1	1 :	3	o a	2 9	• :	L :	i i	0 (	0 (	o .	3 4	<b>4</b>
	5	1	1	.F	166	0	0	1	4	·	9, 2	0	3	5 :	3	1 (	)			<u> </u>	9	9	9	0 :	7
	5 .		2	- M	141 131		4				) )	0		د د		0 1	)			J	)	0	D	·	, 1
	Ś	i	2		1	O		)O	· 0	) (	)	0	0		0	0		) (		) (	j (	0	0	ō (	0
	6		0	F	4	9		-			-	•	2	) (	0	0 0	) (	) (	) (	)	0 (	9	)	0	1
	6	1	1	E	. 1	0	) 0	0		) (	-	0 (			0	0 0	, ,	, (	, (			9 (	י כ	0 (	) 0
	0 - 6	1	2	. F	6	O	0	) ) 0		) )	)	0	) (	) (	3	0	) G		) (	)	)	D (	) (	0	) 0
	7	ī	Î	M	5		) i	ŏ		) (		O		:	i ,	0			l	)	) (	D (	)	L (	<b>)</b>
	7	1	1	F	5	0	0	. 0	9			0	2	) i	0	0 (				!	2	0	99	<u> </u>	<u>)</u>
	7		0 ,	F Total	0 - 3184	47	•		-			0 (			-	0 0 5 36					) 1				0
	_ @2				- 7104		_							, <del></del>							· .				
:-		Ft. F				1 -	Hospi	tality	& Rec	reatio	n Occu	pation	s	11 -	Commu	micati	ons 🏝 l	Media (	Occupa:	tions.					
			Carrol			. 2 -	Busine Market	ess and	Offic	ce Occ	upatio	ns		12 -	Trans	portat:	ion Oc	cupati	ons					·•- ···········	
	3 - Martin County 3 - Marketing & Distribution Occupations 13 - Marine Science Occupations 4 - Okeechobee 4 - Public Services 14 - Consumer & Homemaking Related																								
	5 - Vero Beach 5 - Manufacturing Occupations Occupations																								
	6 - Indian River Academy 6 - Environmental Control Occupations 15 - Self-Employed																								
	7 - St. Edwards 7 - Fine Arts & Humanities Occupations 16 - Un-Employed or None 8 - Agri. Business & Natural Resources Occup. 17 - Retired																								
	9 - Health Occupations 18 - Craftsman																								
				s				al Ser			tions					ssional	ι.				-				

## APPENDIX D

# VOCATIONAL EDUCATION PREFERENCES

OF RESPONDENTS

# FORT PIERCE CENTRAL 10TH GRADE MALE

	Number of Respondents				
	1st Choice	2nd Choice	3rd Choice		
General Agriculture	2	1	1		
Fire Science	. 4	3	1		
Machine Shop	5	9	3		
Auto Body Fender Repair	8	6	12		
Electrical Trades	19	7	10		
Brick & Block Laying	21	18	11		
Plumbing	5	11	10		
General Home Economics	0	1	0		
Teacher Aide	2	2	1		
Health Aide	2 .	0	0		
Medical Laboratory Technician	3	2	0 2 2 2		
Medical Assistant	4	4	2		
Printing & Duplicating	1 .	1			
Tailoring & Dressmaking	0	0	1		
Forestry, Landscaping, Citrus,					
or Horticulture	8	4	4		
Heating, Refrigeration, &					
Air Conditioning	8	9	7		
Service Station Attendant &					
Management	4	5	3		
Other (specify)	16	3	3 3 7		
Police Science	11	5			
Auto Mechanics	33	18	9		
Welding or Sheet Metal	6 -	9	10		
Appliance Repair	0	1 ·	4		
Carpentry	20	23	7		
Drafting	8	3	3		
Data Processing	. 9	5 .	8		
Child Care	0	Ó	1		
Physical Therapy Assistant	1	3	0		
Radiologic Technology	2	0,	1		
Dental Assistant	0	1 .	3		
Registered Nursing	0	0	1		
Food Preparation or Services	7	1 :	1		
Cosmetology	1	0	0		
Commercial Art	5	<b>3</b> ×	2		
Distributive Occupations					
(salesman)	1	2	2		
Mechanics (Diesel, Farm,	_	<u> </u>	_		
Marine, or Small Engine)	8	12	6		
Radio, TV, & Electronic	·	<b></b>			
Service	15	11	4		
None	33	1 :	0		

## FORT PIERCE CENTRAL 10TH GRADE FEMALE

	Number of Respondents				
	1st Choice	2nd Choice	3rd Choice		
General Clerical or Recording	9	6	1		
General Agriculture	2	1	1		
Fire Science	0	0	1 .		
Machine Shop	1 '	· 0	0		
Auto Body Fender Repair	0	0	1		
Brick & Block Laying	0	1	0		
General Home Economics	7	1	0		
Teacher Aide	19	14	3		
Health Aide	0	2	5		
Medical Laboratory Technician	1	3	0		
Practical Nursing	13	16	6		
Medical Assistant	3	11	5 .		
Printing & Duplicating	0	2	2		
Tailoring & Dressmaking	5	13	9		
Forestry, Landscaping, Citrus,	_				
or Horticulture	1	2	2		
Service Station Attendant &	_	_			
Management	1	1	1 ·		
Other (specify)	32	11	3		
Secretarial Sciences	31	7	12		
Police Science	1	Ó	1		
Auto Mechanics	0	1	$\overline{1}$		
Welding or Sheet Metal	1	1	Õ		
Carpentry	1	0	1		
Drafting	0	1	0		
Data Processing	6	4	4		
Child Care	25	25	16		
Physical Therapy Assistant	5	7	5		
Radiologic Technology	1	1	0		
Dental Assistant	9	6	7		
Registered Nursing	23	10	17·		
Food Preparation or Services	2	7	3		
Cosmetology	18	10	9		
Commerical Art	6	4	2		
	U	7	2		
Distributive Occupations	1	<b>5</b> .	2		
(salesman)	1	J ,	۷		
Mechanics (Diesel, Farm,	^	Λ.	4		
Marine, or Small Engine) None	0	0 0	1		
Notice	33	U	U		

FORT PIERCE CENTRAL 11TH GRADE MALE

	Numb	er of Responde	nts
	1st Choice	2nd Choice	3rd Choice
General Clerical or Recording	2	0	0
General Agriculture	3	1	0
Fire Science	0	. <b>Ó</b>	2
Machine Shop	2	4	1
Auto Body Fender Repair	6	3	0 -
Electrical Trades	4	5	2
Brick & Block Laying	5	10	6
Plumbing	4	2	4
Medical Laboratory Technician	3	2	Ö
Medical Assistant	4	3	1
Printing & Duplicating	1	1	0
	1	0	1
Tailoring & Dressmaking	1	U	<b>±</b>
Forestry, Landscaping, Citrus,	3	1	3
or Horticulture	3	1	3
Heating, Refrigeration, &	4	0	2
Air Conditioning	1	2	3
Service Station Attendant &	•		•
Management	2	0	3
Other (specify)	11	1	2
Police Science	2	5	4
Auto Mechanics	14	6, ·	4
Welding or Sheet Metal	4	2	1
Appliance Repair	. 0	2 🕟	1
Carpentry	8	8	6
Drafting	7	1	2 -
Data Processing	4	2	1
Child Care	1	1	0
Physical Therapy Assistant	0	4	2
Radiologic Technology	1	1 .	2
Dental Assistant	0	2	3
Registered Nursing	0	1	0
Food Preparation or Services	<b>5</b> : .	2	1
Commercial Art	3	2	0
Distributive Occupations			
(salesman)	2	2	2 -
Mechanics (Diesel, Farm,			
Marine, or Small Engine)	4	2	3
Radio, TV, & Electronic	• ,	_	_
Service	8.	7	4
None	24	Ó	0

# FORT PIERCE CENTRAL 11TH GRADE FEMALE

	Numb	er of Responde	nts
	lst Choice	2nd Choice	3rd Choice
General Clerical or Recording	11	3	0
General Agriculture	<b>2</b> *	1	0
Plumbing	0	1 .	0
General Home Economics	2	2	0
Teacher Aide	14	7	6
Health Aide	1	0	1 ,
Medical Laboratory Technician	4	5	1
Practical Nursing	7	12	7
Medical Assistant	4	5	5
Printing & Duplicating	2	3	0
Tailoring & Dressmaking	6	7	2
Forestry, Landscaping, Citrus,			
or Horticulture	1	<b>6</b> , *	0
Service Station Attendant &		;	
Management	1	0	0
Other (specify)	19	3	4
Secretarial Sciences	17	9	2
Police Science	2	0	3
Drafting	0	1	1
Data Processing	2	3	2
Child Care	9	11	8
Physical Therapy Assistant	4	1	7
Radiologic Technology	1	2	1
Dental Assistant	7	8	8
Registered Nursing	14	11	5
Food Preparation or Services	3	0	5
Cosmetology	7	<b>3</b> .	7
Commercial Art	5	3	3
Distributive Occupations			
(salesman)	1	2	2
Mechanics (Diesel, Farm,		•	
Marine, or Small Engine)	0	0 -	1
None	11	2	0

# FORT PIERCE CENTRAL 12TH GRADE MALE

	Numb	er of Responde	ents
	1st Choice	2nd Choice	3rd Choice
General Agriculture	0	2	1
Fire Science	0	0	1
Machine Shop	3	1	0 -
Auto Body Fender Repair	2	8 1	4
Electrical Trades	7	4	3
Brick & Block Laying	<b>5</b> .	6	0 ~
Plumbing	3	5	2
Teacher Aide	0	0	2
Medical Laboratory Technician	2	1	0
Practical Nursing	0	0	1 .
Medical Assistant	2	0	0
Forestry, Landscaping, Citrus,			
or Horticulture	3	1	<b>2</b> %
Heating, Refrigeration, &	Ÿ	_	<del>-</del> :
Air Conditioning	1	5	1
Service Station Attendant &	-	,	<del></del>
Management	0	0	2
Other (specify)	18	Ö	Ō
Police Science	3	2	2 %
Auto Mechanics	13	5	4
	0	0	3
Welding or Sheet Metal	0	1	0
Appliance Repair	13	5	6 <sub>:</sub>
Carpentry	6	3 3.,	2
Drafting		<b>3</b> 1	1
Data Processing Child Care	5 1	0	0 :
Physical Therapy Assistant	0 2	1 . 1	0
Radiologic Technology	1	2	0
Dental Assistant		0	1 0
Registered Nursing	1	U	U ·
Food Preparation or Food	•	0	1.
Services	2	0	1
Cosmetology	0	0	1
Commercial Art	4	3	0
Distributive Occupations	•	. 0	0
(salesman)	3	2	0
Mechanics (Diesel, Farm,	^	7	4
Marine, or Small Engine)	0	7	1
Radio, TV, & Electronic	_	2	,
Service	7	2	4
None	<b>29</b> <sup>-</sup>	0	1

FORT PIERCE CENTRAL 12TH GRADE FEMALE

	Number of Respondents					
×¥	lst Choice	2nd Choice	3rd Choice			
General Clerical or Recording	6	8	2			
General Agriculture	2	0 /	1			
Electrical Trades	2	0	. 0			
General Home Economics	_ 3	2	i			
Teacher Aide	11	10	9			
Health Aide	2	i	1			
Medical Laboratory Technician	8	4	2			
Practical Nursing	4	8	7			
Medical Assistant	3	3	6			
Printing & Duplicating	0	3	i			
Tailoring & Dressmaking	12	7	4			
Forestry, Landscaping, Citrus,						
or Horticulture	1	0 -	0			
Other (specify)	12	2	2			
Secretarial Sciences	35	8	2			
Police Science	3	2	2			
Carpentry	0	0	1			
Drafting	0	2	Ó			
Data Processing	8	10	4			
Child Care	10	13	6			
Physical Therapy Assistant	6	3	4			
Radiologic Technology	0	<b>3</b> ,	2			
Dental Assistant	6	6	2			
Registered Nursing	7	4	4			
Food Preparation or Services	0	1	1			
Cosmetology	6	4.	7			
Commercial Art	8	1	5			
Distributive Occupations						
(salesman)	6	2	1 -			
Radio, TV, & Electronic	•					
Service	1 .	1	0			
None	<b>22</b> ···	0	0			

## JOHN CARROLL 10TH GRADE MALE

	Number of Respondents				
	1st Choice	2nd Choice	3rd Choice		
Fire Science	0	1	0		
Auto Body Fender Repair	0	1	1		
Brick & Block Laying	1	0	0		
Medical Laboratory Technician	1	0	2		
Medical Assistant	0	1	0		
Forestry, Landscaping, Citrus,					
or Horticulture	2	<b>O</b> 1/2	1		
Heating, Refrigeration, &					
Air Conditioning	0	1	0 -		
Other (specify)	<b>2</b> .	0	1		
Auto Mechanics	2	2	1.		
Welding or Sheet Metal	0	1	1 0		
Carpentry	2 -	2	0		
Drafting	2	1	2		
Data Processing	0	1	0		
Child Care	1	0	0		
Dental Assistant	1 .	0	0		
Commercial Art	0 .	1	0		
Mechanics (Diesel, Farm,					
Marine, or Small Engine)	1	2	1		
Radio, TV, & Electronic					
Service	2	0	1		
None	1	0	0		

# JOHN CARROLL 10TH GRADE FEMALE

Number	of	Respond	ents
--------	----	---------	------

	1st Choice	2nd Choice	3rd Choice
General Home Economics	0	1	1
Teacher Aide	1	1	1
Medical Laboratory Technician	1	. 1	1
Practical Nursing	1	0	Ó
Medical Assistant	1 .	0	2 ,
Tailoring & Dressmaking	2 %	0	0
Forestry, Landscaping, Citrus,			
or Horticulture	1	1 .	1
Other (specify)	4	1	1 .
Secretarial Sciences	5	0 -	0 -
Drafting	0	0	1
Child Care	2	3	1
Physical Therapy Assistant	0 .	Ô	1
Radiologic Technology	1	0 .	0
Dental Assistant	2	3	1
Registered Nursing	1 -	2	0
Cosmetology	1	0	0
Commercial Art	1	3	0
Distributive Occupations			
(salesman)	0	1 .	0
Radio, TV, & Electronic			
Service	0	1	0
None	1	0	0
		· ·	

# JOHN CARROLL 11TH GRADE MALE

Number o	fΙ	Respoi	ndents
----------	----	--------	--------

	lst Choice	2nd Choice	3rd Choice
General Clerical or Recording	0	0	1
General Agriculture	0	1	0
Auto Body Fender Repair	2	0	1
Electrical Trades	2	0 .	0
Brick & Block Laying	1	1 · ·	0
Plumbing	0	0	2
Medical Laboratory Technician	0	1	0 -
Forestry, Landscaping, Citrus,			
or Horticulture	2	0	0
Heating, Refrigeration, &			
Air Conditioning	1 .,	0	1
Other (specify)	2	0	0
Police Science	1	0 "	0
Auto Mechanics	1	O.	0
Welding or Sheet Metal	0	1	0
Carpentry	0	2	0
Drafting	1	0	1
Data Processing	O	1	0 -
Physical Therapy Assistant	0 "	0	1 .
Radiologic Technology	. 1	0	Ó
Cosmetology	1	0	0
Mechanics (Diesel, Farm,			
Marine, or Small Engine)	0	0	1
Radio, TV, & Electronic			
Service	0	2	0
None	5	0	0

# JOHN CARROLL 11TH GRADE FEMALE

	Number of Respondents		
	1st Choice	2nd Choice	3rd Choice
General Clerical or Recording	0	1	0
General Agriculture	0	ĺ	0 .
Plumbing	0	0.	1
General Home Economics	0	0	1
Teacher Aide	1	0	0
Medical Laboratory Technician	1	0	0 7
Practical Nursing	1	0	0
Medical Assistant	0	1	0 ~
Tailoring & Dressmaking	0	1	0 -
Forestry, Landscaping, Citrus,			
or Horticulture	2	1	2 -
Other (specify)	3	0	0
Secretarial Sciences	2 %	0	. 0
Police Science	0	1	0
Drafting	0	1	0
Data Processing	0	0	1
Child Care	2	2	2
Physical Therapy ASsistant	0	2	2 1
Radiologic Technology	0	1	0,-
Dental Assistant	2	1	0 -
Registered Nursing	2	0	0
Food Preparation or Services	0	0	1
Cosmetology	1	0	0
Commercial Art	1	0	1
Radio, TV, & Electronic			
Service	1	0	0
None	5	0	Ó

JOHN CARROLL 12TH GRADE MALE

	Number of Respondents			
	1st Choice	2nd Choice	3rd Choice	
Auto Body Fender Repair	0	1	0	
Electrical Trades	1 .	. 0	0	
Plumbing	0	1	Ó	
Heating, Refrigeration, &				
Air Conditioning	0	1	0	
Other (specify)	2	0	. 0	
Welding or Sheet Metal	0	0	2	
Mechanics (Diesel, Farm,				
Marine, or Small Engine)	2	0 `	0	
Radio, TV, & Electronic				
Service	0	1	0	
None	2	, . 0	0	

JOHN CARROLL 12TH GRADE FEMALE

	Number of Respondents		
	1st Choice	2nd Choice	3rd Choice
Fire Science	0	1	0
General Home Economics	0	0	2 -
Teacher Aide	1	0	1
Health Aide	0	1	0
Medical Laboratory Technician	0	1.	0
Practical Nursing	<b>O</b> 1	2	1
Medical Assistant	0	0	1
Tailoring & Dressmaking	1	0	0
Other (specify)	3	0	0
Secretarial Sciences	3	0	0 ·
Child Care	4	2	1
Physical Therapy Assistant	0	1	0
Dental Assistant	0	1	1
Registered Nursing	2	0 ;	0
Cosmetology	1	0 ,	0
Commercial Art	0 -	1	0
Distributive Occupations			
(salesman)	0	1	0

## MARTIN COUNTY 10TH GRADE MALE

·	Number of Respondents		
	1st Choice	2nd Choice	3rd Choice
General Clerical or Recording	1 :	. 0	0
General Agriculture	5	0	1
Fire Science	0	1	2
Machine Shop	4	2	4
Auto Body Fender Repair	<b>3</b> ,	3	2 '
Electrical Trades	8	5	2
Brick & Block Laying	7 ·	<b>3</b> .	3
Plumbing	<b>3</b> '	2	0
General Home Economics	1	0 ::	0
Teacher Aide	4	0	1
Health Aide	1 :	0	0
Medical Laboratory Technician	4	1	1
Practical Nursing	Ö		Ō
Medical Assistant	2	1 3	2
Printing & Duplicating	0	0	2
Tailoring & Dressmaking	1	0	Ō
Forestry, Landscaping, Citrus,	-	<b>9</b>	_
or Horticulture	6	12	4
Heating, Refrigeration, &	· ·	12	7
Air Conditioning	0	<b>.</b> 3	0 -
Service Station Attendant &	U	, ,	0
Management	2	0	2
Other (specify)	<b>3</b> 2	3	2
Police Science	10	4	1
Auto Mechanics	10	7	6
Welding or Sheet Metal	2	2	3
Appliance Repair	1	0	0
Carpentry	6	4.	0
Drafting	5	4	3
Data Processing	0	3.	1
	1	1	0
Physical Therapy Assistant		· ·	=
Radiologic Technology	1 0	1 2	0 0 %
Dental Assistant		1	
Food Preparation or Services	0		0
Cosmetology	0	0	1
Commercial Art	2	4	1
Distributive Occupations	<b></b> .	0	^
(salesman)	5	2	0
Mechanics (Diesel, Farm,	1.0	^	•
Marine, or Small Engine)	12	8	2
Radio, TV, & Electronic	4.0	•	
Service	10	3	4
None	4	0	0

# MARTIN COUNTY 10TH GRADE FEMALE

Number	of	Respo	ndents
--------	----	-------	--------

	1		
	1st Choice	2nd Choice	3rd Choice
General Clerical or Recording	9	4	3
General Agriculture	1	1	o O
Machine Shop	2	0	0
Auto Body Fender Repair	0	0.	ĺ
General Home Economics	6	2	
Teacher Aide	16	14	3 3 2 3 3 7
Health Aide	2	5	2
Medical Laboratory Technician	5	4	3
Practical Nursing	5	4	3
Medical Assistant	5	6	7
Printing & Duplicating	1	2	2
Tailoring & Dressmaking	4	1	4
Forestry, Landscaping, Citrus,	₹,	-	7.
or Horticulture	1	3	0
Other (specify)	34	7 .	4
Secretarial Sciences	14	3	3
Police Science	2	2	0
Auto Mechanics	1.	2	Ö
Welding or Sheet Metal	0::	0	1
Carpentry	1	0	Ō
Drafting	Ô	3	1
Data Processing	7	5	
Child Care	16	17	<b>3</b> 8
Physical Therapy Assistant	5	3	4
Radiologic Technology	1	Õ	O .
Dental Assistant	10	10	4
Registered Nursing	7	6	3
Food Preparation or Services	2	3	7
Cosmetology	9	3	6
Commercial Art	2	3	2
Mechanics (Diesel, Farm,	4	•	4
Marine, or Small Engine)	1 .	1	1
None	10	1	0
	<b>-0</b> ,	-	<b>.</b>

## MARTIN COUNTY 11TH GRADE MALE

	Number of Respondents		
	1st Choice	2nd Choice	3rd Choice
General Clerical or Recording	2 :-	0	0
General Agriculture	2	2	2
Fire Science	1	2	0
Machine Shop	2	3	6
Auto Body Fender Repair	0 9	1	5
Electrical Trades	8	8	0
Brick & Block Laying	3	<u>0</u> .	5
Plumbing	<b>3</b> .	1	ĺ
Teacher Aide	3	1	1
Health Aide	9	2	0
Medical Laboratory Technician	5	3	1
	2 ,.	9.0	0
Practical Nursing	1	7.	0
Medical Assistant	1	0	1
Printing & Duplicating	Τ.	U	Δ,
Forestry, Landscaping, Citrus,	9	7	2
or Horticulture	9	,	4
Heating, Refrigeration, &	n	4	1
Air Conditioning	<b>3</b> .	6	1
Service Station Attendant &	1	<b>o</b> .	7
Management	1	2	1
Other (specify)	21	6	1.
Police Science	1	3	2 5
Auto Mechanics	12.	6	
Welding or Sheet Metal	3	4	2
Appliance Repair	0	0	4
Carpentry	9	4	2
Drafting	<b>7</b> .	4	2
Data Processing	4	1	2
Child Care	1	0	0
Physical Therapy Assistant	1 .	1	0 %
Radiologic Technology	1	0	2
Dental Assistant	1	2	1
Registered Nursing	1	0 '	0
Food Preparation or Services	0	0	1
Commercial Art	7	3	0
Distributive Occupations	_	_	_
(salesman)	3	0 -	0
Mechanics (Diesel, Farm,			
Marine, or Small Engine)	4	7	2
Radio, TV, & Electronic			
Service	10	5	2 🔩
None	8	0	0

#### MARTIN COUNTY 11TH GRADE FEMALE

	Number of Respondents		
	1st Choice	2nd Choice	3rd Choice
General Clerical or Recording	9	5 .	1
General Agriculture	3	0	0
Auto Body Fender Repair	- 1	0	0
Electrical Trades	1 .	0	0
Brick & Block Laying	1	0	0.
General Home Economics	2	1 :-	ĺ
Teacher Aide	22	6	9
Health Aide	0	3 .	0
Medical Laboratory Technician	6	5 -	3
Practical Nursing	3	5.	3
Medical Assistant	4	8	2
Printing & Duplucating	0	0	1
Tailoring & Dressmaking	10	5	8
Forestry, Landscaping, Citrus,			
or Horticulture	2	0	2
Other (specify)	28	6	0
Secretarial Sciences	10	2	3
Police Science	1	2	1
Auto Mechanics	1	0	0
Drafting	1	2	0
Data Processing	5	5	2
Child Care	11	13	6
Physical Therapy Assistant	3	6	0
Radiologic Technology	0	3	1
Dental Assistant	8	9	1
Registered Nursing	13	3	5
Food Preparation or Services	1 -	2	0
Cosmetology	6 🖰	4	<b>3</b> ,
Commercial Art	6	2	2
Radio, TV, & Electronic	i •		
Service	<b>0</b> ,.	1	0
None	4	0	0

#### MARTIN COUNTY 12TH GRADE MALE

	Number of Respondents		
	1st Choice	2nd Choice	3rd Choice
General Agriculture	3	1	1
Fire Science	3	0	0
Machine Shop	3	2	0
Auto Body Fender Repair	1 :	2	1
Electrical Trades	2	0	2
Brick & Block Laying	0	1.	0
Teacher Aide	0	1	0
Health Aide	1	0	0
Medical Laboratory Technician	2	1	0
Medical Assistant	0	1	2
Forestry, Landscaping, Citrus,	-		
or Horticulture	4	2	0
Service Station Attendant &			-
Management	0	1 ·	0
Other (specify)	10	1	Ō
Police Science	1	5	2
Auto Mechanics	5	2	0
Welding or Sheet Metal	Ō	1	Ö
Carpentry	4	4	2
Drafting	2	5	2
Data Processing	0	Ō	ī
Physical Therapy Assistant	2	Ö	1
Radiologic Technology	2	Ö	0
Dental Assistant	0	ĺ	O.
Food Preparation or Services	2	0 *	1
Commercial Art	4	1	0
Distributive Occupations		<del>- 7</del>	· ·
(salesman)	2	0	0
Mechanics (Diesel, Farm,	•	ŭ	
Marine, or Small Engine)	1	2	2
Radio, Television, &	-		-
Electronic Service	4	0	1
None	7	Ŏ	1
	•	•	-

### MARTIN COUNTY 12TH GRADE FEMALE

Number	οf	Reanc	ndents

	lst Choice	2nd Choice	3rd Choice
		·	
General Clerical or Recording	2	0	0
General Agriculture	2	0	0
Brick & Block Laying	1	0	0
General Home Economics	0	1	0
Teacher Aide	10	1	0
Medical Laboratory Technician	1	2	1
Practical Nursing	2	2	1
Medical Assistant	3	3	1
Printing & Duplicating	1	- 0	0
Tailoring & Dressmaking	1	3	Ō
Forestry, Landscaping, Citrus,			
or Horticulture	1	1 .	1
Other (specify)	12	0 -	0
Secretarial Sciences	4	2	1
Police Science	0	1	0
Welding or Sheet Metal	.0	0	1
Carpentry	0	1	0
Drafting	0	0	1
Data Processing	2	1	0
Child Care	2	4	3
Physical Therapy Assistant	0	2	2
Radiologic Technology	ĺ	1	0
Dental Assistant	1	_ 5	4
Registered Nursing	6	ő	$\vec{1}$
Food Preparation or Services	0	1	0
Cosmetology	1	3	2
Commercial Art	5	2	0
Distributive Occupations	<b>.</b>	4	U
(salesman)	1	0	1
None	1	0	0
NOME	7	U	U

#### OKEECHOBEE 10TH GRADE MALE

	Numb	er of Responder	nts
\$ 1.50 miles	1st Choice	2nd Choice	3rd Choice
	- •		
General Agriculture	14	1	0.
Fire Science	2	0	Q
Machine Shop	1,.	1	0 2 2
Auto Body Fender Repair	3	9	
Electrical Trades	0 ·	3	0
Brick & Block Laying	3	2	1 ,
Plumbing	0	1	0
Teacher Aide	0	0 _	1 .
Medical Laboratory Technician	1	1	1
Medical Assistant	<b>3</b> .	0	1
Forestry, Landscaping, Citrus,	·		
or Horticulture	2	2	2
Heating, Refrigeration, &			
Air Conditioning	1	0	2
Service Station Attendant &			and the second
Management	0	1 ·	2
Police Science	4	4	0
Auto Mechanics	12	6	
Welding or Sheet Metal	2	4	2: -
Carpentry	1 .	3	3
Drafting	1	1	3 2 3 0
Data Processing	1	0	
Dental Assistant	0	Ö	1 1
Commercial Art	1	Ö	ō
Mechanics (Diesel, Farm,	-	V	Ÿ.
Marine, or Small Engine)	3	9	8
Radio, TV, & Electronic	<b>J</b>	j	0
Service	2	1	0 -
None	6	0	0
моне	O.	U	U

## OKEECHOBEE 10TH GRADE FEMALE

	Number of Respondents		
	lst Choice	2nd Choice	3rd Choice
General Clerical or Recording	0	1	0
General Home Economics	1	õ	0
Teacher Aide	7	7	2
Health Aide	Ö	i	ī
Medical Laboratory Technician	1	2 :	0
Practical Nursing	<u> </u>	5	ĺ
Medical Assistant	1	2	4
Printing & Duplicating	0	1	1
Tailoring & Dressmaking	1	0	Ó É
Forestry, Landscaping, Citrus,			
or Horticulture	0	0	1
Other (specify)	4	3	1
Secretarial Sciences	17	7	0
Police Science	0	0	2
Carpentry	0	1	0
Data Processing	0	1	2
Child Care	4	5	0 0
Radiologic Technology	2	0	
Dental Assistant	3	0	2
Registered Nursing	6	2	1
Food Preparation or Services	0	0	1
Cosmetology	7	2	4
Radio, TV, & Electronic			
Service	0	1 .	0
None	6	0	0 :

### OKEECHOBEE 11TH GRADE MALE

		•	
	Number of Respondents		
	1st Choice	2nd Choice	3rd Choice
General Agriculture	8 .	2	0
Machine Shop	1	1	1
Auto Body Fender Repair	3	2	2
Electrical Trades	4	5	1
Brick & Block Laying	1.	1	2
Plumbing	0	0	1
Teacher Aide	Ö	1	Ō
Medical Laboratory Technician	3	0	2
Medical Assistant	1	Ö	0
Forestry, Landscaping, Citrus,	<del>.</del>	· ·	
or Horticulture	2 .	4	1
Heating, Refrigeration, &	<del>-</del> '	•	_
Air Conditioning	0	1	1
Service Station Attendant &	·	_	_
Management	0	1	0
Other (specify)	5	3	Õ
Police Science	4	1	0
Auto Mechanics	3	4	4
Welding or Sheet Metal	3	3	1
Carpentry	3	1	0
Drafting	2	0	1
Data Processing	2	2	1
Radiologic Technology	0. ;	1	1
Dental Assistant	Ó	1	2
Commercial Art	1 .	0	0 -
Distributive Occupations			
(salesman)	2 (	0	1
Mechanics (Diesel, Farm,		·	
Marine, or Small Engine)	5	3	2
Radio, TV, and Electronic		-	
Service	5	3	0 ·
None	3	0	O

### OKEECHOBEE 11TH GRADE FEMALE

	Number of Respondents		
	1st Choice	2nd Choice	3rd Choice
General Clerical or Recording	3	2	1
General Agriculture	0	1.	0
General Home Economics	1	2 ·	0
Teacher Aide	2	3	Ò
Health Aide	Ó	0 -	1
Medical Laboratory Technician	1	0	0
Practical Nursing	0	1	<b>3</b>
Medical Assistant	0	3	0
Printing & Duplicating	0 .	1	0 *-
Tailoring & Dressmaking	1	2	1
Forestry, Landscaping, Citrus,	•		:
or Horticulture	0	0.	1
Other (specify)	4	1	. 2
Secretarial Sciences	14	0 ·	0
Police Science	1	0	2
Drafting	2	0	0
Data Processing	1	4 ~	1
Child Care	1	1	2
Physical Therapy Assistant	0	1	1 .
Radiologic Technology	2	3	1
Dental Assistant	2	2	3
Registered Nursing	2	0	0
Cosmetology	5	2	0
Commercial Art	0	3	0
None	5	0	0

#### OKEECHOBEE 12TH GRADE MALE

	Number of Respondents		
	1st Choice	2nd Choice	3rd Choice
General Agriculture	4	1	0
Fire Science	0	1	0
Machine Shop	0 ;	Õ	1
Auto Body Fender Repair	3	0 1	1
Electrical Trades	2	1	0
Brick & Block Laying	2	0	0
Plumbing	1	0	0
Teacher Aide	0	0	1
	2		0
Medical Laboratory Technician	1	0	1:
Medical Assistant	+ .	0	Ι.
Forestry, Landscaping, Citrus,	0	•	•
or Horticulture	2	3	0
Heating, Refrigeration, &			0.4
Air Conditioning	0	1	0
Service Station Attendant &	•	_	_
Management	0	1	1
Other (specify)	3	2	2
Police Science	Ž	1	1
Auto Mechanics	2	1	2
Welding or Sheet Metal	0	1	1
Carpentry	0	1	0
Drafting	2	1	2
Data Processing	0	2	0
Child Care	0	1	0
Physical Therapy Assistant	0	1 .	1
Radiologic Technology	1 -	2	0
Commercial Art	0,	1	<b>0</b> %
Distributive Occupations			
(salesman)	2	0	0
Mechanics (Diesel, Farm,			
Marine, or Small Engine)	<b>3</b> .	1	1
Radio, TV, & Electronic			
Service	3	0	1 .
None	9	0 .	0

### OKEECHOBEE 12TH GRADE FEMALE

•	Number of Respondents		
	1st Choice	2nd Choice	3rd Choice
General Clerical or Recording	1	2 .	0
Teacher Aide	3	1	0
Health Aide	0.	1	0 -
Medical Laboratory Technician	1 .	1	0.
Practical Nursing	0	1	0
Medical Assistant	1	0	0 -
Printing & Duplicating	1	0	0
Tailoring & Dressmaking	1	1	0
Other (specify)	5	0	0 -
Secretarial Sciences	1	0	3
Police Science	0	1	0
Auto Mechanics	1 .	0	0
Data Processing	1	<b>2</b> %	0
Child Care	3	2	0
Physical Therapy Assistant	1 .	O O	0
Dental Assistant	1 .	1	2
Registered Nursing	1	0	0 -
Cosmetology	<b>3</b> ,	0	0 ·
Commercial Art	1	0	0
None	6	0	0

VERO BEACH 10TH GRADE MALE

	Number of Respondents		
·	1st Choice	2nd Choice	3rd Choice
General Agriculture	2	0	4
Fire Science	4 .	2	0
Machine Shop	5	3	0
Auto Body Fender Repair	6	3	6
Electrical Trades	10	7	0
Brick & Block Laying	10	3	3
Plumbing	2	1	1
Teacher Aide	4 :	3	1
Health Aide	0	2	1
Medical Laboratory Technician	0 .	3	2
Practical Nursing	1	0	0
Medical Assistant	3	8	1
Printing & Duplicating	1 -	1	1
Tailoring & Dressmaking	1	0	0 🖰
Forestry, Landscaping, Citrus,			
or Horticulture	6	6	3
Heating, Refrigeration, &			•
Air Conditioning	4	3	0
Service Station Attendant &			
Management	1	4	1
Other (specify)	36	1 .	0
Police Science	13	2	2
Auto Mechanics	18	11	2 5 2
Welding or Sheet Metal	2	3	
Appliance Repair	<b>O</b>	0 ,	1
Carpentry	9	10	10
Drafting	4	4 ′	4
Data Processing	6 °	3	0 -
Child Care	1	1	3
Physical Therapy Assistant	2	1 .	0
Radiologic Technology	2	0	2
Dental Assistant	3	3	1 .
Registered Nursing	0 :	0	1
Cosmetology	1	1	0
Commercial Art	4	3	1
Distributive Occupations			
(salesman)	3	1	0 ′
Mechanics (Diesel, Farm,	_	_	_
Marine, or Small Engine)	7	9	3
Radio, TV, & Electronic	<u> </u>	_	_
Service	11.	9 .	3
None	18	0	0

VERO BEACH 10TH GRADE FEMALE

	Numb	er of Responde	ents
	1st Choice	2nd Choice	3rd Choice
General Clerical or Recording	3	0	0
General Agriculture	1	0	0
General Home Economics	2	4	0
Teacher Aide	17	12	9
Health Aide	1	0	1
Medical Laboratory Technician	9	4	1
Practical Nursing	6	4	9
Medical Assistant	5	6	7
Printing & Duplicating	1	1	1
Tailoring & Dressmaking	2	5	3
Forestry, Landscaping, Citrus,			
or Horticulture	2	2 .	0
Other (specify)	23	3	5
Secretarial Sciences	23	8	3
Police Science	0 .	0	3
Auto Mechanics	1	0	. 0
Welding or Sheet Metal	1 .	0	0
Data Processing	1	1	0
Child Care	24	18	10
Physical Therapy Assistant	5	6	1
Dental Assistant	9	7	2
Registered Nursing	9	9	2
Food Preparation or Services	4	2	2
Cosmetology	6	10	5 -
Commercial Art	8	3	<b>2</b> 🚉
Distributive Occupations			
(salesman)	2 3	1	1
Radio, TV, & Electronic			
Service	0	0	2
None	16	0	0

VERO BEACH 11TH GRADE MALE

	Number of Respondents		
	lst Choice	2nd Choice	3rd Choice
General Clerical or Recording	1	0 .	0
General Agriculture	1 .	0	1
Fire Science	1 '	2	0
Machine Shop	2 .	2	1
Auto Body Fender Repair	4	3	10
Electrical Trades	7	6.	4
Brick & Block Laying	15	4 .	7
Plumbing	3	6	2
Teacher Aide	2	3	1
Medical Laboratory Technician	1	2	0
Medical Assistant	5	$\bar{1}$	2
Printing & Duplicating	0	1 .	0
Tailoring & Dressmaking	2	0	• 0
Forestry, Landscaping, Citrus,	_	•	•
or Horticulture	9	3	2
Heating, Refrigeration, &	•	J	-
Air Conditioning	2	2	0
Service Station Attendant &	4	<b>-</b>	· ·
Management	2	0	0
Other (specify)	25	3	1
Police Science	2	2	2
Auto Mechanics	14	10	5
	1.	0	
Welding or Sheet Metal			<del>-</del>
Appliance Repair	0	1	0 .
Carpentry	9	8	4
Drafting	9	8	4
Data Processing	4	3	9
Child Care	2	0	1
Physical Therapy Assistant	0	1	0
Radiologic Technology	0 '	1	0 -
Dental Assistant	1	1	1
Food Preparation or Services	1 :	1	1
Commercial Art	2	1	1
Distributive Occupations	_		
(salesman)	3	1	1
Mechanics (Diesel, Farm,			
Marine, or Small Engine)	7	7	3
Radio, TV, & Electronic	•		
Service	8	7	0 ′
None.	23	0	0 -

#### VERO BEACH 11TH GRADE FEMALE

	Number of Respondents		
	1st Choice	2nd Choice	3rd Choice
General Clerical or Recording	5	5	0
General Agriculture	2	o d	1 ·
Electrical Trades	. 0	0	1
Plumbing	1	0	0
General Home Economics	5	2	1
Teacher Aide	7	11	7
Health Aide	2	4	Ó
Medical Laboratory Technician	3	2	0
Practical Nursing	10	3	4
Medical Assistant	<b>6</b> , ·	6	
Printing & Duplicating	1	0 :	5 2
Tailoring & Dressmaking	4	4	5
Forestry, Landscaping, Citrus,			
or Horticulture	0.	1	0 ~
Other (specify)	26	6	0
Secretarial Sciences	16	6	4
Police Science	0	2 -	0
Welding or Sheet Metal	1	0	0
Drafting	0 .	1	0
Data Processing	1	1	1
Child Care	26	22	15
Physical Therapy Assistant	7	2	5
Radiologic Technology	0	1	0 -
Dental Assistant	13	8	2
Registered Nursing	16.	3	2 ·
Food Preparation or Services	4	7	1
Cosmetology	7	6	6
Commercial Art	2	2	1
Distributive Occupations			
(salesman)	2 :	0	0
None	23	0	0

#### VERO BEACH 12TH GRADE MALE

Number	٥f	Respondents
MILLINGE	LJI	Kephondenra

	lst Choice	2nd Choice	3rd Choice
General Clerical or Recording	1	0	0
General Agriculture	5	2	0
Fire Science	Ö	2	0
Machine Shop	4	1	
Auto Body Fender Repair	8	4	3. 5 <b>3</b>
Electrical Trades	4	3	3
Brick & Block Laying	4	3	2
Plumbing	3	2	2
Teacher Aide	4	0	0
Medical Laboratory Technician	2	2	3
Medical Assistant	5	1	0
Printing & Duplicating	1	0 1	0
Forestry, Landscaping, Citrus,		<del>,</del>	-
or Horticulture	3	3	2
Heating, Refrigeration, &	•	•	
Air Conditioning	0	2	5
Service Station Attendant &			
Management	0	1	0 -
Other (specify)	12	5	0
Secretarial Sciences	0	0	1
Police Science	5 :	2	0
Auto Mechanics	16	11	
Welding or Sheet Metal	1	5	4 2 4
Carpentry	5	10	4
Drafting	12	2	1
Data Processing	4	4	$\overline{\mathtt{1}}$
Child Care	0	1	0
Physical Therapy Assistant	0 -	$\overline{1}$	Ö
Radiologic Technology	3	5	1
Registered Nursing	0	1	0
Food Preparation or Services	0	. 2	1
Cosmetology	2	0	0
Commercial Art	2	ĺ	1
Distributive Occupations	<b>⊤</b> '	_	_
(salesman)	3	2	1 ·
Mechanics (Diesel, Farm,	•	_	_
Marine, or Small Engine)	3 %	3	0
Radio, TV, & Electronic	•	•	ū
Service	4	4	1
None	20	Ö	0
		_	<del>-</del>

#### VERO BEACH 12TH GRADE FEMALE

Number	οf	Resp	onde	nts
--------	----	------	------	-----

	Number of Respondence		
	1st Choice	2nd Choice	3rd Choice
General Clerical or Recording	8	0	0
General Agriculture	0	1	0
General Home Economics	5	4 ·	0
Teacher Aide	9	5	2
Health Aide	1	0	
Medical Laboratory Technician	7 :	2	1 3 2 3
Practical Nursing	7	6	2
Medical Assistant	<b>3</b> .	6	3
Printing & Duplicating	1	2	1
Tailoring & Dressmaking	1	6.	2
Forestry, Landscaping, Citrus,			
or Horticulture	0	1	0 ·
Other (specify)	18	3	2
Secretarial Sciences	22	5.	3
Police Science	1	2	1
Carpentry	1	0	0
Drafting	2	0	0 ~
Data Processing	4	8	3
Child Care	9	8	11
Physical Therapy Assistant	4	<b>2</b> *	3
Radiologic Technology	1	2	1
Dental Assistant	5 .	6	4
Registered Nursing	11	2	1
Food Preparation or Services	.0	2	0
Cosmetology	5	6	6
Commercial Art	10	5	1 4
Distributive Occupations			
(salesman)	<b>2</b> = .	0	O ·
None	7	0	0

#### INDIAN RIVER ACADEMY 10TH GRADE FEMALE

	Number of Respondents		
	1st Choice	2nd Choice	3rd Choice
General Clerical or Recording	0	1.	0
General Home Economics	0	0	1
Teacher Aide	1	0	0
Health Aide	0	0 ·	1
Other (specify)	2	0	0
Secretarial Sciences	1	2	0
Child Care	0	0	1
Dental Assistant	1 .	1	0 .
Cosmetology	Ó,	1	0 ,
None	. 1	0	0

# INDIAN RIVER ACADEMY AND SAINT EDWARDS 11TH GRADE FEMALE

	Number of Respondents		
	1st Choice	2nd Choice	3rd Choice
General Clerical or Recording	1	0	0
General Agriculture	2	2	0
Machine Shop	0 .	1	1
Medical Laboratory Technician	0	1	0
Practical Nursing	0	0	1
Medical Assistant	0 ,	2	0 -
Forestry, Landscaping, Citrus,			
or Horticulture	2	1 .	6
Other (specify)	5	0	1 :
Secretarial Sciences	0	1	0
Carpentry	2	1	0
Drafting	1	1	1
Data Processing	0	1	0
Child Care	0	0	2
Dental Assistant	2	2	0
Commercial Art	2	0	Ó
Mechanics (Diesel, Farm,			
Marine, or Small Engine)	0	0	1
Radio, TV, & Electronic			
Service	0	1	<b>Q</b>
None	1	0 -	Ô
	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·

# INDIAN RIVER ACADEMY AND SAINT EDWARDS 12TH GRADE FEMALE

	Number of Respondents		
	1st Choice	2nd Choice	3rd Choice
General Agriculture	<del> </del>	0	0
Brick & Block Laying	0	1	0
Teacher Aide	1	2	0 :
Practical Nursing	0	. 0	1
Forestry, Landscaping, Citrus,	<u>-</u>		
or Horticulture	0	0	2
Other (specify)	1	0	0
Police Science	1	0 -	0
Carpentry	1	0	0
Drafting	0 .	2	0
Child Care	1	0	0
Physical Therapy Assistant	0	. 0	1
Distributive Occupations			
(salesman)	0	1	0
Mechanics (Diesel, Farm,			
Marine, or Small Engine)	1.	1 .	0
None	4	0	0
	**		

### APPENDIX E

STATISTICAL TABLES FROM INDIAN RIVER
COMMUNITY COLLEGE SELF STUDY

TABLE XV

TABLE 10.10 - PERCENTAGE OF PUBLIC AND NONPUBLIC SCHOOL GRADUATES IN IRCC FOUR-COUNTY COLLEGE DISTRICT WHO ENTERED COLLEGE: YEAR 1971-1972

	`	Public Schools		Nonpublic Schools		
			Percent of 1971 Graduates Who Entered		Percent of 1971 Graduates Who Entered	
Number of County Graduates	College	Technical, Trade, and Others	Number of Graduates	Collége	Technical, Trade, and Others	
Florida	75,649	52.77	4.93	5,019	83.24	3.03
Indian River	454	49.12	5.29	NA	NA	<b>NA</b>
Martin	255	60.00	4.71	NA	NA	NA
Okeechobee	133	42.86	4.51	NA	NA	NA
Saint Lucie	473	46.72	5.29	44	70.45	13.63
Total	1,315			44	•	
*Brevard	3,507	67.75	6.27	137	44.52	0.00
**Palm Beach	3,500	57.74	3.00	306	89.54	1.30

<sup>\*</sup>County North of College District.

Source: State of Florida, Department of Education, Division of Elementary and Secondary Education, Bureau of Research, "Florida High School Graduates, 1971," Research Report 96 in Indian River Community College Self Study Report 1971-1972 (Fort Pierce, 1972).

<sup>\*\*</sup>County South of College District.

TABLE XVI

TABLE 10.16 - NUMBER AND PERCENTAGE OF HIGH SCHOOL

GRADUATES RESIDING IN IRCC FOUR-COUNTY

COLLEGE DISTRICT IN 1970

County	Percentage of 1960 <sup>a</sup> Population With High School Diplomas	Population 1970 <sup>b</sup>	Number of Adults With High School Diplomas, 1970	Number of Adults Without High School Diplomas, 1970
Florida	43.30	6,789,443	2,939,828	3,849,615
Indian River	43.00	35,992	15,476	20,516
Martin	40.20	28,035	11,270	16,765
0keechobee	27.20	11,233	3,055	8,178
Saint Lucie	36.90	50,836	18,876	31,960
*Brevard	54.30	230,006	124,893	105,113
**Palm Beach	45.80	348,753	159,729	189,024

<sup>\*</sup>County North of College District

<sup>a</sup>Source: U. S. Department of Commerce, Bureau of Census, <u>City and County Data Books 1967</u> (Washington, D.C., U. S. Government Printing Office, 1967), p. 53.

bSource: Bureau of Economics and Business Research, College of Business Administration, University of Florida, Florida Statistical Abstract 1971 (Gainesville: University of Florida Press, June, 1971), p. 21.

Source: "Survey of Buying Power," <u>Sales Management</u> (June, 1966-1971) in <u>Indian River Community College Self Study Report</u> 1971-1972 (Fort Pierce, 1972).

<sup>\*\*</sup>County South of College District

TABLE XVII

TABLE 10.20 - FTE EXPRESSED AS PAST AND FUTURE PERCENTAGE OF POPULATION IN THE IRCC FOUR-COUNTY DISTRICT

Year	Population <sup>a</sup>	IRCC FTE	FTE as Percent of Population
1960	87,959	304 <sup>b</sup>	0.035
1970	126,096	1,554 <sup>c</sup>	1.233
1972	134,000	1,884 <sup>b</sup>	1.403
1978	155,000	2,770 <sup>b</sup>	1.789

<sup>a</sup>Source: Bureau of Economic and Business Research, College of Business Administration, University of Florida, <u>Florida Statistical</u>
<u>Abstract 1971</u> (Gainesville: University of Florida Press, June, 1971), pp. 21, 32.

bSource: The Associated Consultants in Education, Incl, Long
Range Planning for Indian River Junior College (Tallahassee, Florida:
Associated Consultants in Education, 1969), p. 50.

<sup>c</sup>Source: IRCC Records Center.

Source: "Survey of Buying Power," <u>Sales Management</u> (June, 1966-1971) in <u>Indian River Community College Self Study Report 1971-1972</u> (Fort Pierce, 1972).

TABLE XVIII

TABLE 10.23 - FAMILY INCOME DISTRIBUTION IN FLORIDA: 1960 TO 1971

	Percentage of Families in Each Category									
Year	\$0- \$2,999	\$3,000- \$4,999	\$5,000- \$7,999	\$8,000- \$9,999	\$10,000 & Over					
1966	29.8	23.4	23.9	10.0	12.9					
1967	29.2	21.1	26.2	9.4	14.1					
1968	27.4	20.0	25.9	10.5	16.5					
1969	25.7	18.8	25.3	11.5	18.7					
1970	23.2	17.0	24.3	12.5	23.0					
1971	21.5	15.8	23.1	13.0	26.6					

Source: "Survey of Buying Power," <u>Sales Management</u> (June, 1966-1971) in <u>Indian River Community College Self Study Report 1971-1972</u> (Fort Pierce, 1972).

TABLE XIX

TABLE 10.24 - FAMILY INCOME DISTRIBUTION IN INDIAN RIVER
COUNTY: 1966 TO 1971

	Percentage of Families in Each Category									
Year	\$0 <b>-</b> \$2,999	\$3,000- \$4,999	\$5,000- \$7,999	\$8,000- \$9,999	\$10,000 & Over					
1966	34.0	24.1	21.8	8.7	11.2					
1967	29.5	23.0	24.3	9.0	14.2					
1968	24.3	19.9	24.1	11.5	20.2					
1969	22.7	18.4	23.6	11.8	<b>23.5</b> 9					
1970	21.4	17.2	22.8	12.2	26.4					
1971	21.3	17.0	23.3	12.3	26.1					

Source: "Survey of Buying Power," <u>Sales Management</u> (June, 1966-1971) in <u>Indian River Community College Self Study Report</u> 1971-1972 (Fort Pierce, 1972).

TABLE XX

TABLE 10.25 - FAMILY INCOME DISTRIBUTION IN MARTIN COUNTY: 1966 TO 1971

	Percentage of Families in Each Category								
Year	\$0- \$2,999	\$3,000- \$4,999	\$5,000- \$7,999	\$8,000- \$9,999	\$10,000 & Over				
1966	32.8	25.8	23.2	7.6	10.6				
1967	30.9	23.6	26.7	7.4	11.4				
1968	28.9	22.4	26.8	9.2	12.7				
1969	26.6	20.6	27.1	10.5	15.2				
1970	23.4	17.9	25.6	12.8	20.3				
1971	22.3	16.8	25.0	13.1	22, 8				

Source: "Survey of Buying Power," <u>Sales Management</u> (June, 1966-1971) in <u>Indian River Community College Self Study Report</u> 1971-1972 (Fort Pierce, 1972).

TABLE XXI

TABLE 10.26 - FAMILY INCOME DISTRIBUTION IN OKEECHOBEE COUNTY: 1966 TO 1971

	Percentage of Families in Each Category								
Year	\$0- \$2 <b>,</b> 999	\$3,000- \$4,999	\$5,000- \$7,999	\$8,000- \$9,999	\$10,000 & Over				
1966	32.0	29.9	23.0	6.5	8.6				
1967	28.0	28.3	28.6	5.6	9.5				
1968	26.1	26.4	29.1	7.8	10.6				
1969	23.7	23.3	30.6	10.1	12.3				
1970	20.7	18.6	31.0	13.0	16.7				
1971	19.7	16.7	31.2	13.1	19.3				

Source: "Survey of Buying Power," <u>Sales Management</u> (June, 1966-1971) in <u>Indian River Community College Self Study Report 1971-1972</u> (Fort Pierce, 1972).

TABLE XXII

TABLE 10.27 - FAMILY INCOME DISTRIBUTION IN SAINT LUCIE COUNTY: 1966 TO 1971

	Percentage of Families in Each Category								
Year	\$0- \$2,999	\$3,000- \$4,999	\$5,000- \$7,999	\$8,000- \$9,999	\$10,000 & Over				
1966	34.0	25.1	22.8	8.0	10.1				
1967	30.2	22.7	25.0	9.6	12.5				
1968	26,4	19.7	24.4	11.9	17.6				
1969	23.9	18.0	24.4	12.2	21.7				
1970	22.0	16.8	24.0	11.9	24.7				
1971	22.0	16.3	23.8	12.0	25.8				

Source: "Survey of Buying Power," <u>Sales Management</u> (June, 1966-1971) in <u>Indian River Community College Self Study Report 1971-1972</u> (Fort Pierce, 1972).

### APPENDIX F

COMPUTER PRINTOUT OF RESPONDENTS'
PROGRAM IN HIGH SCHOOL

#### STATISTICAL PACKAGE FOR THE SOCIAL SCIENCES SPSSH - VERSION 5.01

02/04/74

FILE NONAME (CREATION DATE = 02/04/74)

	* * * * * PROGRAM	PROGR	AM IN HIG	H SCHOOL		STABU	LATI BY S		· * * *	* * * * *
	ROLLING FO						VALUE	1	MALE	
	GRADE			******************************			VALUE		MALL	
	* * * *	* * *	* * * *	* * * * *	* * * *	* * * * *	* * * *		* * * *	* * * * *
00 1 00 1 00 1	er i jarin	*********								
			SCHOOL							
		JUNT	1							
***************************************			IFT PIERC						·····	
		** * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * *	IE CENTRL	************************	DUNTY	EE	CH	TOTAL		
		PCT	<u> </u>	1 2	<u>I3</u>	<u>I 4</u>	1 5	<u>I</u> .		
PROG	RAM		I		I	I	I	1		<u>.</u> *
a -	MERAL	1	I 37	1 7 0		t 5	I 5	I 64		
<u> GE</u>	NERAL		I 57.8 I 13.4	7 •8 1 27•8	I 13.8 I 6.7	I 7.8 I 7.0	7.8 1 2.0	1 8.0		<del> </del>
			1 13.4 1 4.6	I 0.6	1 1.5	1 7.0 I 0.6	1 2.0 1 0.6	7		
			1	. 0.0		1	1	Ť	***************************************	
		2	1 17	6	1 40	Ť 3	1 12	I 78	<del></del>	<del></del>
ca	LLEGE PRE		1 21.8	7.7	1 51.3	I 3.8	1 15.4	I 9.8		
•			I 6.2	33.3	1 22.2	I 4.2	1 4.8	Ī .		
			1 2.1	0.8	I 5.0	I 0.4	1 1.5	I		
		-	T	[	I	I	I	I		
		3	I 73	0 1	I 29	1 33	1 44	I 179		
VΩ	CATIONAL			0.0	1 16.2	I 18.4	1 24.6	I 22.5	ere ere er	
-			1 26.4	C• C	I 16.1	1 46.5	1 17.5	I		
			<u> </u>	0.0	I 3.6	<u>I 4.1</u>	<u> 5.5</u>	<u>!</u>		
			1	[	1	1	1 101	1 .74		
	• NO RESPO	NICE	I 149 I 31.3	1 1.5	I 99 I 2C.8	I 30 I 6.3	1 191 I 40.1	1 476 I 59.7		
WLI	. NO RESPE	113 2 E	1 54.0	1 38.9	I 55.0	1 42.3	1 75.8	1 2741		
			1 18.7	0.9	I 12.4	I 3.8	I 24.0	T T		
	1.	_	1		1 14.7	[	. 27.0 [	î		
<del></del>	COI	HMN	276	13	180	71	252	797	<u></u>	
		DTAL	34.6	2.3	22.6	8.9	31.6	100.0		

FILE	NONAME	(CREATION	DATE =	02/04/74)
------	--------	-----------	--------	-----------

SEX		<u>ئى خات بى ئىدىسىسىد</u> د.			arania mana a manana ana	VALUE	2	FEMALE	
GRADE						VALUE	2 10		
* * * * * *	* * * *	* * * * *	* * * *	* * * *	* * * * *	* * * *	* * * * *	* * * *	* * * * * *
									· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
		SCHOOL							
	COUNT					and the second of the second			
R	DW PCT	IFT PIERC	JOHN CAR	MARTIN C	OKEECHOB	VERO BEA			
C	OL PCT	IE CENTRL		*****************************	EE	СН	VR ACDMY		
T	OT PCT	I1	I 2	I 3	I 4	<u> 5</u>			
PROGRAM -		I	I	[	I	I	I	I	
	0	I 0	I 0	1 2	I 0 1	-	0	1 2	•
·	· · ·	I 6.0			1 0.0	1 0.0	I 0.0	0.3	
		I 0.0	0.0	1.0	I 0.0	I 0.0	0.0	I	
		1 0.0	1 0.0	I C.3	I 0.0	0.0	0.0	[	
		I	I	I	I	<u> </u>	I	I	
	1		I 5		I 6 1	8	1 0	74	
GENERAL		I 45.9	I 6.8		I 8-1		I 0.0	9.6	
		I 13.0	1 19.2	1 10.5	I 9.7	3.8	0.0	<u> </u>	•
		1 4.4	I 0.7	I 2.7	I 0.8	1.0	0.0	<u>I</u>	
		· I	I	I	I	I	I	<u> </u>	
	2		I 13 1	41	I 5	I 24	<u> 6</u>	1 125	
COLLEGE PR	ĘΡ	I 28.8	I 10.4			19.2	1 4.8	16.3	
		I 13.7	I 50.0	r 20.5	I 8.1		1 100.0	! •	
	·	<u>I 4.7</u>	1.7	5.3	I 0.7	3.1	0.8	and the same of th	
		I	1	I	1		[]	ı I 75	
1100 17 701111	3	1 24	1 4	I 21	1 12	I 14 I 18.7	I 0.0	I 75	
VOCATIONAL		I 32.0	I 5.3	1 28.0	I 16.0				
		I 9.2	1 15.4	I 10.5	I 19.4			7	
		I 3.1	I 0.5	I 2.7	I 1.6	1.8	I 0.0	3 <b>7</b>	
		1 1/2		1 116	I 39	للانشوار ويتوسب الم		I 492	•
NO NO 056	90NCE	I 168	I 4	I 115	1 39 I 7.9	I 166 I 33.7	I 0 I	I 64.1	
NO, NO RES	トロがった	I 34-1	I 0.8 I 15.4	I 23.4 I 57.5	I 62.9	1 33.7 1 78.3	0.0	r omer	
		I 64.1		I 15.0	I 62.9 I		I 0.0	<u> </u>	
:		I 21.9	I 0.5	1 15.0°	1 2.1 T	1 21.5	Ξ .	1 T	
_	OLUMN -	262	26	200	62	212	6	768	
	TOTAL		3.4	26.0	8.1	27.6	0.8	100.0	

•	IA TITETTATE	DACKAGE	FOR	THE SOCIAL	SCIENCES	SPSSH - VERSION 5.	.01

02/04/74

FILE NONAME (CREATION DATE = 02/04/74)

		AM IN HIGH	H SCHOOL		STABU	BY	O N D F SCHOOL	
	CONTROLLING FOR						F 1	MALE
	GRADE							***************************************
	* * = * * * * * *	* * * * * *	* * * * *	* * * *	* * * * *	* * * *	* * * * *	* * * * * * * * *
	COUNT	SCHOOL I	•			the state of the s		
							A SAINT ED	ROW
		IE CENTRL	ROL	OUNTY	EE	СН	WARD	TOTAL
	TOT PCT	I 1	I 2	I 3	I 4	I 5	I 7 1	
	PROGRAM1	I 23	[ [ 4	I 7	I 10	I I 17	I 0	I I 61
	GENERAL	I 37.7	5.5	I 11.5	4	I 27.9		I 10.2
	·	I 15.2	19.0	I 4.1	I 14.9	I 9.5		I
		I 3.8	I 0.7	I 1.2	I 1.7	I 2.8	1 0.0	I
	·	· I	!	I	I	I	- I	I
	2	I 17	7 5	I 43	1 5	I 13	11	1 94
	COLLEGE PREP	I 18.1	I 5.3	1 45.7	I 5.3	I 13.8		1 15.7
_	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	I 11.3	I 23.8	I 25.1	I 7.5	1 7.3	I_100.0	ľ
		I 2.8	0.9	I 7.2	I 0.8	I 2.2	I 1.8	I
		-I I	I	I	I	I	- I	
	3		6	I 58	I 31	1 32	I0	1 173
	VOCATIONAL	I 26.6	3.5	I 33.5	1 17.9	1 18.5	1 0.0	1 28.8
		I 30.5	I 28.5	1 33.9	I 46.3	I 17.9	I 0.0 1	t.
_		I 7.7	1.0	I 9.7	I 5.2	I 5.3	I 0.0	<u> </u>
		. [	[	[	I	I	- I	I
	4	1 65	1 5	I 63	I 21	I 117	I 0	1 272
	NO, NO RESPONSE	I 23.9		I 23.2	1 7.7	I 43.0	1 0.0	1 45.3
		I 43.0	29.6	I 36.8	1 31.3	1 65.4	I 0.0 1	
	•	I 10.9	1.0	I 10.5	I 3.5	I 19.5	I 0.0	<u>[</u>
		[ ]	[	I	<u> </u>	I	-1	<u> </u>
	COLUMN	151	21	171	67	179	11	600
	TOTAL	25.2	3.5	28.5	11.2	29.5	1.8	100.0

#### STATISTICAL PACKAGE FOR THE SOCIAL SCIENCES SPSSH - VERSION 5.01

02/04/74

FILE NONAME (CREATION DATE = 02/04/74)

11	* * * * * *		* * * CROSSTA		OF * * * * * * * * * *
2	PROGRAM	PROGRAM IN HIGH	SCHOOL	BY SCHOOL	
3	CONTROLLING	FOR.			to have a second of the second
4	SEX			VALUE	2 FEMALE
5	GRADE			VALUE	11
5	* * * * * *	* * * * * * * * *	* * * * * * * * * * * * *	* * * * * * * *	* * * * * * * * * * * *

#### SCHOOL CCUNT I ROW PCT IFT PIERC JOHN CAR MARTIN C OKEECHOB VERO BEA INDIAN R SAINT ED ROW OUNTY EE CH VR ACDMY WARD PROGRAM 2 Ī 0 I 0 I 0 I 0 I 0 I 0.0 I 100.0 I 0.C I 0.0 I 0.0 I 0.0 0.0 I 0.0 I 0.0 I 1.1 I 0.0 I 0.0 I 0.0 0.0 I 0.3 I 0.0 I 0.0 I 0.0 1 I 0.0 I 2 I 16 I 8 I 13 I 14 I 53 3.8 I 15.1 I 24.5 I 26.4 I 0.0 I 0.0 I I 30.2 I 9.2 I 8.0 I 4.4 I 26.5 I 7.0 I 0.0 I 0.0 1.3 I 2.1 I 2. 2 I 28 I 68 I 119 4.2 I 57.1 I 7.6 I 0.0 I I 23.5 I 3.4 I COLLEGE PREP I 16.2 I 20.0 I 37.8 I 8.2 I 4.5 I 0.0 I 100.0 I 0.8 I 10.8 I 0.6 I 1.4 I 0.0 I 38 I 8.1 I 28.2 I 0.0 0.0 I VOCATIONAL I 27.4 I 5.6 I 3C.6 I I 19.7 I 28.0 I 21.1 I 20.4 I 17.6 I 0.0 I 0.0 I 1.1 I 6.0 I 1.6 I 5.5 I 0.0 I 64 I 141 I 334 3.3 I 19.2 I 6.6 42.2 I 0.0 I NO, NO RESPONSE I 28-4 I 0.3 44.0 I 35.6 I 44.9 I 70.9 I 100.0 I I 54.9 I 1.7 ! 10.1 I 3.5 I 22.3 I 0.2 I I 15.0 I 49 7.8 173 180 199 632 100.0

#### STATISTICAL PACKAGE FOR THE SOCIAL SCIENCES SPSSH - VERSION 5.01

02/04/74

FILE NONAME (CREATION DATE = 02/04/74)

		M IN HIGH	H SCHOOL			LATI BY S		* * * * * * *
	CONTROLLING FOR							
	SE X					VALUE	•• 1	MALE
	GRADE					VALUE	***	
	* * * * * * * * * *	* * * * *	* * * * *	* * * *	* * * * *	* * * *	* * * * *	* * * * * * * * *
		SCHOOL						
	COUNT						100	
			IOHN CAR	MARTIN C	DK EECHOB	VERO REA	INDIAN R	RNW
. •	COL PCT			DUNTY	EE	CH	VR ACDMY	TOTAL
	TOT PCT		I 2	I 3	I 4	I 5	I 6 I	
	PROGRAM		I	i	I	Ī	[ ]	
	1 1	20 1	1 1 1	. 2	I 6	1 13	I 0 1	T 42
	GFNE RAL 1	47.6	I 2.4	1 4.8	I 14.3	I 31.0	I 0.0 I	9.0
	1	13.0 1	11.1	2.1	I 13.3	I 8.2	I 0.0 1	
		4.3	I 0.2	I C.4	1.3	I 2.8	1 0.0	
			I	I	<u> </u>	I	[]	
	2 I	27	. 3	25	1 5	I 24	•	90
	COLLEGE PREP	30.0	1 3.3	27.8			-	19.3
-		[ 17.5 ] [ 5.8 ]	I 33.3 I 0.6	<u> </u>	I 13.3	I 15.2 I 5.2	I 100.0 I	
			I U.O		1 1.J	1 2.2	I 1 • I I	
	3 1	50	1 4	15	I 10	i I 34	i o i	113
•	VOCAT IONAL	44.2	3.5	13.3	i 8.8	]		24.2
		32.5	I 44.4		I 22.2	1 21.5	I 0.0 I	
		10.7	0.9	3 .2	I 2.1	I 7.3	I 0.0 1	
		[ ]	[	[	I	I	I 1	
	4 1	57	I l	I 53	I 23	I 87	I 0 1	221
	NO, NO RESPONSE 1	[ <b>2</b> 5.8 ]	0.5	24.0	I 10.4	I 39.4	1 0.0 1	47.4
	1	[ 37 •0 ]	11-1	55.8	I 51.1	I 55.1	I 0.0 I	
	Ĭ	12.2	0.2	11.4	I 4.9	I 18.7	I 0.0 I	·
				[	I	1	I ]	!
	COLUMN	154	9	95	45	158	5	466
	TOTAL	33.0	1.9	20.4	9.7	33.4	1.1	100.0

#### STATISTICAL PACKAGE FOR THE SOCIAL SCIENCES SPSSH - VERSION 5.01 02/04/74 FILE NONAME (CREATION DATE = 02/04/74) \* \* \* \* \* \* \* \* \* \* \* \* \* \* \* \* \* CROSSTABULATION OF PROGRAM PROGRAM IN HIGH SCHOOL BY SCHOOL CONTROLLING FOR.. VALUE.. 2 FEMALE SF X ..... GR ADE VALUE.. 12 SCHOOL COUNT I ROW PCT IFT PIERC JOHN CAR MARTIN C OKEECHOB VEPO BEA INDIAN R ROW COL PCT IE CENTRL ROL OUNTY EE CH VR ACDMY TOTAL PROGRAM 0 1 6 I 13 I 0 I 40 1 I 20 I I 50.0 I 2.5 I 0.0 I 15.0 I 32.5 I 0.0 I 8.3 I 10.2 I 0.0 I 18.2 I 8.4 I 0.0 I 0.0 I 1.2 I 2.7 I 0.0 I 5.9 I C.O I 18.2 I O.2 I O.O I 1.2 I 0.0 I 6 I 13 I 2 I 2 I 30 I COLLEGE PREP I 37.0 I 7.4 I 16.0 I 2.5 I 29.6 I 7.4 I 16.8 I 15.2 I 35.3 I 17.6 I 6.1 I 15.6 I 100.0 I I 6.2 I 1.2 I 2.7 I 0.4 I 5.0 I 1.2 8 I 19 I 10 I 50 I I 39.0 I 5.0 I 11.9 I 6.3 I 37.7 I 0.0 I 33.1 VOCATIONAL I 31.5 I 47.1 I 25.7 I 30.3 I 39.0 I 0.0 I I 12.9 I 1.7 I 4.0 I 2.1 I 12.5 ! 0.0 I 4 Î 85 Î 2 Î 42 Î 15 Î 57 Î NO, NO RESPONSE Î 42.3 Î 1.0 Î 20.9 Î 7.5 Î 28.4 Î 15 Ī 0.0 I I 43.1 I 11.8 I 56.8 I 45.5 I 37.0 I 0.0 I I 17.7 I 0.4 I 8.7 I 3.1 I 11.9 I 0.0 I 74 33 1 97 154 COLUMN 6 481 6.9 41.0 15.4 NUMBER OF MISSING OBSERVATIONS =

#### APPENDIX G

RESPONDENTS' PLANS AFTER HIGH SCHOOL

PLANS AFTER HIGH SCHOOL OF 10TH GRADE STUDENTS IN A FOUR-COUNTY AREA OF FLORIDA

		No Response	Vocational or Technical Education	Business School	Community College	Four-Year College or University	Military Service	Apprenticeship or On-Job Training	No Further Training	Undecided	Total
Ft. Pierce Central		•									
	M	37	15	10	36	47	24	38	5	68,	275
	F	34	6,	24	49	45	4	14	4	81	261
John Carroll	М		1		4	10				2	17
	F	1.	1		9	7				8	26
Okee- Martin chobee County	М	11	8	3	16	54	23	15	2	45	177
	F	21	8	12	32	48	8	7	7	5 <b>7</b>	200
	<b>M</b> ::	12	6	,	4	17	7	6	3	16	71
	F	6	3	2	8	11		1	2	29	62
Vero Beach	М	27	15	5	28	68	24	16	4	64	251
	F	23	2	11	. 35	47	5	9	7	73	212
Indian River Academy	M F				3	1				2	6
Saint Edwards	M		,	<del></del>	<del></del>			·			
	F										
Male		87	45	18	88	196	78	75	14	190	791
Female		85	20	49	136	159	<b>17</b> ,	31	20	250	767
Combined	Tota1	172	65	67	224	35.5	95	106	34	440	1,558

PLANS AFTER HIGH SCHOOL OF 11TH GRADE STUDENTS IN A FOUR-COUNTY AREA OF FLORIDA

		Response	Vocational or Technical Education	Business School	Community College	Four-Year College or University	Military Service	Apprenticeship or On-Job Training	Further Training	Undecided	Total
<del></del>		No	ŏ ij	В	8	For	Ä	A <sub>I</sub>	No	Ь	Ĕ
Ft. Pierce Central	М	25	5	2	30	27 .	16	18	1	27	151
	F	13	8	. 7	45	29	7	6	3	55	173
John Carroll	М	2	1		8	5	· · · · · ·	2	1	2	21
	F	1	2		9	6	1	. 1		5	25
Martin	М	9	12	4	23	43	15	18	4	43	171
	F	20	5	5	42	35	7	10	7	49	180
Okee- chobee	M	10	5	2	9	14	3	1	3	20	67
	F	2	4	3	10	6		1	4	19	49
Vero Beach	М	21	10	4	30	45	17	16	3	33	179
	F	14	15	12	46	47	5	6	3	51	199
Indian River Academy	M									•	
	F			•	1						1
Saint Edwards	М	1	2	2		5			<del></del>	1	11,
	F					. 3			1	1	5
Male		6.8	35	12	102	139	51	55	12	126	600
Female		50	34	27	153	126	20	24	18	180	632
Combined	Total	118	69	39	255	265	71	79	30	306	1,232

PLANS AFTER HIGH SCHOOL OF 12TH GRADE STUDENTS
IN A FOUR-COUNTY AREA OF FLORIDA

		No Response	Vocational or Technical Education	Business School	Community College	Four-Year College or University	Military Service	Apprenticeship or On-Job Training	No Further Training	Undecided	Total
erce al	М	20	9	2	46	33	10	17	1	16	154
Ft. Pierce Central	<b>F</b>	14	12	17	69	21	1	9	12	42	197
n 011	M	1	2		3	1	1	<del></del>		1	9
John Carroll	<b>F</b>	1			10	2		3	1		17
Martin County	M	8	1		31	25	8	8	2	11	94
Mar	F	5	4	1	27.	16		4	7	10	74
	M	3	3	1	15	5	3	3	4	8	45
Oke	F		1	1	9	3		1	7	11	33
Vero Beach	M	9	11	2	32	53	7	18	3	23	158
Re Be	<u>F</u> .	3_	8	1	54	39	2	12	5	30	154
Rivel	М		1		1			1	1	1	5
Indian River Vero Okee- Academy Beach chobee	F .				3	1			1	1	6, 1
nt rds	M						· · · ·	7 .			, , <del>, ,, ,,</del>
Saint Edwards	F					****	. <u> </u>	···	, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,		···· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
Male		41	27	5	128	117	29	47	11	60	465
Female		23	25	20	172	82	3	29	33	94	481
Combined	lTotal	64	52	25	300	199	32 .	76	44	154	946

## APPENDIX H

VOCATIONAL PREFERENCE OF RESPONDENTS

FIRST CHOICE OF VOCATIONAL PREFERENCE, 10TH GRADE

					Dis	stribut	ion by	School .	and Sex								
		Pierce tral	Joh Carr		Mar Cou		0keecl	obee	Ver Bea			n River demy	Saint Edwards	To	tal		
Preference	M	F	M	F	М	F	м	F	M	F	М	r	M F	M	F	Combined Total	Percent
Hospitality & Recreation	12	1			. 12	6		1	26	9		-		50	17	67	4.3
Business & Office	12	51		4	8	35	4	18	8	30		- 2		32	140	172	11.0
Marketing & Distribution	14	9		2	3	2	1		6	9		2		24	24	48	3.1
Public Service	19	21			12	7	. 8	3	21	6				60	37	97	6.2
Manufacturing	13		•		2		2		4					21		21	1.4
Environmental Control	6					1			3					9	1	10	0.6
Fine Arts & Humanities	4	7		3	5	6			5	9				14	25	39	2.5
Agriculture & Natural Resources	11	7	2	2	14	8	18	2	14	7				59	26	85	5.5
Health Occupations	9	56	3	9	11	28	. 5	11	15	33		1		43	138	181	11.6
Personal Service	2	10			1	7		6	1	2				4	25	29	1.9
Communications & Media Occupations	12	5			4	9	1		. 1	1			•	18	15	33	2.1
Transportation	5	10	1		5	. 11		2	10	5				21	28	. 49	3.2
Marine Science	3		2		14	5			5	1				24	6	30	1.9
Consumer & Homemaking	7	37		1	1	23		1	6	31				14	93	107	6.9
Self-Employed																	
Unemployed or None	38	25	3	2	33	29	13	13	46	45				133	114	247	15.8
Retired																	
Craftsman	100	4	4	•	32	2	15		43	1				194	7	201	12.9
Professional	8	17	2	3	18	21	4	5	37	23				6 <b>9</b>	70	139	8.9
No Response		1			2			-	0					2	1	3	0.2
Total	275	261	17	26	177	200	71	62	251	212		6		791	767	1,558	100.0

## SECOND CHOICE OF VOCATIONAL PREFERENCE, 10TH GRADE

			-		Dis	tributi	on by So	chool										
		Pierce tral	Joh Carr		Mari		0keed	hobee	Ve Be	ro ach	Indian	River Memy	Sai Edwa		To	tal		
Preference	M	F	M	F	H	F	н	F	М	F	M	F	М	F	M	F	Combined Total	Percent
Hospitality &						_	_											
Recreation	8	1			- 7	5	1		19	10					35	51	51	3.3
Business & Office	8	32	3	1	9	28		9.	10	19		2			30	91	121	7.8
Marketing & Distribution	8	15		3	5	2	1	2	5	3					19	25	. 44	2.8
Public Service	18	29	1	3	7	14	4	5	13	7					43	49	92	5.9
Manufacturing .	6		-		4				. 7						17		17	1.1
Environmental Control	1				2		1		2						6		6	0.4
Fine Arts & Humanities	. 3	7			4	4	2		8	7					. 17	**	35	2.2
Agriculture & Natural Resources	8	5		2	10	11	13	1	17	6					48	25	73	4.7
Health Occupations	11	46	2	3	8	31	3	10	14	26		4			38	120	158	10.1
Personal Service	1	10			1	3		3		11					2	27	29	1.9
Communications & Media Occupations	. 5	7		1	5	6			7	3					17	17	34	2.2
Transportation	2	11			8	8	2		12	9					. 24	28	52	3.3
Marine Science	7	2	1	1	4	4			6	1					18	8	26	1.7
Consumer & Homemaking	5	33		2	1	21		5	5	. 27			٠		11	88	99	6.3
Self-Employed									· 1			-			1		· 1	0.1
Unemployed or None	15	14		1		2									15	17	32	2.0
Ret1red																		
Craftsman	107	4	5	1	36	5	24	1	33						205	11	216	13.9
Professional	7	17	3	6	16	15	2	7	17	17					45	62	107	6.9
No Response	55	37	2	2	50	41	18	19	75	66					200	165	365	23.4
Total	275	261	17	26	177	200	71	62	251	212		6			<b>79</b> 1	<b>7</b> 67	1,558	100.0

THIRD CHOICE OF VOCATIONAL PREFERENCE, 10TH GRADE

					Dis	tributi	on by So	chool as	ıd Sex									
		Pierce tral	Joh Cari		Mar		0keecl	ıobee	Ve Be	ro ach		n River demy	Sai Edwa	int irds	Tot	al		
Preference	м	F	М	F	м	F	м	F	м	F	М	F	М	F	М	F	Combined Total	Percent
Hospitality & Recreation	5	2			3	7			16	9		1			24	19	43	2.8
Business & Office	4	36		5	6	21	2	7	2	10					14	79	93	6.0
Marketing & Distribution	16	14			2	1	2	1	10	3					30	19	49	3.2
Public Service	15	17	1		12	10	2	6	. 8	8		1			38	42	80	5.1
Manufacturing	13	1			1				4						18	1	19	1.2
Environmental Control	3					1		1							4.	1	5	0.3
Fine Arts & Humanities		1		2	6	4		1	6	5					12	13	25	1.6
Agricultural & Natural Resources	9	4			7	5	9.	1	16	4					41	14	55	3.5
Health Occupations	7	35	1	4	6	28	3	10	9	20		1			26	98	124	8.0
Personal Service	2	10				5		1		7		1			2	24	26	1.7
Communications & Media Services	5	3			2	4			7	3					14	10	24	1.5
Transportation	4	6	1		5	6	7		6	6					23	18	41	2.6
Marine Science	6		1		5	1	1		2						15	1	16	1.0
Consumer & Homemaking	3	28		4		23	1	5	4	23					8	83	91	5.8
Self-Employed								-										
Unemployed or None	7	5													7	5	12	0.8
Retired													:					
Craftsman	68	3	4		32	1	13		30						147	4	151	9.7
Professional	8	19	. 3	4	15	14	1	3	19	18					46	58	104	6.7
No Response	100	77	. 6	7	75	69	30	27	111	96		2			322	228	600	38.5
Total	275	261	17	26	.177	200	71	62	251	212		6			791	767	1,558	100.0

FIRST CHOICE OF VOCATIONAL PREFERENCE, 11TH GRADE

					Di	stribut	ion by S	School	and Sex									
		Pierce tral	Jo Car	hn roll	Mar Cou		Okeecl	hobee	Ve Be	ro ach		n River demy	Sai Edwa		To	tal		
Preference	M	F	M	r	м	F	M	F	M	F	M	P	M	F	. М	P	Combined Total	Percent
Hospitality & Recreation	6	1			12	7	1		9	3					28	11	39	3.2
Business & Office	. 6	30		3	10	31	6	14	8	26			2	1	32	105	137	11.1
Marketing & Distribution	6	4	1	1	4	2	2	5	2	4			1		16	16	32	2.6
Public Service	11	6	1		. 3	9	3 -		6	7					24	22	46	3.7
Manufacturing	4				. 5		1		; g						19		19	1.5
Environmental Control															-			
Fine Arts & Humanities	2	.3	•		8	8	1		. 6	7				2	17	20	. 37	3.0
Agricultural & Natural Resources	· .5	7	1	1	13	3	11	1	12	4				1	42	17	59	4.8
Health Occupations	7	39	3	7	9	36	1	5	9	43		1	3	1	32	132	164	13.3
Personal Services		6		1		3		3		5						1,8	18	1.5
Communications & Media Services	2	8	2		6	7			6	2			1		17	17	34 .	2.8
Transportation	2	10			8	5	3		. 8	8			1		22	23	45	3.7
Marine Science	2		. 1	• 1	3	2	2		3	1			1		12	4	16	1.3
Consumer & Howemaking	. 4	13		2	1	12		2	1	34					6	63	69	5.6
Self-Employment								1								1	1	0.1
Unemployment or None	27	28	4	6	28	23	8	13	42	37			1		110	107	217	17.6
Retired																		
Craftsman	51		5		46	-	21	2	35				1		159	2	161	13.1
Professional	14	16	3	3	15	31	7		23	18					62	68	130	10.6
No Response	2	2				1		3							2	6	6	0.5
Total	151	173	21	25	, 171	180	- 67	49	179	199		1.	11	5	600	632	1,232	100.0

## SECOND CHOICE OF VOCATIONAL PREFERENCE, 11TH GRADE

					Dis	tributi	on by So	chool an	d Sex									
		Pierce tral	Job Carr		Mar Cou		0keecl	obee	Ve: Bea	ro ach		n River demy	Sai Edwa			tal		•
Preference	М	F	M	F	M	F	м	F	М	F	М	F	м	F	М	F	Combined Total	Percent
Hospitality & Recreation	2				2	3	3	8	6	2					13	13	26	2.1
Business & Office	7	30	1	4	8	21	3	6	6	14		1			25	76	101	8.2
Marketing & Distribution	3	7	. 1	1	2	3	2	2	3	8					11	21	32	2.6
Public Service	9	10		1	5	10	2	4	4	10				1	20	32	52	4.2
Manufacturing	5				8		1		2						16		16	1.3
Environmental Control	1								1						2		2	0.2
Fine Arts & Humanities	1	5		2	. 5	3		1	9	8					15	19	34	2.8
Agriculture & Natural Resources	4	5	1		14	3	11	1	8	3			3		41	12	53	4.3
Health Occupations	5	37	1	2	8	32	1	4	1	29			. 1	3	17	107	124	10.0
Personal Service		. 3				6		2		6				1		18	18	1.5
Communications & Media Occupations	4	2	1	1	5	7			6	1					16	11	27	2.2
Transportation	3	3	1		4	9	2	1	8	5			1		19	18	37	3.0
Marine Science	· 2	1	2	1	3		1		3				1		12	2	14	1.1
Consumer & Homemaking	3	15		1	1	14		3		38					4	71	75	6.1
Self-Employed							·											
Unemployed or None	15	1				1			1	3					16	5	21	1.7
Retired										-							-	
Craftsman	42		4		49		22		49				1		167		167	13.6
Professional	6	14	3	2	10	26	5	3	17	20					41	65	106	8.6
No Response	39	40	6	10	47	42	14	18	55	52			4		165	162	327	26.5
Total	151	173	21	25	171	180	67	49	179	199		1	11	5	600	632	1,232	100.0

THIRD CHOICE OF VOCATIONAL PREFERENCE, 11TH GRADE

		·			Dis	t <b>ri</b> buti	on by So	chool a	nd Sex									
	Fort I	ierce ral	Joh Carr		Mar		Okeecl	nobee	Ve Be	ro ach		n River demy	Sai Edwa		To	tal		
Preference	М	F	М	F	М	F	М	F	м	F	м	F	M	F	м	F	Combined Total	Percent
Hospitality & Recreation	1				1	4	1	1	9	1		-			12	6	18	1.5
Business & Office	3	13	2		6	13	1	4	3	17			1	1	16	48	64	5.2
Marketing & Distribution	9	7		1	1	5	1	3	3	2					14	18	32	2.6
Public Service	5	12		1	7	13	6	1	6	14					24	41	65	5.3
Manufacturing					5		1		9						15		15	1.2
Environmental Control					2										2		2	0.2
Fine Arts & Humanities	. 1	3				4		. 1		6					1	14	15	1.2
Agricultural & Natural Resources	5	5		1	13	4	8	.3	,9	7			1.	1	36	21	57	4.6
Health Occupations	5	27	1	2	7	17	2	3	3	23		1		1	18	74	92	7.5
Personal Service		6				2				6					14	14	14	1.1
Communications & Media Services					1	4	1		. <b>3</b>	2					5	6	11	0.9
Transportation	4	. 2			2	1	3	2	4	5					13	10	23	1.9
farine Science	1	2	1		3	1			1					1	7	. 3	10	0.8
Consumer & Homemaking		7		2	1	19		. 4	1	24					2	56	58	4.7
Self-Employed																		
nemployed or None		1								1						2	2	0.2
etired					1										1		1	0.1
rafteman	38	1	5		33	4	14		33	1				1	124	6	130	10,5
rofessional	11	10	2	1	9	8	2	1	15	7				1	39	28	67	5.4
lo Response	68	. 77.	10	17	79	81	27	26	80	83			7	1	271	285	556	45.1
Total	151	173	21	25	171	180	67	49	179	199		1	11	5	600	632	1,232	100.0

FIRST CHOICE OF VOCATIONAL PREFERENCE, 12TH GRADE

					Dia	stribut	ion by	School	and Sex									
	Fort I	Pierce tral	Joh Carr		Mari Cour		0keecl	nobee	Ve Be	ro ach		n River demy	Sa: Edwa	int irds	То	tal		
Preference	м	F	M	F	м	F	м	F	м	F	. м	F	M	F	М	F	Combined Total	Percent
Hospitality & Recreation	4	1			4	4	1	1	6	3					15	9	24	2.5
Business & Office	12	54		. 6	7	. 7		5	16	33					. 35	105	140	14.8
Marketing & Distribution	. 3	15				1	1		1	10		1			5	27	32	3.5
Public Service	8	8			. 6	3	2	1	8	4	. 1	1			25	17	42	4.4
Manufacturing	1		1		. 2				2		1				7		7	0.7
Environmental Control	2														2		2	0.2
Fine Arts & Humanities	4	7			6	1			4	6					14	14	28	3.0
Agricultural & Natural Resources	4	8		1	9	5	13	2	11	2					37	18	55	5.8
Health Occupations	9	23		3	5	13	4	3 -	15	29					33	71	104	11.0
Personal Service	1	5				1		1	1	2					2	9	11	1.2
Communications & Media Occupations	7	<sub>2</sub>	2	1	4	1			4	. 6					17	10	27	2.8
Transportation	2	4			3	2	2		4	1	1				12	7	19	2.0
Marine Science	1.	3			2				4		. 1	2			8	5	13	1.4
Consumer & Homemaking	1	.15		3	3	5		5	1	11					5	39	44	4.6
Self-Employed									1						1		1	0.1
Inemployed or None	38	30	1	1	18	16	9	13	33	30	1	1			100	91	191	20.2
Retired		1														1	1	0.1
Craftsman	44	4	3		13	1	11		28	1					99	6 .	105	11.1
rofessional	13	17	1	2	12	14	2	2	19	16		1			47	52	99	10.5
lo Response			1		-										1		. 1	0.1
Total	154	197	9	17	94	74	45	33	158	154	. 5	6			465	481	946	100.0

## SECOND CHOICE OF VOCATIONAL PREFERENCE, 12TH GRADE

					Di	stribu	tion by	School	and Se	<u> </u>		_:						
	Fort 1	Pierce tral	Joh Carr		Mart Coun		0keecl	obee	Ve:	ro ach		n River demy		int erds	To	tal .		
Preference	м	F	м	F	м	F	м	F	м	F	м	F	М	F	М	F	Combined Total	Percent
Hospitality & Recreation	2	1			5	2		. 1	2	3					9	7	16	1.7
Business & Office	8	37		2	4	6	2	3	8	22					22	70	92	9.7
Marketing & Distribution	. 6	7		2			. 1	-	. 4	5					11	14	25	2.6
Public Service	9	8			5	3	2	1	2	6					18	18	36	3.8
Manufacturing	4	1			2		5		3						14	1	15	1.6
Environmental Control	2						1		1						4	•	4	0.4
Fine Arts & Humanities	5	1	1		4	4			2	4					12	9	21	2.2
Agriculture & Natural Resources	4	3	1	1	3	3	8	1	8	. 5		1			24	14	38	4.0
Health Occupations	4	26		. 1	5	6	4	1	15	19					28	53	81	8.6
Personal Service	2	3			•	2				3					2	8	10	1.1
Communications & Media Occupations	4	4			4	2			4	3					12	9	21	2.2
Transportation	1	5			1				4	3					6	8	14	1.5
Marine Science		1						1	2	1					2	2	4	0.4
Consumer & Homemaking		1.3		6		2		6	1	8					1	35	36	3.8
Self-Employed																		
Unemployed or None		1						1		1 -						3	3	0.3
Retired																		
Craftsman	38	4	3		18		9		30	1	1				99	5	104	11.0
Professional	8	15	2	3	6	8	3	2	15	18		3			34	49	83	8.8
No Response	. 56	67	2	2	37	36	10	17	57	52	4	2			167	176	343	36.3
Total	54	197	9	17	94 -	74	45	33	. 158	154	. 5	6			465	481	946	100.0

THIRD CHOICE OF VOCATIONAL PREFERENCE, 12TH GRADE

						Dist	ribut	lon by S	chool a	nd Sex									
	Fort Cen	Pierce tral		John arroll		Mart		0keecl	hobee	Ve Be	ro ach	Indian Acad	River lemy	Sai Edwa		To	tal	0-14-1	
Preference	н	F	н	F	_	М	F	н	F	М	F	м	F	м	F	м	F	Combined Total	Percent
iospitality & Recreation	.1	1		1		4	3	3	,	4				·.		13	4	17	1.8
dusiness & Office	6	15			2	1	1			: 5	10					12	28	40	4.2
Marketing & Distribution	7	4				. 1	1	1	1	6	4					15	10	25	2.7
ublic Service	6	7		L	1	6		2		4	8					19	16	35	3.7
anufacturing						2				1						3		3	0.3
nvironmental Control			•			1	•			3						4		4	0.4
ine Arts & Humanities	<b>3</b>	i., <b>4</b> .		L,		<b>3</b>	3			1	5					8	12	20	2.1
gricultural & Natural Resources	4	3					2	7		3	1		1			14	7	21	2.2
ealth Occupations	2	23			2	1	9	. 2	. 3	4	16					9	53	62	6.5
ersonal Service	1	5			1						. 6					1	12	13	1.4
mmunications & Media Services	4	5	-			. 2	2			4	1					10	8	18	1.9
ransportation	2	3	:	1		1		2	. 1	3						9	4 .	13	1.4
arine Science	1				1	1					1					2	2	4	0.4
onsumer & Homemaking		15			1		4		3	1	. 11		1			1	35	36	.3.8
elf-Employed	1							1		1						3		3	0.3
nemployed or None																			
tired						1										1		1	0.1
aftsman	30	1	. :	2 ,		13		10		23		1				79	. 1	80	8.5
ofessional	. 6	. 7	:	L	2	5	2	. 3	1	9	7		1			24	20	44	4.7
Response	80	104	2	2 :	7	52	47	14	24	86	84	4	3			238	269	507	53.6
Total	154	197	9	) 1	7	94	74	45	33	158	154	5	6			465	481	946	100.0

### APPENDIX I

VOCATIONAL CHOICE OF RESPONDENTS AS COMPARED

TO OCCUPATION OF PARENT

FIRST CHOICE OF A VOCATION THE SAME AS PARENT FOR GRADES 10, 11, AND 12, FORT PIERCE CENTRAL

		Grad	ie :	LO,		Grad	ie 1	.1		Grad	le 1	.2
	М	%	F	%	М	%	F	- %	М	%	F	%
Business & Office	1	0.4	2	0.8	1	0.7	2	1.2	1	0.6	3	1.5
Marketing & Distribution	1	0.4	2	0.8	1	0.7	1	0.6	1	0.6	1	0.5
Public Service	1	0.4	2	0.8	0	0.0	. 0	0.0	3	1.9	0	0.0
Manufacturing	4	1.5	0	0.0	1	0.7	0	0.0	1	0.6	0	0.0
Agriculture & Natural Resources	7	2.5	3	1.1	1	0.7	2	1.2	0	. 0.0	3	1.5
Health Occupations	0	0.0	2	0.8	0	0.0	3	1.7	1	0.6	0	0.0
Communications & Media Occupations	1	0.4	2	0.8	1	0.7	1	0.6	0	0.0	0	0.0
Marine Science	0	0.0	0	0.0	1	0.7	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0
Consumer & Homemaking	2	0.7	7	2.7	1	0.7	3	1.7	0	0.0	3	1.5
Unemployed or None	10	3.6	7	2.7	7	4.6	3	1.7	14	9.1	6	3.0
Craftsman	17	6.2	0	0.0	8	5.3	0	0.0	8	5.2	. 0	0.0
Professional	1	0.4	3	1.1	1	0.7	2	1.2	3	1.9	4	2.0
Total	45	16.5	30	11.6	23	15.5	17	9.9	32	20.5	20	10.0

SECOND CHOICE OF A VOCATION THE SAME AS PARENT FOR GRADES 10, 11, AND 12, FORT PIERCE CENTRAL

		Grad	e ;1	0		Grad	e 1	1		Grad	le 12	2 .
	М	%	F	%	М	%	F	%	М	%	F	%
Business & Office	0	0.0	2	0.8	2	1.3	2	1.2	1	0.6	3	1.5
Marketing & Distribution	1	0.4	0	0.0	0	0.0	2	1.2	2	1.3	1	0.5
Public Service	2	0.7	3	1.1	0	0.0	0	0.0	1 .	0.6	0	0.0
Manufacturing	2	0.7	0	0.0	1	0.7	0	0.0	1	0.6	1	0.5
Agriculture & Natural Resources	3	1.1	2	0.8	1	0.7	2	1.2	0	0.0	0	0.0
Health Occupations	0	0.0	1	0.4	0 ·	0.0	7	4.0	0 :	0.0	1	0.5
Personal Service	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0	1	0.6	0	0.0
Communications & Media Occupations	1	0.4	1	0.4	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0
Transportation	1	0.4	1	0.4	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0
Marine Science	0	0.0	0	0.0	1	0.7	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0
Consumer & Homemaking	1	0.4	1 .	0.4	1	0.7	2	1.2	0, 1	0.0	3, -	1.5
Unemployed or None	1	0.4	1	0.4	1	0.7	0	0.0	0 -	0.0	0 :	0.0
Craftsman	15	5.5	0	0.0	4	2.6	0	0.0	7	4.5	0	0.0
Professional	0 .	0.0	2	0.8	1	0.7	2	1.2	1 .	0.6	3	1.5
Total	27	10.0	14	5.5	12	8.1	17	10.0	14	8.8	12	6.0

THIRD CHOICE OF A VOCATION THE SAME AS PARENT FOR GRADES 10, 11, AND 12, FORT PIERCE CENTRAL

	Grade 10					Grad	e 1	1		Grad	e 1	2
	М	%	F	%	М	%	F	%	M	%	F	%
Business & Office	0	0.0	3	1.1	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0	1	0.5
Marketing & Distribution	2	0.7	1	0.4	0	0.0	1	0.6	2	1.3	0	0.0
Public Service	2	0.7	. 1	0.4	1	0.7	1	0.6	2	1.3	0	0.0
Manufacturing	2	0.7	0 .	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0	0 -	0.0
Agriculture & Natural Resources	2	0.7	2	0.8	1	0.7	2	1.2	1	0.6	0 -	0.0
Health Occupations	0	0.0	1	0.4	0	0.0	2	1.2	0	0.0	1	0.5
Personal Service	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0	1	0.6	0	0.0
Communications & Media Occupations	1	0.4	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0	1	0.5
Transportation	1	0.4	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0
Marine Science	0	0.0	0	0.0	1	0.7	0	0.0	0	0.0	Ō	0.0
Consumer & Homemaking	0	0.0	5	1.9	0	0.0	. 2	1.2	0	0.0	3	1.5
Craftsman	12	4.4	0	0.0	5	3.3	0	0.0	4	2.6	0	0.0
Professional	0	0.0	1	0.4	2	1.3	1	0.6	2	1.3	0	0.0
Total	22	8.0	14	5.4	10	6.7	9	5.4	12	7.7	6	3.0

FIRST CHOICE OF A VOCATION THE SAME AS PARENT FOR GRADES 10, 11, AND 12, MARTIN COUNTY

	Grade 10					Grad	le 1	1		Grad	e 1	2
	М	%	F	%	М	%	F	%	М	%	F	%
Business & Office	3	1.7	7	3.5	2	1.2	5	2.8	0	0.0	0	0.0
Marketing & Distribution	0 -	0.0	1	0.5	2	1.2	1	0.6	0	0.0	1	1.4
Manufacturing	1 ,	0.6	0	0.0	1	0.6	0	0.0	0	0.0	Ó	0.0
Fine Arts & Humanities	0	0.0	0	0.0	1	0.6	0	0.0	0	0.0	1	1.4
Agriculture & Natural Resources	4	2.2	0	0.0	2	1.2	0	0.0	1	1,1	0	0.0
Health Occupations	2	1.1	0	0.0	1	0.6	3	1.7	1	1.1	0	0.0
Communications & Media Occupations	1 :	0.6	1	0.5	. 0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0
Transportation	0 -	0.0	2	1.0	1	0.6	0	0.0	1	1.1	0	0.0
Marine Science	1	0.6	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0
Consumer & Homemaking	1	0.6	4	2.0	0	0.0	. 1	0.6	0	0.0	1	1.4
Unemployed or None	9	5.0	6	3.0	7	4.1	4	2.2	2	2.1	0	0.0
Craftsman	8	4.4	2	1.0	15	8.8	0	0.0	3	3.2	0	0.0
Professional	3	1.7	2 -	1,0	2,	1.2	2	1.1	1	1.1	3.	4.1
Total	31	18.5	25	12.5	34	20.1	16	9.0	9	9.7	6.	8.3

SECOND CHOICE OF A VOCATION THE SAME AS PARENT FOR GRADES 10, 11, AND 12, MARTIN COUNTY

	Grade 10					Grad	e 1	1		Grad	e 1	2
	М	%	F	%	М	%	F	%	М	%	F	%
Hospitality & Recreation	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0	1	0.6	0	0.0	0	0.0
Business & Office	3	1.7	5	2.5	1	0.6	. 2	1.1	0	0.0	0	0.0
Marketing & Distribution	0	0.0	. 1	0.5	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0
Public Service	1	0.6	1.	0.5	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0
Manufacturing	2	1.1	. 0	0.0	2	1.2	0	0.0	1	1.1	0	0.Q
Agriculture & Natural Resources	2	1.1	2	1.0	3	1.8	1	0.6	1	1.1	0	0.0
Health Occupations	1	0.6	0	0.0	1	0.6	2	1.1	1	1.1	0	0.0
Personal Service	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0	1	0.6	0	0.0	0	0.0
Communications & Media Occupations	2	1.1	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0
Transportation	1	0.6	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0	1.	1.1	0	0.0
Consumer & Homemaking	1	0.6	6	3.0	0	0.0	3	1.7	0	0.0	1	1.4
Craftsman	8	4.4	2	1.0	15	8.8	0	0.0	4	4.2	0	0.0
Professional	1	0.6	. 1	0.5	2	1.2	5	2.8	0	0.0	2	2.7
Total	22	12.4	18	9.0	24	14.2	15	8.5	7	8.6	3	4.1

THIRD CHOICE OF A VOCATION THE SAME AS PARENT FOR GRADES 10, 11, AND 12, MARTIN COUNTY

	Grade 10					Grad	e 1	1		Grad	e 1	2
	М	%	F	%	М	%	F	%	М	%	F	%
Hospitality & Recreation	0	0.0	1	0.5	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0	0 :	0.0
Business & Office	2	1.1	3	1.5	1	0.6	1	0.6	0	0.0	0	0.0
Public Service	0 .	0.0	2	1.0	0	0.0	2	1.1	0	0.0	0 :	0.0
Manufacturing	0	0.0	0	0.0	1	0.6	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0
Agriculture & Natural Resources	2	1.1	0	0.0	2	1.2	1	0.6	0	0.0	0	0.0
Health Occupations	1	0.6	1	0.5	0	0.0	1	0.6	0	0.0	Ò	0.0
Transportation	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0
Marine Science	1	0.6	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0
Consumer & Homemaking	0	0.0	· 7	3.5	0	0.0	1	0.6	0	0.0	0	0.0
Craftsman	8	4.4	1	0.5	14	8.2	1	0.6	2	2.1	0	0.0
Professional	0	0.0	2	1.0	1	0.6	1	0.6	1	1.1	0	0.0
No Response	1	0.6	1	0.5,	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0
Total	15	8.4	18	9.0	19	11.2	8	5.1	4	4.3	0	0.0

FIRST CHOICE OF A VOCATION THE SAME AS PARENT FOR GRADES 10, 11, AND 12, VERO BEACH

	Grade 10					Grad	ie 1	1		Grad	e 1	2
	М	%	F	%	М	%	F	%	М	%	F	%
Hospitality & Recreation	1	0.4	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0
Business & Office	0	0.0	6	2.8	1	0.6	4	2.0	1	0.6	1	0.6
Marketing & Distribution	2	0.8	1	0.5	1	0.6	3	1.5	1	0.6	4	2.6
Public Service	2	0.8	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0	1	0.6
Manufacturing	0	0.0	0	0.0	6	3.4	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0
Fine Arts & Humanities	1	0.4	0	0.0	0	0.0	. 0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0
Agriculture & Natural Resources	2	0.8	. 1	0.5	4	2.2	.0	0.0	5	3.2	0	0.0
Health Occupations	2	0.8	1	0.5	2	1.1	8	4.0	3	1.9	2 -	1.3
Personal Service	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0	. 1	0.5	0	0.0	0	0.0
Communications & Media Occupations	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0	1.	0.6
Transportation	2	0.8	. 0	0.0	0	0.0	. 1	0.5	1	0.6	0	0.0
Marine Science	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0	1	0.6	0	0.0
Consumer & Homemaking	1	0.4	7	3.3	0	0.0	3	1.5	0	0.0	0	0.0
Unemployed or None	13	5.2	8	3.8	7	3.9	4	2.0	5	3.2	2	1.3
Craftsman	12	4.8	0	0.0	10	5.6	0	0.0	7	4.4	0	0.0
Professional	4	1.6	2	0.9	6	3.4	0	0.0	3	1.9	0	0.0
Total	42	16.8	26	12.3	.37	20.8	24	12.0	27	17.0	11 ·	7.0

SECOND CHOICE OF A VOCATION THE SAME AS PARENT FOR GRADES 10, 11, AND 12, VERO BEACH

	Grade 10					Grad	e 1	1		Grad	e 1	2
	М	%	F	%	М	%	F	%	М	%	F	%
Business & Office	2	0.8	2	0.9	1	0.6	0	0.0	1	0.6	0	0.0
Marketing & Distribution	1	0.4	1	0.5	1	0.6	2	1.0	2	1.3	2	1.3
Public Service	3.	1.2	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0	1	0.6
Manufacturing	3	1.2	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0	1	0.6	0	0.0
Environmental Control	1	0.4	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0
Health Occupations	1	0.4	0.	0.0	0	0.0	2	1.0	1	0.6	2	1.3
Personal Service	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0	2	1.0	0	0.0	1	0.6
Communications & Media Occupations	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0	1	0.6
Transportation	2	0.8	1,	0.5	2	1.1	0	0.0	1	0.6	1	0.6
Consumer & Homemaking	1	0.4	7	3.3	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0
Unemployed or None	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0	1	0.6
Craftsman	8 :	3.2	0	0.0	8	4.5	0	0.0	9	5.7	0	0.0
Professional	1	0.4	1	0.5	3	1.7	3	1.5	1	0.6	2	1.3
Total	25	10.0	13	8.2	17	9.6	7	4.5	18	11.3	11	6.9

THIRD CHOICE OF A VOCATION THE SAME AS PARENT FOR GRADES 10, 11, AND 12, VERO BEACH

	Grade 10					Grad	e 1	1			Grad	e 1	2 :
	M	%	F	%	M	%	F	%	-	М	%	F	%
Business & Office	0	0.0	1	0.5	0	0.0	1	0.5	٠,	1	0.6	0	0.0
Marketing & Distribution	2	0.8	1	0,.5	0	0.0	0	0.0		0	0.0	1	0.6
Public Service	1	0.4	1 ·	0.5	0 -	0.0	1	0.5		0	0.0	2	1.3
Manufacturing	1	0.4	0	0.0′	4	2.2	0	0.0		0	0.0	0	0.0
Agriculture & Natural Resources	2	0.8	1	0.5	3	1.7	1	0.5		0	0.0	0	0.0
Health Occupations	2 ,	0.8	2	0.9	0	0.0	3	1.5		0	0.0	0	0.0
Personal Service	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0		0	0.0	1	0.6
Communications & Media Occupations	1	0.4	0, 1	0.0	0	0.0	0 :	0.0		0	0.0	0 .	0.0
Transportation	2	0.8	1 .	0.5	0	0.0	1	0.5		1	0.6	0	0.0
Consumer & Homemaking	2	0.8	3	1.4	0	0.0	. 0	0.0		0	0.0	0	0.0
Craftsman	5 .,	2.0	0	0.0	9	5.0	0	0.0		5	3.2	0	0.0
Professional	2	0.8	1	0.5	3	1.7	1	0.5		2	1.3	1	0.6
Total	20	8.0	<b>11</b> :	5.3	19	9.6	8	4.0		9	5.7	5	3.1

FIRST CHOICE OF A VOCATION THE SAME AS PARENT FOR GRADES 10, 11, AND 12, OKEECHOBEE

	Grade 10					Grad	e 1	.1		Grad	e 1	2
	М	%	F	%	M	%	F	%	M	. %	F	%
Business & Office	0	0.0	2	3.2	0	0.0	2	4.1	0	0.0	1	3.0
Public Service	0	0.0	0	0.0	1	1.5	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0
Manufacturing	1	1.4	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0
Agriculture & Natural Resources	13	18.3	1	1.6	6	9.0	1	2.0	6	13.3	0	0.0
Health Occupations	0	0.0	1	1.6	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0
Unemployed or None	2	2.8	0	0.0	2	3.0	2	4.1	3	6.7	0	0.0
Craftsman	2	2.8	0	0.0	5	7.5	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0
Professional	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0	1	3.0
Total	18	25.3	4	6.4	14	21.0	5	10.2	9	20.0	2	6.0

FIRST CHOICE OF A VOCATION THE SAME AS PARENT FOR GRADES 10, 11, AND 12, INDIAN RIVER ACADEMY

		Grad	e 10		Grad	le 1	.1		Grad	le 1	.2
	M	%	F %	<u> </u>	%	F	%	<u></u>	%	F	%
Professional	0	0.0	1 16.	7 0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0

SECOND CHOICE OF A VOCATION THE SAME AS PARENT FOR GRADES 10, 11, AND 12, OKEECHOBEE

	Grad	e 10	Grade 11	Grade 12
	М %	F %	M % F %	M % F %
Business & Office	0 0.0	1 1.6	0 0.0 2 4.1	0 0.0 1 3.0
Marketing & Distribution	1 1.4	0:0.0	0 0.0 0 0.0	0 0.0 1 2.2
Manufacturing	0 0.0	0 0.0	0 0.0 0 0.0	0 0.0 1 2.2
Agriculture & Natural Resources	8 11.3	1 1.6	9 13.4 1 2.0	5 11.1 0 0.0
Health Occupations	0 0.0	1 1.6	0 0.0 0 0.0	0 0.0 0 0.0
Transportation	1 1.4	0.0	0 0.0 0 0.0	0 0.0 0 0.0
Craftsman	2 2.8	1 1.6	3 4.5 0 0.0	0 0.0 0 0.0
Professional	0 0.0	0 = 0.0	0 0.0 2 4.1	0.0 0.0
Total	12 16.9	4 6.4	12 17.9 5 10.2	7 15.5 1 3.0

# THIRD CHOICE OF A VOCATION THE SAME AS PARENT FOR GRADES 10, 11, AND 12, INDIAN RIVER ACADEMY

		Grad	e 10		Grad	le 1	1		Grad	le 1	2
	М	%	F %	М	%	F	%	М	%	F	%
Personal Service	0	0.0	1 16.7	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0

THIRD CHOICE OF A VOCATION THE SAME AS PARENT FOR GRADES 10, 11, AND 12, OKEECHOBEE

	Grade 10					Grad	le 1	.1 .		Grad	le 1	.2
	М	%	F	%	М	%	F	%	М	%	F	%
Business & Office	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0	1	2.0	0	0.0	0	0.0
Marketing & Distribution	1	1.4	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0
Agriculture & Natural Resources	6	8.5	. 1	1.6	3	4.5	1	2.0	4	8.9	0	0.0
Transportation	1	1.4	0	0.0	1	1.5	O	0.0	1	2.2	0	0.0
Marine Science	1	1.4	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0
Craftsman	2	2.8	0	0.0	3	4.5	0	0.0	2	4.4	0	0.0
Professional	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0	1	2.0	1	2.2	0	0.0
Total	.11	15.5	. 1	1.6	7	10.5	3	6.0	8	17.7	0	0.0

## SECOND CHOICE OF A VOCATION THE SAME AS PARENT FOR GRADES 10, 11, AND 12, SAINT EDWARDS

	Grade 10					Grade 11					Grade 12				
	М	%	F	%		М	%	F	%	М	%	F	%		
Agriculture & Natural Resources		0.0	0	0.0		3	27.3	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0		

FIRST CHOICE OF A VOCATION THE SAME AS PARENT FOR GRADES 10, 11, AND 12, JOHN CARROLL

	Grade 10				Grade 11					Grade 12				
	М	%	F	%	М	%	F	%	М	%	F	%		
Business & Office	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0	1	5.9		
Manufacturing	0 :	0.0	0	0.0	.0	0.0	0	0.0	1	11.1	0	0.0		
Agriculture & Natural Resources	0	0.0	1	3.8	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0		
Health Occupations	0	0.0	2	7.7	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0		
Communications & Media Services	0	0.0	0	0.0	1 .	4.8	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0		
Consumer & Homemaking	0	0 •,0.	0	0.0	0	0.0	1	4.0	0	0.0	0	0.0		
Unemployed or None	0	0.0	0	0.0	1	4.8	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0		
Craftsman	2 ,	11.8	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0		
Professional	1	5.9	0	0.0	1	4.8	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0		
Total	3	17.7	3	11.5	3	14.4	1	4.0	1	11.1	ļ	5.9		

THIRD CHOICE OF A VOCATION THE SAME AS PARENT FOR GRADES 10, 11, AND 12, SAINT EDWARDS

		Grade 10				Gra	de 1	.1	Grade 12				
	М	%	F	%	М	%	F	%	М	%	F	%	
Agriculture & Natural Resources	0	0.0	0	0.0	1	9.1	· 0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0	

SECOND CHOICE OF A VOCATION THE SAME AS PARENT FOR GRADES 10, 11, AND 12, JOHN CARROLL

	Grade 10					Grad	1		Grade 12				
	М	%	F	%	М	%	F	%	M	%	F	%	
Business & Office	0	0.0	0	0.0	1	4.8	1	4.0	0	0.0	0	0.0	
Marketing & Distribution	0	0.0	3	11.5	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0	
Communications & Media Occupations	0	0.0	. 0	0.0	0	0.0	1	4.0	0	0.0	0	0.0	
Craftsman	1	5.9	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0	
Professional	0	0.0	2	7.7	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0	1	5.9	
Total	1	5.9	5	19.2	1	4.8	2	8.0	0	0.0	1	5.9	

THIRD CHOICE OF A VOCATION THE SAME AS PARENT FOR GRADES 10, 11, AND 12, JOHN CARROLL

	Grade 10					Grad	1		Grade 12				
	М	%	F	%	М	%	F	%	M	%	F	%	
Business & Office	0	0.0	1	3.8	1	4.8	0	0.0	0	0.0	1	5.9	
Health Occupations	. 0	0.0	1	3.8	0	0.0	0	.0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0	
Consumer & Homemaking	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0	1	5.9	
Craftsman	0	0.0	0 -	0.0	2	9.5	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0	
Professional Total	0	0.0	0	0.0 3.8	1 4	4.8 19.1	0 0	0.0		11.1 11.1	0 2	0.0 11.8	

### VITA N

### Theodore Paul Swingle

### Candidate for the Degree of

#### Doctor of Education

Thesis: VOCATIONAL EDUCATION PREFERENCES OF SENIOR HIGH SCHOOL STUDENTS IN A FOUR COUNTY AREA OF FLORIDA

Major Field: Agricultural Education

#### Biographical:

Personal Data: Born in Zanesville, Ohio, November 19, 1934, the son of Mr. and Mrs. Lawrence M. Swingle.

Education: Graduated from Jefferson High School, Dresden, Ohio, in May, 1952; received the Bachelor of Science degree in Agriculture from The Ohio State University, Columbus, Ohio, in June, 1956; received the Master of Science degree in Agricultural Education from The Ohio State University, Columbus, Ohio, August, 1960; received a Certificate of Specialist in Educational Administration from Ohio State University, Columbus, Ohio, June, 1969; enrolled for specialized coursestyping, Spanish, and statistics at Indian River Community College, Fort Pierce, Florida, 1970-1973; enrolled in doctoral program at Oklahoma State University, Stillwater, Oklahoma, in the summer of 1972 and completed requirements for the Doctor of Education degree at Oklahoma State University in May, 1974.

Professional Experience: 1952-1956, varied agricultural, camp, and construction work; 1956-1965, teacher of vocational agriculture at Northwestern High School, West Salem, Ohio; 1965-1969, principal of Lexington Junior High School, Lexington, Ohio; 1969-1973, assistant and associate professor of agriculture and chairman of vocational department, Indian River Community College, Fort Pierce, Florida; 1973-1974, EPDA-552 fellowship to Oklahoma State University and sabbatical leave from Indian River Community College.